#### Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

#### Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

August 2013

# An Ethical Justification for Research with Children

Ariella Binik The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Weijer, Charles The University of Western Ontario

Graduate Program in Philosophy

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy

© Ariella Binik 2013

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd Part of the <u>Philosophy Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Binik, Ariella, "An Ethical Justification for Research with Children" (2013). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 1373. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/1373

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact tadam@uwo.ca.

# AN ETHICAL JUSTIFICATION FOR RESEARCH WITH CHILDREN (Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Ariella Binik

Graduate Program in Philosophy

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Ariella Binik 2013

## Abstract

This thesis is a contribution to the ethical justification for clinical research with children. A research subject's participation in a trial is usually justified, in part, by informed consent. Informed consent helps to uphold the moral principle of respect for persons. But children's limited ability to make informed choices gives rise to a problem. It is unclear what, if anything, justifies their participation in research.

Some research ethicists propose to resolve this problem by appealing to social utility, proxy consent, arguments explaining why it is permissible to expose children to some harm, and an argument concerning the appropriate balance between research harms and benefits. I argue that each of these is a necessary part of the justification for research with children, but that the argument concerning harms and benefits is under-developed. It relies on the concept of minimal risk, but minimal risk is inadequately justified.

I propose an interpretation of minimal risk. I defend the idea that minimal risk should be interpreted according to the risks of daily life. I reject the most prominent defense of daily life, which claims that daily risks are morally relevant because they replace, rather than add to, the risks a child would ordinarily face. Instead, I propose that these risks are part of a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and our ability to pursue meaningful lives. I then examine whose daily life should be captured in the concept of minimal risk. I reject arguments that minimal risk should refer to healthy children or the subjects of the research (including healthy and sick children) and propose instead that the referent should be children who are not unduly burdened by their lives. I argue that children are not unduly burdened when they fare well and defend the idea that children fare well when they possess sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods of childhood. I conclude by analyzing a controversial case study using my interpretation of minimal risk. I draw on this case to argue that my interpretation offers clear guidance for research ethics review and contributes to a determination that is more plausible than its rivals.

Keywords: minimal risk, research with children, ethics, research ethics, clinical trials

# **Co-Authorship Statement**

A version of Chapter 3 of this thesis will be published in the Journal of Medicine and Philosophy under the title "Why the debate over minimal risk needs to be reconsidered". This paper is co-authored with Charles Weijer. Ariella Binik took the lead on the paper's conceptualization, drafting and revision. Charles Weijer contributed to the paper's conceptualization and revision.

# Acknowledgments

I am grateful to my supervisor Charles Weijer for his guidance, support, and encouragement. I would also like to thank Anthony Skelton and Carolyn McLeod for their valuable suggestions. Thank you to Kathy Glass and the members of McGill's Biomedical Ethics Unit for introducing me to ethical questions relating to research with children and for their continued support. I would like to thank Mark Sheehan, Mike Parker, and the Ethox Centre for their warm welcome and for many conversations that contributed to this thesis. I am also grateful for the support of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Finally, I would like to thank my family for their encouragement as well as their advice. I am grateful to my husband Ryan Samaroo for his support and for reading many drafts of my work.

# Contents

Abstract		i
Co-A	Authorship Statement	ii
Ackr	Acknowledgments	
1 0	Children and clinical research	1
1.1	The problem	4
1.2	Can expanding the concept of benefit justify research with children	13
1.3	Four solutions	23
1.4	The missing argument	37
2 Т	The risks of daily life	40
2.1	Risks for the sake of others	41
2.2	The requirements for a successful account of minimal risk	42
2.3	Competing interpretations	44
	2.3.1 Common usage	44
	2.3.2 Quantitative interpretation.	46
	2.3.3 Routine examination.	49
	2.3.4 Charitable participation	51
	2.3.5 Socially allowable risks	54
	2.3.6 Risks in family life	56
	2.3.7 The risks of daily life	60
2.4	A new justification for daily life	62
		74
3 T	The uniform and relative interpretations.	77
3.1	The traditional formulation of the debate	78
3.2	Clarifying the uniform and relative interpretations	79
3.3	Problems with the traditional formulation	84
3.4	A new formulation of the debate	93

4 V	Who should be the referent for minimal risk?	94
4.1	Background	95
4.2	The healthy child interpretation	95
4.3	The subjects of the research interpretation	99
4.4	Hybrid proposals	104
4.5	A new proposal	106
4.6	The principle of justice	106
	4.6.1 The material principle of justice	108
4.7	Who should be the referent?	110
4.8	The substantive goods of childhood	117
4.9	Guidance	121
4.10	Further reflections	125
5 C	ase analysis	128
5.1	Practical implications	128
	5.1.1 Implications for therapeutic research procedures	131
5.2	The Growth Hormone Trial	132
5.3	Demarcating the procedures	136
5.4	Evaluating the therapeutic procedures	139
5.5	Evaluating the non-therapeutic procedures	141
5.6	Further reflections	153
6 C	Conclusion	159
6.1	The criteria of a successful account revisited	164
6.2	Further work	165
Bibli	ography	168
Curriculum Vitae		180

# Chapter 1 Children and clinical research

Clinical research that examines the safe and effective treatment of diseases, disorders, and conditions affecting children offers one of the best prospects for improving the medical treatment of children. But the ethical justification for the inclusion of children in research raises difficulties. Generally, a research subject's participation in a trial is justified, in part, by informed consent. Informed consent helps to uphold the principle of respect for persons and their autonomous decisions. A research subject's understanding of the purpose, methods, risks, benefits, and alternatives to the research and subsequent consent to participate helps to ensure that people enrol in research trials only when participation is consistent with their values, preferences, and interests (Emanuel, Wendler, & Grady, 2000). Informed consent is often thought to be a necessary condition for the ethical conduct of most clinical research. But children's limited cognitive competencies and experience restrict their capacity to make informed choices about research participation, to understand the consent process, and their ability to withdraw (Thompson, 1990). This gives rise to a problem: If informed consent is a necessary component of the ethical justification for research with human subjects and children are unable to provide informed consent, then research with children seems to be impermissible.

Commentators have responded to this problem in a number of ways. Some have pointed out that informed consent by the child is not a necessary requirement for the ethical inclusion of children in research. It may be morally permissible instead for a parent or guardian to consent to enroll a child in research provided that a number of conditions obtain. One necessary requirement for the ethical inclusion of children in research—and the main focus of this thesis—is that a trial must offer a reasonable balance between research harms and benefits. For a trial involving children to have a reasonable balance between harms and benefits, the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures must be low. This much is uncontroversial. But it is unclear how much risk is permissible and why a low degree of risk is justifiable. The aim of this thesis is to identify a justifiable threshold for the degree of risk permissible in research procedures that are not administered in the interests of a particular child subject. My main argument is that it is permissible to expose children to the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures when these procedures pose no more than 'minimal risk', understood as the daily risks faced by children who are not unduly burdened by their lives.

In this chapter, I will examine four arguments that aim to justify the inclusion of children in research. I will argue that each of these arguments is an essential part of the justification for research with children, but that the argument relying on the concept of minimal risk is under-developed. In the subsequent chapters, I will examine the explication and justification of minimal risk. In chapter 2, I will argue that minimal risk should be defined according to children's daily lives and defend a novel interpretation of why the risks of daily life are morally relevant. In chapters 3 and 4, I will examine who should be the referent for minimal risk, that is, I will ask whose daily lives should be captured in the concept of minimal risk? In chapter 5, I will use my proposed interpretation of minimal risk to analyze a controversial trial that includes children as research subjects and assess the plausibility of my arguments.

I begin this chapter by elaborating on the ethical problem that complicates the inclusion of children in research. I then examine solutions offered to this problem in research ethics. I argue that one main strategy that aims to justify the inclusion of children in research is unsuccessful and then examine more promising strategies. I argue that the ethical inclusion of children in research depends on the success of four different arguments. The ethical justification depends on (1) arguments appealing to the concept of social utility, (2) arguments establishing that it is permissible to expose children to some degree of harm in the interest of others, (3) arguments establishing that informed consent is not a necessary condition for trial enrollment; at times, surrogate consent for children's participation in research is consistent with respecting the moral worth of children, and (4) arguments proposing that it may be permissible to include children in a trial when the research offers subjects a reasonable balance between harms and benefits.

Each of these four arguments identifies a unique and necessary part of the justification for the inclusion of children in research. But one of these arguments—the

argument concerning harm benefit assessments—is under-developed. It relies on the minimal risk threshold, which constrains the degree of risk permissible in procedures on children that are not administered in the medical interests of a child research subject. But it does not adequately explicate and justify this concept. I conclude that a successful justification for the ethical inclusion of children in research depends on a better explanation of and justification for the concept of minimal risk.

Before elaborating on the problem concerning the inclusion of children in research, it is important to define the way in which I will use the term child throughout this thesis. The term 'child' is often used broadly to refer to all those below the age at which a person can provide legal consent to medical treatment (IOM, 2004; NIH, 1998). But a definition relying exclusively on age does not line up with our intuitions about how to treat children from a moral perspective. For example, on some occasions, it seems reasonable to respect a teenager's decisions concerning medical treatment, irrespective of whether she is legally empowered to consent to medical treatment. Thus, what it means to be a child should refer to more than an age range.

While it seems clear that the concept of childhood should refer to more than an age, accurately capturing the meaning of childhood is complicated. Part of this difficulty is derived from the fact that children are not a homogeneous group. People commonly recognized as children possess varying and variable capacities. Further, it is difficult to specify an unambiguous and non-arbitrary threshold of capacities under which a person should be considered a child rather than an adult. Nonetheless, there are commonalities between the people commonly recognized as children. Schapiro summarizes these well. She writes:

Our basic concept of a child is that of a person who in some fundamental way is not yet developed, but who is in the process of developing. It is in virtue of children's under-developed condition that we feel we have special obligations to them, obligations which are of a more paternalistic nature than are our obligations to other adults. These special obligations to children include duties to protect, nurture, discipline, and educate them....we feel bound to fulfill them regardless of whether the children in question consent to be protected, nurtured, disciplined, and educated. Indeed, we think of children as people who have to be *raised*, whether they like it or not. (Schapiro, 1999, p. 716)

That is, part of what it means to be a child is to possess a developing, but not yet adequately developed ability to govern oneself. A child may be able to exercise some degree of autonomy in certain domains. For example, she might have the capacity to make decisions about preferred ice cream flavours or about which colour sweater to wear, but a child does not yet have the ability to make many important decisions, including decisions about medical treatment or participation in clinical research. I will use the term child to describe a person below the legal age of consent who does not pass the threshold of competency required to make autonomous decisions about important matters, including medical treatment or participation in clinical research. This interpretation is meant to capture infants as well as most young children and some adolescents. My definition falls short of offering a comprehensive analysis of what it means to be a child, but captures some common intuitions about childhood and about why children require additional protections in research. I will now turn to a consideration of the problem complicating the ethical justification for research with children.

### 1.1 The problem

Albert Jonsen writes that '[b]ioethical debates are often framed by dramatic events. Rational analysis and argument may be pushed aside by shocking stories. The history of the use of children as research subjects is a series of such shocking events' (Jonsen, 2006, p. s12). One event—Krugman and Giles's studies on infectious hepatitis (published in 1958)—triggered the controversy over the ethics of research with children in the latter half of the twentieth century. Krugman and Giles's research, which aimed to examine the natural progress of infectious hepatitis and eventually to develop a vaccine, involved the deliberate infection with hepatitis A of a cohort of children newly admitted to Willowbrook state hospital, an institution for disabled children in New York (Jonsen, 2006). Krugman and Giles argued that their research was ethically permissible because hepatitis was endemic at Willowbrook and the children admitted to the facility were very likely to contract the disease irrespective of their research participation (Krugman, 1986; Rothman, 1982). But newspapers and critics often describe the Willowbrook study as a scandal that exploited especially vulnerable children (Jonsen, 2006). The Willowbook study illustrates some of the unique features and difficulties of pediatric bioethics (Lantos, 2013) and is perhaps best understood as giving rise to a debate over what kind of research, if any, is justifiable with children as research subjects.

Inspired, in part, by the controversy over Willowbrook, Paul Ramsey and Richard McCormick initiated a debate about whether it is possible to morally justify research involving children. Some of McCormick's arguments were incorporated into the recommendations of the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (henceforth, the National Commission), which served as the basis for the current U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) regulations governing research with children (Jonsen, 2006). Moreover, the debate between Ramsey and McCormick raised difficult questions concerning the Willowbrook study, and research with children more generally, that remain unanswered. For example, they asked what, if anything justifies the inclusion of children in research? Is research that offers the child subject the prospect of direct benefit easier to justify than research that is not in the child's medical interests? Can the requirement for informed consent for research participation be replaced by a requirement for proxy consent?

Ramsey argued that the permissibility of all research involving human subjects depends on an absolute requirement to obtain informed consent. He claimed that the only way of respecting the moral value of human beings is by treating them as ends in themselves and never as mere means to other social goals. For Ramsey, a researcher treats a subject as an end and not a mere means only if the researcher obtains informed consent. His idea is that through informed consent, a research subject adopts the goals of the research as her own and, at least to some extent, becomes a partner or "joint adventurer" in the investigation (Ramsey, 1970, p.5). Thus, any attempt to include a person in research without her consent violates the requirement to respect the moral worth of persons. Ramsey's adherence to an absolute requirement for obtaining informed consent combined with the inability of children to provide informed consent suggests that on Ramsey's view, children are unsuitable research subjects. He writes:

[T]o experiment on children in ways that are not related to them as patients is already a sanitized form of barbarism; it already removes them from view and pays no attention to the faithfulness-claims which a child, simply by being a normal or a sick or dying child, places upon us and upon medical care. We should expect no morally significant exceptions for this canon of faithfulness to the child. (Ramsey, 1970, p.12-13)

That is, parents and doctors have certain obligations towards their children, including the obligation to protect their children from harm. To consent on behalf of a child for her participation in research that is not in her interests would be to treat the child as a mere object in medical experimentation, which is a clear failure of the duty to protect children from harm. Thus, children's inability to consent to research participation suggests that it is impermissible to include them in research that is not in their interests.

After describing what seems to be an absolute prohibition on research with children, Ramsey identifies one important exception to his argument. He claims that while research that is not in the medical interests of children is always impermissible, parents can consent on behalf of their children for participation in research that aims to offer a child the prospect of medical benefit. That is, when the research relates to a child's recovery, parents can provide legitimate proxy consent for their children's participation. Ramsey's reasoning is that sometimes a physician-investigator is charged with the medical treatment of a child suffering from a condition for which there is no available standard remedy. In these cases, enrollment in research seems to be in the child's best interest. It is the best available option for the child and preferable to the alternative, which involves withholding an experimental drug from a child who has no other medical options (Ramsey, 2002; Ramsey, 1976).

It is hard to reconcile Ramsey's exception with his absolute requirement to obtain informed consent for research participation. Ramsey clearly wants researchers to pursue experiments that are in children's medical interests and he also wants to permit parents to consent on behalf of their children for participation in this kind of research. But this seems incompatible with his claim that respecting the moral worth of children in research requires informed consent. Ramsey is aware of this tension in his argument; he struggles with the ethical justification of exceptional or "borderline situations" of legitimate proxy consent (Ramsey, 1976) and ultimately suggests that the potential knowledge to be gained from such research is too valuable to prohibit. He exhorts researchers and parents submitting children to research that is in a child's medical interest to knowingly do wrong, or "sin bravely" for the sake of the public good (Ramsey, 1976, p.21). Ramsey's position is perhaps best understood as prohibiting the ethical inclusion of children in research that doesn't offer the prospect of medical benefit but (reluctantly) endorsing their inclusion in research that offers the prospect of medical benefit.

McCormick responds to Ramsey by arguing that research with children is morally permissible irrespective of whether it is in a child's interests (McCormick, 1974; McCormick, 1976). McCormick argues that it is impermissible to subject children to research risks for which they would not consent if they were capable of consenting. But he argues that we can reasonably presume what a child would decide for herself if she were capable of making her own decisions (McCormick, 1974). Given that we know what a child would consent to, it is reasonable for a parent to consent on her behalf for participation in these activities.

How can we know what a child would desire if she could make her own decisions? McCormick argues that there are certain objective values that are definitive of our well-being. Further, it is reasonable to presume that people's decisions will be based on their desire to realize the values that are definitive of their well-being (McCormick, 1974). The idea seems to be that we can establish what someone desires by assuming that she desires those things that contribute to her well-being and then examining which things do, in fact, contribute to her well-being. Once we've identified the goods and activities that promote a person's well-being, we know what she would choose if she could do so.

McCormick's argument applies directly to research that offers a child the prospect of direct medical benefit. Research involving the administration of medical interventions that are in a child's medical interest aims to improve a child's health. Health is one of the things that contributes to a child's well-being. A child should consent to research that contributes to her well-being. Thus, it is reasonable to presume that a child would consent to participation in research involving therapeutic interventions (McCormick ,1974). McCormick concludes that this is a reasonable construction of a child's wishes and consequently, proxy consent is legitimate; it is an accurate reflection of what a child would decide, if she could decide for herself.

McCormick then extends his argument to research that is not in a child's interests. He argues:

To share in the general effort and burden of health maintenance and disease control is part of our flourishing and growth as humans. To the extent that it is good for all of us to share this burden, we all ought to do so. And to the extent that we ought to do so, it is a reasonable construction or presumption of our wishes to say that we would do so. The reasonableness of this

presumption validates vicarious consent. (McCormick, 1974, p.12-13) That is, participation in clinical research—even that which does not offer the subject the prospect of direct medical benefit—is a desirable activity; it contributes to human flourishing and wellbeing. Children, like adults, should participate in activities that contribute to the well-being of others. It is reasonable to presume that children and adults will seek to do what they ought to do. Thus, parents can provide proxy consent for children's participation in research that benefits others because it is a reasonable presumption of what the child ought to—and accordingly would—choose.

Ramsey responds by pointing out that McCormick's argument for a social obligation to participate in research is consistent with the legitimate enrollment of anyone—including adults—in compulsory research without that person's consent (Ramsey, 1976). That is, McComick's argument endorses enforced altruism, which is a difficult requirement to accept. In response, McCormick acknowledges that his position requires a moral obligation to participate in research but defends the imperative to participate in research. He claims that Ramsey's understanding of human beings is overly individualistic. Insofar as humans are social beings they all—irrespective of age—have an obligation to seek the means to preserve the health of others. As long as the risks are not excessive, it is morally obligatory to contribute to the welfare of others (McCormick, 1976). Thus, children are morally obligated to participate in some clinical research for the benefit of others.

Ramsey's argument against the ethical permissibility of including children in research prevails over McCormick's defense of pediatric research. One problem with

McCormick's argument is his claim that a child would choose to participate because the child should choose to participate. This claim treats a child as a morally responsible agent. But children are not moral agents; they have the capacity to become moral agents but this capacity is not yet actualized. Consequently, their moral choices cannot be relied upon to diverge from their inclinations (Ramsey, 1976). Thus, McCormick's argument that a child would choose research participation if she could choose for herself misunderstands the nature of childhood; it treats the child "as only a little adult" (Ramsey, 1976, p. 22).

Further, even if a child were a fully formed moral agent, there is no obvious reason to think that she would be subject to a moral obligation to participate in research. McCormick argues from the idea that human beings are social to the conclusion that we have an obligation to further the interests of other human beings by participating in research. But it is not clear why the sociability of human beings contributes to a requirement to further the interests of similar beings. Nor is it clear how the obligation to participate in research accrues to any particular person or how a given person should fulfill this obligation. Further, McCormick's claim that people's decisions are based on their desire to realize the values that are definitive of their well-being is not persuasive. People often make choices that conflict with their objective well-being, including unhealthy life-style choices, for instance. But if identifying values that are definitive of well-being does not give us a reason to think that a person will pursue these values, then there is no clear reason to think we can accurately predict what a child would choose if she could make her own choices. Thus, a parent cannot legitimately consent on behalf of her child on the basis that she can presume what the child's wishes would be. As a result, McCormick's argument fails to justify proxy consent for children's participation in research. It follows that there seems to be no ethical justification for the inclusion of children, who cannot consent for themselves, in research that does not offer them the prospect of direct medical benefits.

Ramsey's position holds up well to McCormick's criticisms. But it is also problematic. Ramsey's argument relies on the belief that research that is not in the medical interests of children is especially problematic and that it is ethically permissible to include children in research that is in their medical interests. McCormick shared this belief, as did his interlocutors. For example, William May argues:

There is no serious debate among authorities, medical, legal, or moral, when the experiment in question is therapeutic, that is, when it is designed to secure some benefit for the subject. In cases of this kind, consent to the experiment can be given by others (parents, guardians, etc.) on behalf of persons incapable of giving proxy consent for themselves...there is unanimity that in therapeutic situations such proxy consent is morally justifiable. (May, 1977, p. 21)

But this idea bears careful examination. Ramsey's defense of research that offers a child subject the prospect of medical benefit depends on the idea that in some cases, standard medical therapies are exhausted and experimental procedures offer a child the best remaining option for recovery. That is, the research is therapeutically warranted; it might be a child's best (or only) prospect for recovery. As Ramsey argues:

[Once] other remedies have failed to relieve their grave illness, it is reasonable to believe that the administration of a drug as yet untested or insufficiently tested on human beings, or the performance of an untried operation, may further the patient's own recovery. (Ramsey, 1970, p.11-12)

Ramsey's point is that there is no equally good or better alternative for the medical treatment of certain child patients. The experimental intervention administered in the context of an experiment is justifiable because the alternative, that is, withholding the experimental intervention from the child, would prevent her from receiving her best prospect of recovery. But Ramsey's claim that research is the only available alternative means of receiving the treatment is not persuasive. He neglects to consider an alternative: the experimental intervention could be administered to the child outside of the research context, that is, as part of the child's medical care. In this way, one could achieve the best therapeutic ends for the child outside of a trial. The child would receive the experimental intervention. Thus, on Ramsey's view, it seems that proxy consent for children's participation in research that is in their interests is not the best way to further the medical interests of a child. Consequently, it is unjustifiable.

A second problem with Ramsey's justification for research that offers medical benefit is that it relies on the problematic idea that some research is purely in the interests of the child research subjects. Ramsey's argument is based on the therapeutic benefit a child stands to receive from research participation and never on the likelihood of benefits that could flow from the experiment for other children. He thinks that justifiable proxy consent for children's participation in research is appropriate only when the research is in the interest of the children participating. He claims that "no parent is morally competent to consent that his child shall be submitted to hazardous or other experiments having no diagnostic or therapeutic significance for the child himself" (Ramsey, 1970, p.13). The idea that some research is conducted purely for the benefit of the research subject while other research is conducted for the sake of broader social goals is often referred to as the distinction between therapeutic and non-therapeutic research. Therapeutic research is understood as offering medical benefit to the subject whereas non-therapeutic research is designed to further biomedical and behavioural research: that is, to "advance the maladies that afflict mankind, and to enhance the human good" (May, 1977, p. 19). Ramsey's argument suggests that only therapeutic research can be permissible because it offers children direct benefits while non-therapeutic research is impermissible.

However, the distinction between therapeutic and non-therapeutic experiments is problematic (Levine, 1986, p.8-9; Levine, 1999). Clinical trials cannot be clearly divided into these two categories; most clinical research involves a combination of therapeutic and non-therapeutic procedures (Levine, 1986; Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1992). Therapeutic procedures are those administered with therapeutic warrant. They often involve the same treatment or diagnostic interventions that a physician administers to her patient in the course of standard care. Non-therapeutic procedures, on the other hand, are administered in order to answer the study question. Clinical research that offers children the prospect of medical benefit also contains non-therapeutic procedures. For example, a study aiming to evaluate the efficacy of a new drug for the alleviation of pain in children with cancer involves some therapeutic procedures, such as the administration of a drug aimed to control pain. But this study will also involve non-therapeutic procedures carried out purely for research purposes such as the review of medical records for data collection, additional clinical examinations solely for data collection purposes, diagnostic investigations such as blood tests or radiological investigations that have no bearing on clinical care (Weijer & Miller, 2004).

The insight that all therapeutic research involves non-therapeutic procedures has an important impact on Ramsey's justification for the inclusion of children in research that is in their interests. Ramsey's justification relies on the idea that some research is purely in the interests of children. It is permissible because it offers a child the best prospect for recovery and no aspect of it is administered to benefit other children. Research procedures that are not administered with therapeutic warrant are strictly prohibited (Ramey, 1970). Thus, on Ramsey's view, non-therapeutic research procedures—like data collection and extra examinations—are impermissible for those who cannot provide informed consent. Given that all therapeutic research-including research that aims to offer the child subjects the prospect of direct benefit—includes both kinds of procedures, Ramsey's argument suggests that it is never permissible to involve children in any research. If any kind of research with children is permissible, it would have to be because of the potential benefit the research can offer to future children or children suffering from the same conditions or disorders and not because of the potential benefit for a particular child. Thus, Ramsey's idea that research that is in the medical interests of children should be understood as a reasonable exception to the absolute requirement to obtain informed consent for all research participation is not persuasive. Insofar as children's participation in research that is in their medical interests also exposes them to research risks that are administered without therapeutic warrant, research that is in a child's medical interests also seems to violate Ramsey's requirement of moral respect for children. Thus, according to Ramsey's requirement for informed consent, research that offers children the prospect of medical benefit is ethically problematic, just like research that does not do so. It follows that the problem concerning the ethical inclusion of children in research is more pressing than Ramsey and his interlocutors realized. There seem to be no circumstances in which it is morally permissible to include children in research.

# **1.2** Can expanding the concept of benefit justify research with children?

The problem concerning the ethical inclusion of children in research is more pressing than Ramsey realized; all research, including research that is in the medical interests of children (i.e. that offers children the prospect of benefit), poses ethical challenges. But this has not been fully appreciated in the literature concerning the ethics of research with children. Following Ramsey's lead, some commentators assume that research that offers children the prospect of direct medical benefit is ethically permissible. Accordingly, some seek to justify the ethical inclusion of children in research by expanding the concept of benefit. Proponents of this kind of argument claim that our common understanding of benefit is overly narrow. While children may not derive medical benefits, their participation may benefit them in other ways. I will argue that this strategy is not successful. Identifying new sources of benefit incurred by research participation does not justify children's exposure to research risks.

Some commentators argue that research that is not in the medical interests of children may be permissible because it contributes to a child's moral education (Beecher, 1970; Bartholome, 1977; Ackerman, 1979). That is, the concept of benefit should be broadened to include the benefits of moral education. For example, Bartholome argues that research participation may help children to "become sensitive to moral obligations"; it can help to foster in children a disposition towards choosing that which is good (Bartholome, 1977, p.17). Further, a trial's potential to steer a child's development into a socially responsible adult justifies her participation in "no risk clinical research" (Bartholome, 1977, p.17). More generally, these arguments conclude that children's participation in some research is justifiable because it provides them with educational—if not medical—benefit.

While it seems reasonable to conclude that some children may derive educational benefit from research participation, this potential benefit cannot justify research with all children. As proponents of this argument recognize, identifying moral education as a benefit of research participation excludes some groups of children from research participation. Any child lacking the cognitive capacities necessary to learn the value of altruism is unable to benefit from research participation. It follows that she is an inappropriate research subject (Ackerman, 1980). But this means that infants and some very young children cannot be research participants. Consequently, expanding the concept of benefit to include educational benefits does not provide an ethical justification for research with all children.

David Wendler proposes a different way of broadening the notion of benefit that aims to justify research with children of all ages; he argues that benefit should refer not only to medical benefits but also to benefits derived from contributing to a valuable project (Wendler, 2010; Wendler, 2012). Wendler's idea is that children's contributions to valuable projects, even when they are too young to take moral responsibility for these contributions, have the ability to improve their lives. That is, the fact of having participated in a valuable project makes one's life better. Research with children is permissible because it is a valuable project that can offer child participants the prospect of benefit. He concludes that children's participation in research that does not offer them the prospect of direct clinical benefit is permissible because it does offer them some prospect of non-clinical benefit, that is, the benefit derived from their contribution to a valuable project. His argument improves upon Bartholome and Ackerman's by suggesting a reason why it is permissible to include all children, including infants and very young children, in clinical research. Given that Wendler's is the most recent justification for research with children, I will examine it in more detail than the previous arguments.

Wendler's argument that contributions to a valuable project have the ability to improve the lives of human beings is derived from his account of human interests. Wendler identifies five things that are in our interests: (1) It is in our interest to fulfill our biological needs. That is, a person's biological needs, including food, water, and sufficient sleep, are necessary for a child to fare well (Wendler, 2010, p. 130). (2) It is in our interest to achieve our experiential preferences (Wendler, 2010, p. 130). Wendler provides no precise definition of what he means by experiential preferences, but claims that it is in our interest to experience certain states of mind and to avoiding others. For example, he claims that it is in everyone's interest to be content with oneself and the world (Wendler 2010, p.130). (3) It is in our interests to be involved in meaningful

relationships. For Wendler, meaningful relationships can occur between people, animals, the environment or with particular projects (Wendler, 2010, p. 130). For example, an individual may have a meaningful relationship with a worthwhile project such as building homes for the homeless or performing in a symphony (Wendler 2010, p.130). These relationships are meaningful because they give people an opportunity to make contributions to a worthwhile outcome. (4) We have an interest in achieving worthwhile personal goals. According to Wendler, a person's personal goals should be understood broadly as including her preferences, desires, hopes, dreams, and projects (Wendler 2010, p.131). For Wendler, the success of one's life depends to a great extent to how well one pursues one's personal goals, and the extent to which one achieves them (Wendler, 2010, p. 131).<sup>1</sup> (5) Our lives are improved by human achievements, which are "accomplishments and contributions that are valuable for us given the kinds of beings we are" (Wendler, 2010, p.133). For example, contributing to a project that saves many lives is important, irrespective of whether it is in line with a person's personal goals and preferences. Wendler's point is that what is valuable for a person is not necessarily exhausted by what she wants, prefers or strives to accomplish in her life. A good life is one that involves good accomplishments, which may or may not be preferred accomplishments.

Wendler's main innovation is to argue that worthwhile projects can benefit a person in more ways than are commonly recognized. He points out that in general, commentators think the value a person derives from her participation in a project is thought to derive from the active contribution she makes to that project. For example, the value derived from participation in a project aiming to build homes for the homeless is thought to lie in understanding the project, embracing its goals, and contributing in some way to its realization (perhaps by fundraising, bricklaying or locating a place for the new construction). This belief is based on the idea that our experiences and (worthwhile) personal goals are primarily responsible for advancing or thwarting our interests (Wendler, 2010) and it follows that only autonomous people can derive value from their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wendler acknowledges that some personal goals are not valuable and that pursuing these goals will not lead to an improvement in one's overall life but says little about how to parse the worthwhile from the non-worthwhile goals.

participation in a worthwhile project.

However, Wendler argues that this understanding of benefit is too narrow; it is not uniquely one's contribution to a project that matters. Instead, "the mere fact of being part of a worthwhile effort is valuable, connecting one with others and with a project of significance and meaning" (Wendler, 2010, p.130). His idea seems to be that involvement in worthwhile projects is valuable in and of itself. Our physical participation in valuable projects has the ability to improve our lives. It follows that contributions to a project can improve lives even if they are undertaken by people who are unable to take moral responsibility for their choices (or other's choices on their behalf), such as children (Wendler, 2012; Wender, 2010). Wendler writes:

It seems clear that making a contribution can be in an individual's interests even when it does not have a positive impact on him; for instance, even when he does not enjoy making the contribution and does not learn from it. Making a contribution can be in an individual's interests when it represents an important accomplishment for him. Put in terms of the five categories of human interests, making a contribution to a valuable project can be in an individual's interests when it represents a valuable human achievement or involves a meaningful relationship, even when making the contribution does not satisfy the individual's experiential preferences or realize her personal goals. (Wendler, 2010, p.178)

His reasoning seems to be that a person need not become a "joint adventurer" to benefit from a project. That is, she need not understand, embrace, and actively contribute to a project to benefit from it. She must simply be physically involved in it. As long as the project is a valuable human project, achieving it improves the quality of a person's life.

Wendler makes his case by drawing on the intuition that a life involving contributions to valuable projects seems more valuable than a similar life involving fewer or no contributions. He offers several case examples to support this idea. He begins with cases in which someone's life is made worse by her participation in a negative project even though she was too young to take moral responsibility for her actions. Wendler asks us to consider a two year old who finds a loaded gun in her parents' house and innocently hits the shiny trigger, which discharges a bullet that kills the child's nearby companion (Wendler, 2012). Wendler claims that this experience is bad for the child, even if he is not morally responsible and is not affected physically or emotionally by the experience itself or its later consequences. He writes:

We prefer for our children, for their own sakes, that they not kill an innocent person... It would be very bad for an individual to willingly kill a friend as an autonomous adult. It is less bad for the individual innocently to kill a friend as a 2-year-old. However, it would be even better, for the individual's own sake, to never kill a friend. (Wendler, 2012, p.27)

Wendler also asks us to consider Irmgard Hunt who—while out on a walk with her mother at age three—is photographed sitting on Hitler's knees. At the time of the photos Irmgard is too young to resist or understand the Nazi cause but as an adult, Irmgard worries that the pictures may have been used by Nazi propagandists to increase Hitler's popularity. Further, she worries that her appearance in these pictures may count as a small contribution towards furthering the horrors of the Second World War (Wendler, 2010, p.205). As Wendler understands it, Irmgard's concern is reasonable; she "recognizes that it would be worse for her if she" made this passive contribution to a horrific cause (Wendler, 2010, p.205). He concludes that these examples serve as evidence that passive contributions to projects can have negative effects on our interests.

Wendler then claims that in the same way that negative contributions, active or passive, can make a person's life worse, positive contributions can improve someone's life, even if these contributions were undertaken non-autonomously. In the same way that a life that includes the accidental killing of a friend seems worse than a life without an accidental killing, a life that includes a positive contribution, like contributing to the civil rights movement of the 1960s, seems better than the same life absent that contribution (Wendler, 2012, p.28). He argues:

[T]he contributions we make as children, whether we harm or help others, are things that we do. They become part of our lives. This suggests that such contributions can benefit children by promoting their interests in having a better life overall. This is true independent of the extent to which the children learn from making the contribution. The fact of making a causal contribution is an independent source of benefit for the participating children. (Wendler, 2012, p.28) For Wendler, the causal contributions we make become part of our life's narrative and influence how well our lives go (Wendler, 2012). Thus, contributions to valuable projects are good for us independent of a person's goals or preferences; they make our lives better overall (Wendler, 2010).

Wendler then applies this argument to the justification of pediatric research that doesn't offer children the prospect of direct medical benefit. He argues that pediatric clinical research is a valuable project; it is vital to improving the medical care of children (Wendler, 2012). There are at least two ways in which a child may derive benefit from her participation in this valuable project: First, the child may come to embrace the contribution as an adult, which would improve her life by increasing the number of personal worthwhile goals she has achieved. Second, the contribution a child makes to clinical research can improve her life the fact of having made a contribution to a valuable project (Wendler, 2012). The fact of making a causal contribution is an independent source of benefit for the participating children (Wendler, 2012). Thus, while some research does not offer child subjects the prospect of medical benefit, it can improve their overall lives by providing them with the fact of having participated in a valuable project.

For example, a child's non-autonomous participation in the trials that developed a safe and effective vaccine for rotavirus is permissible because it improves her life; her non-autonomous contribution becomes part of her life's narrative and makes her life better (Wendler, 2012). If we evaluate the quality of two similar lives, one that involves a contribution to the development of the rotavirus vaccine and one that does not, Wendler thinks that we would clearly prefer the former. Thus, helping others through research participation can be in children's interests, and consequently, can justify the exposure of children to some non-therapeutic research risks, even for very young children who are not autonomous.

Wendler does not think that the benefits derived from a child's participation in valuable projects justify their participation in any trial. His justification is subject to at least two important constraints: the "risk allowance" requirement and the "risk ceiling" requirement (Wendler, 2010; Wendler, 2012). The risk allowance requirement only permits children to be enrolled in research that doesn't offer clinical benefit "when the risks are low" (Wendler, 2012, p.24). The risk ceiling requirement prevents children from

being enrolled in research that doesn't offer them the prospect of direct medical benefit "when the risks are high, no matter how much the research might benefit others" (Wendler 2012, p.24). Thus, Wendler's argument is meant to justify pediatric research that involves only low and never high non-therapeutic risks.

Wendler's claim that there are a series of goods that contribute to our interests is plausible. Some of the items on his list, including biological needs and meaningful relationships, seem to be important parts of our welfare. But his claim that physical contributions to valuable projects—even those that have no effect on a person—make her better off, is not persuasive. Consider the following example. Suppose that a sleeping infant carried by her parent is photographed in a 'Take Back the Night' rally protesting violence against women. This photograph appears on the front page of a major newspaper, makes the public more sympathetic, and helps the rally to achieve its aims. Nonetheless, the infant's parent never notices the photograph and the infant never comes to learn of her passive contribution to the rally or its goals. It seems clear that the infant participated non-autonomously in a project with the valuable goal of reducing violence towards women, but it is hard to believe that the physical contribution alone, without the infant ever coming to know of the event or embracing its goals would have any impact at all on the photographed infant's life. But Wendler's claim is that this kind of passive involvement makes the infant's life better, irrespective of whether she later learns about or embraces her involvement.

Further, one can make sense of some of Wendler's examples without accepting the idea that physical contributions to projects impact our lives. Wendler argues that Irmgard Hunt's life would be better if she could be certain that she had not contributed to Nazi propaganda. I agree, but for a different reason. The negative impact on Irmgard's life seems to be derived from the fact that she may have been connected to Nazi propaganda while she prefers to have had no connection to Hitler. That is, discomfort about Irmgard's case can be captured by the idea that her involvement conflicted with one of her preferences. But if we can make sense of this case with reference to the notion of preference satisfaction, then it offers no clear reason to supports Wendler's claim that causal contributions to projects affect our interests. Wendler's examples aiming to establish that non-autonomous participation in clinical research improve someone's life are also problematic. He draws on the example of a successful clinical trial to make his case, but once we consider trials with inconclusive or negative outcomes (which account for a significant number of clinical trials), Wendler's argument is less plausible.

Wendler uses the example of trials that helped to identify safe and effective vaccines for rotavirus, which kills thousands of children each year (Wendler, 2012). He argues that the vaccines developed in these trials have the ability to yield enormous benefits and to save many children's lives (Wendler, 2012). He then asks us to put ourselves in the shoes of a parent faced with the following choice for their child: their child might have (1) a good and decent life or (2) a good and decent life that also includes participation in one of the rotavirus vaccine trials. Wendler thinks that it would be reasonable for a parent to prefer life 2 for her child, even if this choice also involved exposing her child to some research risks, because "[a] life that includes a contribution to such valuable studies seems better for the individual whose life it is compared to the same life absent that contribution" (Wendler, 2012, p.29). He concludes that a life involving a purely physical contribution to the valuable cause of clinical research is better than one without this contribution because it promotes a child's interests.

This claim is unpersuasive if we take into account clinical trials that are not successful. Consider, for example, a study examining the efficacy of hypothermia therapy in children who have suffered traumatic brain injury (Hutchison, et al., 2008). Hypothermia therapy has been shown to significantly improve survival and neurological outcomes in rodent models of traumatic brain injury. Consequently, researchers conducted a randomized controlled trial including 225 children to assess whether hypothermia therapy started within 8 hours of injury may help children who have severe traumatic brain injury (Hutchison et al., 2008, p.2448). The trial found that hypothermia therapy in children with severe traumatic brain injury does not improve the neurological outcome and may increase mortality (Hutchison et al., 2008, p.2454).

The hypothermia therapy trial is valuable because it yields some evidence that in spite of evidence from animal models and some evidence from trials with small sample groups of children, hypothermia therapy for children may not be a useful intervention for children with brain injury. This information may become instrumental in the improved medical treatment of other children with traumatic brain injury. It may also help to prevent additional harm to future children who suffer a similar injury. But if we analyze this example according to Wendler's calculus, that is, if we consider the overall value of a life involving participation in this study and the overall value of a second similar life absent this contribution, it seems reasonable to conclude that the life without this contribution seems preferable or at least equivalent. In other words, when considering purely physical contributions to a valuable clinical trial with negative outcomes, there is no reason to think that a life involving trial participation is better than one that does not.

Wendler's argument relies on the claims (1) that clinical research is a valuable project and (2) that a child's non-autonomous participation in clinical research improves her life overall. The first claim is convincing. Even trials that yield negative results or harm children have the ability to generate results that will improve the medical care of children. And as long as these trials are well-designed, meet ethical constraints, and seem reasonably promising *ex-ante*, the fact that they yield negative consequences does not render them impermissible. Wendler agrees with this insight (2012). But Wendler's second claim that non-autonomous participation is in a child's interests seems to rely on the research having a successful outcome. When we consider examples of unsuccessful research or research that harms child subjects common moral intuitions do not line up with Wendlers'. Lives that do not involve some contribution, even non-autonomous, to a project that harms children, even if this harm contributes to improved care for future children, are arguably better than lives that do not. Thus, Wendler's claim that participation in the valuable project of clinical research adds an objective good to a child's overall life is not convincing.

Peter Singer also objects to Wendler's claim that children's lives are improved by contributions to worthwhile endeavours for which they have no moral accountability. He argues that our reactions to acts for which we are morally responsible can be felt appropriately. But the "moral sensitivity" we might experience for actions undertaken in situations in which we were not morally responsible (including childhood) is inappropriate (Singer, 2011). That is, our lives do not go better "if, without any moral responsibility on our part, we contribute to a beneficial project" (Singer, 2011, p.115) and

to think that our lives to go better is to allow "moral sensitivity" to "spill over into an area where it does not belong" (Singer, 2011, p.115). His claim suggests that non-autonomous participation in clinical research is not liable to make a life better or worse. It simply has no bearing on the quality of one's life. It follows that Wendler's claim that nonautonomous participation in a clinical trial is an objective good that improves a child's life is not convincing. A life involving non-autonomous participation in some trials seems less desirable than one absent this contribution or perhaps most plausibly, nonautonomous participation has no necessary bearing on one's life.

Moreover, even if Wendler's argument that purely physical contributions to a valuable project are objective goods, this would be insufficient to justify children's inclusion in research. More generally, arguments aiming to establish that research participation offers children benefits other than medical benefits do not offer a persuasive ethical justification for research with children. Clinical trials are not rendered uncontroversial by virtue of offering the prospect of benefit, medical or otherwise. Some trials that offer the prospect of medical benefit are ethically impermissible. For example, a trial offering subjects the prospect of medical benefit that is significantly lower than the benefit they would receive during the course of standard care is unethical; it unfairly deprives research subjects of competent medical care. In addition, a trial offering child subjects the prospect of some medical benefit in addition to highly invasive interventions administered without therapeutic warrant is ethically impermissible. It exploits the vulnerability of children by exposing them to high degrees of research risk purely in the interest of others. The ethical permissibility of a trial seems to depend on more than benefit. The morally relevant consideration is not uniquely whether a trial offers some prospect of benefit but whether the potential benefit of a trial stands in reasonable relation to the trial's risks. That is, the moral justification of a trial depends on establishing that its harms and benefits are appropriately balanced.

At times, commentators seem to recognize that benefit alone does not justify a trial. Bartholome argues that educational benefit justifies only "no risk" research (Bartholome, 1977, p.17) and Wendler writes that enrolling children is consistent with their interests only "when the risk/benefit ratio of the research is at least as favorable as that of available alternatives" (Wendler, 2012, p.24). Further, he recognizes the

constraints of the risk ceiling and risk allowance conditions. But commentators don't seem to recognize the implications of these comments. If the potential benefit of a trial is only a morally relevant part of the justification for children's inclusion in research when this benefit is reasonably balanced with research risks, then the justification of research with children depends on an explanation of how harm-benefit assessments in research involving children should proceed. Identifying new sources of benefit does not, on its own, facilitate this assessment in any obvious way. For instance, Wendler does not explain how to assess the degree of benefit derived from non-autonomous participation in clinical research. Further, he does not explain how to measure these potential benefits against the risks involved in research participation. Thus, it is not clear whether, and if so how, the benefits derived from non-autonomous participation in clinical research offers a favourable risk/benefit ratio. While understanding what counts as a benefit may be important, Wendler's argument is, at best, incomplete. The ethical justification of research with children depends not only on identifying a potential source of benefit from research participation, but also on a more fundamental question, that is, when do research risks stand in reasonable relation to their potential benefits. Consequently, even if commentators could successfully establish that benefit should be broad enough to account for non-medical benefits, these arguments would not offer a moral justification for children's inclusion in research.

Unlike Ramsey, current commentators do not think that research can be purely in the interests of children. In other words, most recognize that no clear distinction can be drawn between therapeutic and non-therapeutic research. But they do assume that identifying benefit in a trial goes a long way towards justifying the enrollment of children as research subjects. This assumption diverts attention from morally relevant considerations about whether research risks are reasonable in relation to potential benefits to be gained from a trial that proposes to include children as research subjects.

## **1.3 Four solutions**

Expanding the concept of benefit may not help to justify the inclusion of children in medical research, but four arguments in research ethics do contribute to an ethical justification for research with children (irrespective of whether it offers the prospect of

medical benefit). These arguments aim to explain why, and under what conditions, it is morally permissible to include children in research. Commentators aim to justify the inclusion of children in research (1) by appealing to social utility, (2) by arguing that it is permissible to expose children to some degree of risk in the interest of others, (3) by arguing that informed consent is not always a necessary ethical condition; proxy consent for children's participation is consistent with respecting the moral worth of children, and (4) by arguing that the inclusion of children in research is permissible when the research offers a favourable balance between research risks and benefits.

In the following, I explain how each argument identifies a unique and necessary component of the justification for the inclusion of children in research. Moreover, I will point out that one argument—the argument concerning harm-benefit calculations—is under-developed. It relies on the concept of "minimal risk" but does not adequately justify its interpretation or application. A convincing justification for research with children requires the clarification of the minimal risk concept and the combination of this concept with successful aspects of the other arguments aiming to justify pediatric research.

(1) The first argument aims to justify the inclusion of children in research by appealing to social utility. The argument proceeds as follows: the inclusion of children in research is in the interests of children as a group; it helps to establish the safety and efficacy of standard interventions for use in children and to work towards the treatment of diseases and disorders that are unique to children. Excluding children from research will compromise the progress of information about the medical treatment of children in general. Thus, it is in the long-term interests of children as a group not to exclude them from research participation. For example, Capron argues that excluding children from research comes at the expense of understudying children's responses to standard drugs. In the absence of research with children, drugs used and tested in adults would simply be prescribed to children with lowered dosages. This is problematic because children are not simply "little people" (Capron, 1971); they differ from adults in various ways, including metabolic response, enzymatic and excretory systems, and skeletal development. These differences contribute to variations in the ways in which adults and children respond to drugs and medical treatments. Thus, generalizable knowledge about the safety and

efficacy of medical treatments for children cannot be obtained uniquely through extrapolation from studies conducted with adults (Shirkey, 1999; Ackerman, 2001; Spriggs & Caldwell, 2011; IOM, 2004; Laventhal, Tarini, & Lantos, 2012).

Levine elaborates by emphasizing the risks involved in treating children without the knowledge derived from trials. He argues that in the absence of trials, doctors would have to distribute the unknown risks of drugs in children unsystematically. This practice increases the frequency of the occurrence of risks and minimizes the probability of their detection (Levine, 1986). He proposes that conducting trials with children is preferable because it allows the first administration of drugs in children to be conducted under conditions more controlled and carefully monitored than is customary in medicine. Under these conditions, it is likely that adverse drug reactions unique to children would be identified earlier and drugs either discontinued for use in children or involve appropriate warnings (Levine, 1986). Levine concludes that excluding children from research unjustly deprives children as a class of the benefit of safe and effective drugs (Levine, 1986). The common thread in these arguments is that excluding children from clinical research would, in the long run, leave them "therapeutic orphans", that is, children as a group would be rendered orphans of proper therapy (Shirkey, 1968), which is an even greater risk than the research risks faced by individual child research subjects.

The idea that research participation contributes to children's well-being generally, and reduces children's exposure to risks that arise from the off-label prescription of medications tested only in adults, is essential to the justification of research with children. It helps to explain why clinical research is important and why parents and researchers might want to subject their children to research risks that do not necessarily offer the prospect of corresponding medical benefit. Arguments from social utility emphasize that clinical research is a valuable project and that children who participate in it are not subjected to risks simply because it is easy to exploit those who are unable to protect their own interests but because their participation—and its accompanying exposure to risks—has the ability to produce significant social value. For example, children's participation in trials aiming to develop a vaccine preventing rotavirus contributed to the development of knowledge that can help to save thousands of lives a year.

However, appeals to social utility can offer only a partial justification for research with children. Arguments from social utility suggest that as long as the social value of the research is sufficiently important, it is permissible to expose child research subjects to any degree of risk. That is, there is no upper limit on the degree of risk that might be found permissible. Thus, these arguments seem to legitimize high degrees of risk to particular children on the basis of the benefits research may confer to others. And this kind of reasoning neglects researchers' and parents' obligations to particular children. It is also vulnerable to Ramsey's criticism that including children in research fails to respect the moral worth of a child. Thus, the social utility of clinical research is not a sufficient condition for the justification of a trial involving children. It does not explain the conditions under which one can, consistent with respect for the moral worth of children, expose any particular child to research risks for the benefit of others.

(2) A second kind of argument fills in part of this gap by explaining why it may be permissible, at times, to expose a particular child to risk purely in the interest of others. One need not always act in a child's best interests. At times, it is permissible to expose a particular child to risks purely in the interest of others. There are at least two such occasions: when the risks to a child are counterbalanced by the benefits offered to another family member or to the family as a whole and when the risks to a child are undertaken in the interest of important social goals, like the success of a social community.

This argument of social communities is derived from the recognition that children are often members of intimate families. Families have goals and interests that cannot be reduced to those of one member and to which the interests of an individual child are inextricably bound. At times, the intricacies of family life require that a certain member's interests be compromised in the interests of another member or in the interest of the group as a whole (Ross, 1998, p.43). It follows that decision making should take into account not only the individual's interests but her interests as part of a family. To this end, it may be permissible for parents to make intra-familial trade-offs that benefit the family unit as a whole (Ross, 1998). For example, it may be reasonable for parents to move a child away from established social relationships to take up a new job in a different country or to force a child to wait long hours in an emergency room while her sibling receives medical treatment (Ackerman, 1980, p.96). Thus, it may be permissible to expose children to risks when it is beneficial for another family member or for the family as a whole.

It may also be permissible to make decisions that are not in the interests of a child and expose her to risk because it helps to promote important social goals, like communal living. The success of social life depends, in part, on the existence of a community that adheres to a common set of moral principles, that is, a moral code (Ackerman, 1980). To contribute to the continued success of social living, parents should educate and habituate children to share in the moral principles of the common code. To this end, it may be reasonable for a parent to teach her child about common moral principles (such as showing respect for others and keeping promises), encourage her to follow these principles, and scold her if she fails to do so. These interventions are not justifiable because they benefit a particular child (although they might). Instead, they are permissible because of their ability to inculcate in a child adherence to sound moral principles that contribute to her development into an adult with sound moral behaviours, which promotes the successful future of a moral community (Ackerman, 1980). In both of the above cases, there are limits on the extent to which a child's interests may be sacrificed for other ends. But it is important to recognize that under certain circumstances, it is permissible to include children in activities that are not in their interests for the sake of others.

These insights about the permissible treatment of children have important implications for the justification for research with children. Ackerman and Ross point out that certain kinds of interventions that are not in a child's interests are morally legitimate in the context of family life or for the benefit of communal living. More generally, their argument suggests that, at times, it is permissible to submit children to activities that are not in the child's best interests and may expose them to harm because these activities contribute to important social goals. This point has important implications for the justification of non-therapeutic research procedures on children. Clinical research is an important social goal; it contributes to the success of a community by improving the health of its members. Given that clinical research is a valuable social endeavour and that children may be exposed to some harm to promote social ends, it may be permissible to expose children to research risks that are not in their interests but help to promote the health of the broader community.

These arguments successfully establish that at times, it may be permissible to expose children to risk for the sake of others and that it is in the medical interests of children as a group to participate in research. But they do not provide a successful justification for research with children. These arguments do not explain why it is permissible to expose a child, who cannot consent for herself, to research participation. Further, the above considerations do not adequately explain the conditions under which it is permissible to expose a child to risk in the interest of others. The next two arguments take up these tasks.

(3) A third kind of argument fills in another component of the justification for research with children by explaining that informed consent is not a necessary condition for the ethical inclusion of children in research; at times, it may be permissible for parents to provide surrogate consent for their children's enrollment. Proponents of this argument claim that Ramsey's absolute requirement for informed consent for research participation is inappropriate in the case of children. The requirement to obtain informed consent arises from the requirement to respect a person's capacity for self-determination. But children are not capable of autonomous decision-making. Consequently, they are not subject to an absolute requirement to obtain informed consent. It follows that including children in research does not necessarily fail to respect them as morally valuable beings (Ross, 1998; Levine, 1986; Ackerman, 1979; Freedman, 1975).

Freedman points out that the requirement to obtain informed consent does not seem to apply to children. In the case of adults, informed consent serves to respect the autonomy and dignity of the individual. But "a child is (morally) a different sort of thing than is an adult; we must adjust our relations with them according to their claims upon us" (Freedman, 1975, p.38). That is, children are not autonomous; they cannot express autonomy and dignity through choices. It follows that there is no reason to think that a child should decide whether to participate in research. Freedman thinks that children do have rights but that these differ significantly from the rights of adults. Unlike adults, children have no right to liberty. They do, however, have a right to custody (Freedman, 1975). Children's right to custody incurs an obligation from a parent or guardian to

protect and aid in a child's development but not to respect her uninformed and nonautonomous decisions. Freedman writes: "[I]n consequence of this right [to custody] we must do what we may to promote the welfare of the child; we must abstain from doing what will injure the child, physically or otherwise; and, as far as this right goes, we are at liberty to deal with the child in ways which neither help nor hurt" (Freedman, 1975, p.38). On this view, it is legitimate for parents to provide surrogate consent for "harmless experiments on children" as long as they are well-designed, involve highly trained experimenters, and meet the other canons of medical ethics (Freedman, 1975, p.38). Restricting a child's ability to make the decision is permissible because it does not infringe on the child's right to welfare.

Ackerman agrees with Freedman that respecting children does not involve a requirement to respect their autonomous decisions. He points out that the decisions children make are not autonomous choices. Instead, children's "choices" can reasonably be expected to mirror the suggestions made to them by parents and others. To respect children, it is the moral duty of people in positions of authority to guide children. They must "encourage, direct, advise, and even sometimes coerce" children to engage in activities that will contribute to their becoming the right kind of persons (Ackerman, 1979, p.346). Ackerman understands the idea of moral guidance as involving emotive appeals, speaking of what good persons do, and giving praise. But it does not involve leaving decisions in the hands of children. He concludes that "we fool ourselves if we think we fulfill our moral duties by standing aside and asking the child to decide. Our duty is to guide or direct the child to make the best choice" (Ackerman, 1979, p.346). On both these views, a parent can, consistent with respecting the moral worth of a child, provide surrogate consent for that child's participation in research. Enrolling a child is a reasonable way to guide a child's moral education or a reasonable decision for a parent to make on behalf of her child.

Lainie Ross offers another argument for why surrogate consent for children's research participation is ethically permissible. Ross proposes that children should be subject to a modified principle of respect for persons that applies to children rather than adults. Her proposed principle of respect is derived from Kant's second formulation of the categorical imperative. It states that "[c]hildren should never be treated solely as

29

means, but always at the same time, as developing persons and as individuals who have actualized some of the characteristics associated with personhood" (Ross, 1998, p.47). Ross understands this principle as giving rise to two requirements: (1) a negative requirement that prohibits the abuse, neglect, and exploitation of all children. For Ross, what counts as abuse or neglect depends on the relationship between a child and an adult. For example, it may be neglectful for a parent to fail to provide her child with lunch, but it is not neglectful for a teacher to fail to do so (Ross, 1997, p.48). (2) Ross's principle also involves a positive requirement which compels particular individuals to "provide particular children with the goods, skills, liberties, and opportunities necessary to become autonomous adults capable of devising and implementing their own life plans" (Ross, 1998, p.47). The positive component applies only to particular relationships. For instance, a parent is obligated to provide for her child's basic needs. This positive component recognizes obligations on behalf of parents to their children, but it provides wide discretion to parents to direct their child's future according to the parent's own conception of what is good (Ross, 1997, p.48). The positive obligation is met when parents provide their children "with the goods, skills, liberties, and opportunities necessary to devise and implement particular life plans" (Ross, 1997, p. 49). The goods in question may include the opportunity to receive a formal education at an exclusive boarding school or an Amish family's decision to remove a child from school at a young age.

Ross's modified principle aims to respect children's developing capacity by protecting them from harm and by providing them with the goods and opportunities that promote a child's development into an autonomous adult. But her principle does not require informed consent or assent for participation in research. Her analysis assumes that children are incompetent to make their own decisions about health care and "that they should not have presumptive decision-making autonomy" (Ross, 1997, p.7). She argues that parents have presumptive decision-making authority for their children and that parental decisions are binding unless they are disrespectful of a child's developing personhood (Ross, 1998).

With respect to participation in clinical research, Ross argues that parents may legitimately provide surrogate consent for their children's participation as long as the

risks of the research are low enough; decisions about a child's research participation fall within the purview of parental autonomy because they do not disrespect a child's developing personhood. She writes:

Parental authorization or prohibition of their child's participation in minimal-risk research is not abusive or neglectful, even if the child is forced to participate against his will. Rather, it is one way in which parents can attempt to steer their child's development into a socially responsible adult. They may or may not succeed, but it is reasonable for them to try and guide his development in this way. (Ross, 1998, p.92-93)

That is, research participation is a socially responsible activity. It is reasonable for parents to try and inculcate values that they themselves cherish in their children. One way to try and inculcate this value in a child is by authorizing her participation in clinical research. A child can reasonably be expected to come to share some of her parent's social goals. Thus, through exposure and participation, a child is reasonably likely to come to view clinical research as a socially responsible activity. And even if the child does not come to embrace the same value as his parent, authorizing a child's participation is one reasonable way to try and guide a child's development into a socially responsible adult. Thus, it is permissible for parents who value research participation to try and inculcate this same value in their children by providing surrogate consent for their children's enrollment in research that poses minimal degrees of risk (Ross, 1998, p.92).

This argument successfully establishes that there is no absolute ethical requirement to obtain informed consent from children. Insofar as children lack the capacity to make autonomous choices, respecting them as persons should not involve respecting their non-autonomous choices. To do so would be to the detriment of a child. It might prevent her from receiving the moral and educational guidance she is owed by her parents. Thus, it can be permissible for a parent, guardian or legally authorized representative to provide surrogate consent for a child's research participation.

Arguments for the moral legitimacy of surrogate consent are an essential part of the justification for research with children. These arguments explain why a parent can fulfill her duty to protect a child and respect her moral worth but still enroll her in clinical research. But these arguments do not adequately explain the conditions under which a parent or guardian may provide surrogate consent for her child's research participation. Freedman's argument identifies "harmless" research as permissible, but this threshold seems overly restrictive. Most research procedures pose some risk of harm, and many pose a slight risk of serious harm. If parental proxy consent is only legitimate when research is harmless, then it seems impermissible to include children in most kinds of clinical research.

Ross identifies "minimal risk" as a threshold of permissible risk to which parents should be permitted to expose children in research that is not in their medical interests. But this threshold requires further examination. Ross endorses Ackerman's definition of minimal risk, which recognizes minimal risk procedures as those that pose no more risk than activities to which parents typically expose their children for educational purposes (Ackerman, 1980). But she does not adequately justify this threshold. Ross claims that the "development of autonomy requires that children be allowed to take some risks" and that it is both impossible to live in a risk free world and "contrary to the pursuit of a meaningful life plan" (Ross, 1998, p.92). That is, the pursuit of almost any life plan will necessarily involve exposure to some risk. These claims are convincing. But they do not explain why minimal risk is the right level of risk to which it is permissible to expose children in research. Further, it is not clear what kind of risks parents typically expose their children to for educational purposes or whether these risks are justifiable. Consequently, this risk threshold does not necessarily protect children from ill-intentioned or ill-informed parental decisions.

(4) A fourth argument proposes to fill in this missing gap by arguing that it is permissible to include children—as well as adults—in research when an ethics review committee determines that the research offers subjects a reasonable balance between harms and benefits. Commentators then suggest a mechanism by which to assess whether a trial protocol offers a reasonable balance between harms and benefits.

One such mechanism, called component analysis, offers a persuasive system for assessing harms and benefits (Weijer, 2000; Weijer & Miller, 2004; Miller & Weijer, 2006; Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1992).<sup>2</sup> Component analysis is based on Levine's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The most prominent competing system for harm-benefit assessment is Wendler's netrisks test (Wendler & Miller, 2007; Wendler, 2006; Rid & Miller, 2011). A critical

insight that clinical research involves both therapeutic and non-therapeutic procedures. That is, all trials that aim to offer research subjects the prospect of some direct medical benefit also involve non-therapeutic procedures that are administered solely in the interests of gaining generalizable knowledge. Proponents of component analysis argue that there is a morally relevant distinction between these two kinds of procedures and that the justification for exposing research subjects to risks differs for each kind of procedure. That is, there should be separate moral rules for the evaluation of therapeutic and nontherapeutic procedures.

Only therapeutic procedures can be understood as advancing a subject's interest in receiving medical treatment. As a result, the benefits and harms associated with therapeutic procedures may be justified by means of a comparison with the benefits and harms of available treatments (Weijer & Miller, 2004; Miller & Weijer, 2006). The moral rules governing therapeutic procedures are intended to protect subjects from receiving substandard medical care. On the other hand, non-therapeutic procedures do not advance the welfare interests of patient-subjects. Given that they are administered in the interests of the study and not to benefit a particular subject, these risks should not be balanced against the potential medical benefit a subject may receive from them (for there is none). Instead, moral rules governing the use of non-therapeutic procedures should protect subjects from unreasonable risks administered solely in the interests of others (Weijer & Miller, 2004).

Component analysis specifies distinct rules for each kind of procedure. To be permissible, therapeutic procedures must meet the requirement of clinical equipoise (Weijer & Miller, 2004). Clinical equipoise is one of the conditions that legitimizes the randomization of research subjects to various treatments that offer some prospect of medical benefit. It aims to explain when a researcher can, consistent with her duty of care to a subject, offer her enrollment in a clinical trial. Clinical equipoise exists when there is an honest professional disagreement among the community of experts about the preferred treatment (Freedman, 1987). That is, it is permissible to offer a subject enrollment in a

exchange about the merits and drawbacks of each approach can be found elsewhere in the literature (Weijer and Miller, 2007). Examining the implications of each approach on the assessment of harms and benefits in research with children is a future project of mine. But it is beyond the scope of this chapter.

trial when there is disagreement among expert practitioners about the relative merits of various treatment alternatives.

Clinical equipoise provides researchers and research ethics committees with procedural and substantive guidelines to help with their determinations. Procedurally, an ethics committee examines whether clinical equipoise obtains by analyzing a study's protocol and justification, reviewing relevant literature, and, when necessary, by consulting with experts (Weijer & Miller, 2004). Further, meeting the requirement of clinical equipoise helps ethics committees to establish that all arms of a trial are consistent with competent medical care (Weijer, 2000). The existence of clinical equipoise suggests (1) that there is sufficient warrant to expose people to an experimental intervention and (2) that research subjects in the control arm of a trial are not being subjected to the risks of substandard intervention. Clinical equipoise is met if the ethics committee finds that the evidence supporting the various treatment options is sufficient that, were it widely known, expert practitioners would disagree about the preferred treatment (Weijer & Miller, 2004).

The moral requirements governing the permissibility of therapeutic procedures are the same for both adults and children. When considering which therapeutic research procedures are permissible, children—like adults—must be protected from receiving substandard care. The existence of clinical equipoise helps to ensure that children's participation in research will not knowingly place them at a disadvantage compared with children who receive standard medical care. It follows that surrogate consent for children's exposure to therapeutic research procedures is justifiable if clinical equipoise obtains.

Component analysis provides a separate set of rules for assessing the moral permissibility of non-therapeutic procedures. Non-therapeutic procedures do not advance the interests a patient-subject has in receiving medical care. As a result, moral rules governing the use of non-therapeutic procedures are intended to prevent people from undergoing unreasonable risks that are solely in the interests of others (Miller & Weijer, 2006). To be permissible, the risks associated with non-therapeutic procedures must be (a) minimized consistent with sound scientific design and (b) reasonable in relation to the knowledge to be gained (Weijer & Miller, 2004). For both adults and children, an ethics

review committee can establish whether non-therapeutic risks are minimized consistent with sound scientific design by requiring, where possible, that a study involves no additional procedures above and beyond those required to answer the study question and by requiring the substitution of procedures that are already performed for treatment purposes (Weijer & Miller, 2004). For example, during a clinical blood draw, additional blood may be drawn for research purposes to spare the subject an additional venipuncture.

The second requirement—that non-therapeutic risks should be reasonable in relation to the knowledge to be gained—requires that a research ethics board determine that the study's scientific value is sufficient to justify the risks to subjects. This is a determination about social priorities and accordingly, should rely on the judgment of professional members of a research ethics board as well as community representatives (Weijer & Miller, 2004). When the research proposes to involve a vulnerable population, such as children, additional protection is required. To protect children from the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures, a threshold may be invoked limiting the nontherapeutic risks (Weijer & Miller, 2004). Following the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services regulations (DHHS regulations), component analysis restricts the nontherapeutic risks on children to a standard of a "minor increase over minimal risk" (45 CFR 46(a)). The DHHS regulations define minimal risk procedures as those in which "the probability and magnitude of harm or discomfort anticipated in the research are not greater in and of themselves than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests" (45 CFR 46.102(i). That is, minimal risk procedures pose no more risks than those encountered in "daily life". This restriction is meant to help protect children from overly high levels of risk that do not offer a corresponding potential for medical benefit. It aims to do so by limiting non-therapeutic risks to the same degree of risk or a sufficiently similar degree of risk that a child faces daily (Weijer & Miller 2004). Limiting the degree of research risks in research with a vulnerable population is understood to be "one of the core protections that children receive" (President's Commission, 2013, p.29). Limiting these risks according to a minimal risk threshold appears not only in component analysis but also in

other guidelines, international regulations, and ethical commentary on the ethical inclusion of children in research (CIOMS, 2002; TCPS, 2010; Council of Europe, 2005).

To summarize, according to component analysis, the justification for research with children, like the justification for research with adults, depends on two different sets of moral rules governing therapeutic and non-therapeutic procedures. For therapeutic procedures to be permissible, they must meet the requirement of clinical equipoise. On the other hand, the risks of non-therapeutic procedures must be minimized consistent with sound scientific design, reasonable in relation to the knowledge to be gained, and in the case of children pose no more than a minor increase over minimal risk. To be found permissible, a trial protocol must meet the requirements for both its therapeutic procedures and non-therapeutic procedures.

Component analysis fills in some of the missing components of a successful justification for research with children. By requiring independent review of the harms and benefits of research participation by an ethics review committee, component analysis provides an additional level of protection above and beyond that afforded by parents and researchers. Requiring a research ethics board to determine that a given protocol is permissible helps to ensure that researchers and parents will be offered the opportunity to enroll their children in a trial only when a committee of experts has determined that trial enrollment is a reasonable option. Consequently, independent ethics review helps to protect children from uninformed or ill-intentioned parental decisions to enroll their children in clinical trials.

Further, the claim that therapeutic research procedures are only permissible when the requirement for clinical equipoise is met improves upon arguments aiming to justify the inclusion of children in research by broadening the concept of benefit. Rather than identifying some benefit that accrues to research participation and then arguing that the existence of this potential for benefit justifies children's inclusion in research (Wendler, 2010; Wendler, 2012; Bartholome ,1976), clinical equipoise provides clear answers about how much benefit is sufficient to justify a child's participation. According to the requirement of clinical equipoise, a therapeutic research procedure provides adequate benefit to justify enrollment when it is consistent with competent medical care. Thus, component analysis's requirement for therapeutic procedures helps to resolve questions about when the potential for benefit is sufficient to outweigh the risks of research participation and how to assess the permissibility of therapeutic risks.

## 1.4 The missing argument

Component analysis provides resolutions to some of the problems complicating research with children. But it does not provide an adequate analysis of the concept of minimal risk, which is central to the justification of non-therapeutic procedures with children. That is, the concept of minimal risk is not adequately justified or explicated. The idea that the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures on vulnerable populations should be constrained is persuasive. Children are vulnerable; they cannot protect their own interests and are dependent on adults for the satisfaction of their basic needs and wants. Accordingly, they require more protections in research. While it may be permissible to expose them to some risk in the interest of others, restricting the permissible degree of risk helps to ensure that children's interests will not be sacrificed for the benefit of others.

Further, it seems reasonably uncontroversial that the permissible degree of nontherapeutic risk to which they may be exposed should be low. Undertaking a high degree of risk purely in the interest of others requires an understanding of the nature of this risk and autonomous decision to take it on. Thus, restricting the risks of non-therapeutic procedures on children to a low degree helps to ensure that they will be respected as persons and not exploited for the sake of society. One way of operationalizing the 'low' or defensible degree of risk requirement is by measuring risks according to the concept of 'minimal risk'. The concept of minimal risk offers a threshold according to which to assess the permissibility of non-therapeutic risks. That is, it provides a measure by which to determine the kinds of risks that are low enough to protect children's interests in research. But what degree of risk is low enough to prevent exploitation? What should minimal risk mean? And how should we determine when it is surpassed?

Commentators endorsing a minimal risk threshold sometimes suggest that it is reasonable to measure non-therapeutic research risks according to the risks of daily life because these risks replace or are sufficiently similar to the risks a child would otherwise undergo in the pursuit of her normal risky daily life (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993). But how can we know when the risks of research actually replace and do not add to the risks a child would otherwise face? In addition, what makes the risks of daily life morally relevant or permissible? And how do we ensure that these risks are "sufficiently similar" to the risks of daily life? Further, if minimal risk should be defined according to the risks of daily life, then whose daily life should be used as the reference point? That is, who should be the referent for minimal risk? Without convincing answers to these questions, the minimal risk concept remains unclear. Moreover, without an adequate analysis of the concept of minimal risk, Ramsey's challenge remains unanswered. That is, it is not clear whether, and if so under what conditions, children can justifiably be included in research. Thus, the next chapters aim to explicate and justify the concept of minimal risk.

In this chapter, I have argued that the justification for research with children depends on several important insights. First, it depends on an argument about social utility. Research with children is permissible, in part, because it is the source of a critical public health benefit: it improves medical practice on the basis of scientific evidence. Consequently, it is justifiable because of its ability to improve the medical care of children. But this justification is insufficient. It does not provide a persuasive reason why it is permissible to expose particular children, who cannot consent for themselves, to research risks for the benefit of others. Second, commentators argue that at times, it may be permissible to expose children to risk purely for the sake of others. This argument successfully establishes that it might be permissible to expose children to harm, but it leaves other important questions unanswered. It does not explain why it is permissible to enroll children who cannot consent to a trial and it does not explain the degree of risk to which a child can be exposed in the interest of others.

Two additional arguments provide partial answers to these questions. One claims that the requirement to obtain informed consent applies only to people who can make autonomous choices. Given that children are not autonomous, respecting their moral worth in research is not subject to the requirement to obtain informed consent. Instead, parents or guardians can provide surrogate consent for children's participation in research. This argument successfully establishes that children can participate in some research but it does not explain when a parent can, consistent with her parental duty to respect and protect her child, enroll that child in a clinical trial.

One promising way of establishing the conditions under which it is permissible to enroll a child in a trial is to derive insights from the conditions that legitimize the inclusion of adults in research. Adults can enrol in research when an ethics review committee has determined that a research protocol is ethically permissible. Requiring independent review by an ethics committee helps to ensure that a group of experts finds a particular research protocol valuable and permissible, which helps to ensure that parents are given the option to consent on behalf of their children only when enrollment in the trial is a reasonable option. Further, the justification for research with children depends on ethics review committees making reasonable determinations about whether a trial is permissible. Component analysis is a useful mechanism that helps to guide ethics review committees in their harm benefit determinations. Component analysis provides a convincing explanation of when it is permissible to expose children to therapeutic research procedures. But it does not provide a sufficient explanation of the conditions under which non-therapeutic procedures are permissible for children. It relies on—but does not adequately explicate and justify—the concept of minimal risk. It follows that a successful justification for research with children depends on a more persuasive justification for minimal risk. As noted above, the remaining chapters of my thesis will analyze this concept.

# **Chapter 2**

## The risks of daily life

The ethical inclusion of children in research requires a number of protective measures, including the restriction of research procedures that are not administered in the medical interests of a child, that is, non-therapeutic research procedures. Most agree that the risks of these procedures should be low. But what degree of risk, if any, is low enough? Research ethics guidelines and commentary often measure non-therapeutic risks with children according to the concept of minimal risk. That is, they limit the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures to those that pose less than minimal risk, minimal risk or a minor increase over minimal risk. No matter where the line is drawn, the justification for research with children ultimately relies on an explanation of why it is permissible to expose children to a given degree of risk purely in the interest of others. There are two main challenges: (1) explaining what is meant by minimal risk and (2) explaining why this kind of risk is morally relevant, that is, why is it an appropriate comparator for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures with children.

In this chapter, I defend the idea that minimal risk should be interpreted as the risks of daily life. I reject the most prominent defense of this interpretation, which relies on the idea that the risks of daily life are a morally relevant comparator for the risks of nontherapeutic research procedures because they substitute, without adding to, the risks a child would otherwise face. I then propose a different defense, according to which daily life is morally relevant because our daily activities involve risks that are, and should be, considered socially permissible. That is, people have good reasons to accept daily risks because they are part of a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and the ability to pursue the kinds of lives they find valuable. Insofar as reasonable people have good reason to deem daily risks socially acceptable, they serve as a justifiable measure for the kinds of risks that should be permitted in non-therapeutic research procedures with children. Defending a daily life interpretation of minimal risk raises two difficult questions: What, if anything, is morally relevant about daily life? And whose daily life is morally relevant? A persuasive defense of a daily life interpretation must answer both questions. But identifying a referent for daily life presupposes that there is something morally relevant about some people's daily experiences. To put it another way, an examination of whose daily life is morally relevant is only useful provided that we have some idea about why the concept of daily life carries moral force. Consequently, I will first examine whether there are good reasons to think that daily life is a useful measure for minimal risk and I will then identify a referent for daily life. In this chapter, the discussion of daily life should be understood as referring to the daily lives of those who fare well. That is, daily life does not refer to the daily lives of people who are significantly disadvantaged but to the daily experiences of people who are well off. This is an oversimplification. In subsequent chapters, I will examine in detail whose daily life is morally relevant and what it means for a child to fare well.

This chapter proceeds as follows. First, I explain why it is permissible to expose children to a minimal degree of risk in the interest of others. Second, I propose four criteria required for a successful interpretation of minimal risk. Third, I argue that the main competing interpretations of minimal risk fail to meet the necessary criteria. Fourth, I examine the idea that minimal risk should be interpreted as the risks of daily life. I draw attention to a problem with the most prominent defense of this interpretation and propose a new justification for why the risks of daily life are morally relevant. Fifth, I offer a few final thoughts on how my interpretation fares with respect to its rivals.

### 2.1 Risks for the sake of others

As noted in chapter 1, the moral principle of respect for persons generally requires a prospective research subject to provide autonomous consent to enroll in a trial. Her informed decision to enroll, based on an understanding of the purposes, methods, risks, and benefits of the research, legitimizes her inclusion and subsequent exposure to research risks. But children are unable to make an informed decision to enroll. Consequently, it is not clear what, if anything, legitimizes their exposure to risks administered in the interest of others.

In the previous chapter, I argued that part of the justification for the inclusion of children in research is that it is sometimes permissible to expose a particular child to risks purely in the interests of others. There are at least two such occasions: (1) when the risks to a child are counterbalanced by the benefits offered to another family member or to the family as a whole and (2) when the risks to a child are undertaken in the interest of important social goals, such as the success of a social community.

However, in both family life situations and in research, interventions that expose children to risk without the prospect of direct benefit must be limited. And it is important to limit these interventions to a defensible degree. What degree of risk is defensible? It seems reasonably uncontroversial that a defensible degree of risk should be low. This is because children are vulnerable; they cannot protect their own interests and are dependent on adults for the satisfaction of basic needs and wants. Accordingly, they require additional protections. While it may be permissible to expose them to some risk in the interest of others, restricting the permissible degree of risk to a low degree helps to ensure that children's interests will not be sacrificed for the benefit of others. In other words, restricting the degree of non-therapeutic risks on children to a low degree helps to ensure that they will be respected and not exploited for the sake of others.

How should this low degree of risk be understood? And how should we determine when it is surpassed? One way of operationalizing the 'low' or defensible degree of risk requirement is by measuring risks according to the concept of 'minimal risk'. The concept of minimal risk offers a threshold by which to assess the permissibility of nontherapeutic risks. That is, it provides a measure by which to determine the kinds of risks that are low enough to protect children's interests in research. In the following sections, I examine how minimal risk should be understood.

## 2.2 The requirements for a successful account of minimal risk

A variety of interpretations of minimal risk have been proposed; one suggests interpreting minimal risk according to the interventions parents deem permissible for children, another proposes to understand minimal risk as the degree of risk faced in medical procedures undertaken during a routine examination, while still another defines it in terms of the risks people take when participating in charitable activities. These proposals

seem to be motivated by different factors, including clarity, intuitive plausibility, and breadth. Each of these factors seems important, but the competing proposals' diverging goals complicates their evaluation; one interpretation's ability to apply to children of all ages seems desirable while another's intuitive plausibility gives it a different kind of edge. It is not immediately obvious whether meeting any particular goal makes an interpretation more successful than its competitors. To resolve this difficulty, I will begin by proposing a set of requirements that must be met by a successful interpretation of minimal risk. With this foundation in place, I will examine which, if any, of the competing interpretations of minimal risk meet these requirements.

A successful interpretation of minimal risk should fulfill four criteria. First, an interpretation must meet the requirement of practicality. To fulfill this criterion, an interpretation must give sufficient guidance to make it possible to assess the degree of risk posed by various procedures. This requirement aims to ensure that an interpretation is acceptable only if it can be implemented in practice. Second, a successful interpretation must meet the requirement of generality. To meet this requirement, an interpretation must apply to children of all ages (e.g. infants through non-autonomous teenagers). Requiring that an interpretation holds true for a range of children aims to ensure that a successful interpretation takes into account the differences among children of different ages and provides a way in which to accommodate these differences.

Third, a successful interpretation should meet the requirement of fidelity. That is, it must be consistent with common moral intuitions about the permissible treatment of children (such as the intuition that children should be nurtured). This criterion aims to establish that a successful interpretation of minimal risk will expose children to a degree of non-therapeutic research risk that corresponds to commonly held ideas about the morally appropriate treatment of children, which, in turn, may facilitate the recruitment of parents willing to consent for their children's research participation. Fourth, a successful interpretation must meet the requirement of defensibility. It must constrain the degree of non-therapeutic research risks that are permissible to a non-arbitrary degree. Limiting the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures to a defensible degree helps to ensure that the moral principle of respect for persons is upheld and that clinical research will not sacrifice any particular child's interests unduly for the sake of other children or

the social good. Further, a defensible standard helps to ensure that a successful interpretation will provide convincing reasons for why a given standard is a good comparator for non-therapeutic research procedures. Finally, for an interpretation of minimal risk to be found acceptable, it must fulfill all four criteria; they are individually necessary and jointly sufficient.

## 2.3 Competing interpretations

The set of criteria developed above provides the foundation for a successful interpretation of minimal risk. These criteria also facilitate the examination of diverse interpretations of minimal risk. In this section I examine whether some of the most prominent interpretations of minimal risk meet the necessary requirements for a successful interpretation.

#### 2.3.1 Common usage

One way to interpret minimal risk is to examine its use by the community of clinical researchers and research ethics boards. If the community of practitioners generally deems certain procedures as involving minimal risk, then this common usage might inform an interpretation of minimal risk. This kind of interpretation would have the advantage of being familiar to experts and might line up well with their intuitions about what minimal risk means.

Unfortunately, there seems to be little agreement within the community of experts about the meaning of minimal risk. Janofsky and Starfield's survey of pediatric department chairs and pediatric clinical research center directors found wide disagreement in the way that risk levels of various procedures were assessed (Janofsky & Starfield, 1981). While most respondents agreed that one venipuncture or hospitalization for observation (for 24 hours) posed less than minimal risk for newborns to children age 18, there was no consensus about the degree of risk involved in any given procedure, and there was significant disagreement about the degree of risk posed by most of the procedures surveyed (Janofsky & Sarfield, 1982). For example, when asked to ascertain the degree of risk posed by a puncturing of the ear drum to withdraw fluid (tympanocentesis) for children between 1 and 4 years old, responses were almost equally split among three different risk assessments; 35% of respondents deemed the procedure minimal risk, 34% thought it posed a minor increase over minimal risk, and the remaining 31% believed the procedure involved more than a minor increase over minimal risk (Janofsky & Starfield, 1981, p.844). Chairs responses also varied over the degree of risk involved in procedures such as arterial punctures, skin biopsy, bone scans, and gastric or intestinal intubation (Janofsky & Starfield, 1982).

A study conducted in 2004 obtained similar results. Shah and colleagues' telephone survey of ethics committee chairs across the U.S. found that while the majority of respondents agreed that a single blood draw posed no more than minimal risk (81%) and that a lumbar puncture with conscious sedation in healthy children involved more than a minor increase over minimal risk (82%) (Shah, et al., 2004, p.479), chairs' risk perceptions differed widely about the majority of procedures surveyed. With respect to some procedures, including a confidential survey of sexual activity or allergy testing, responses were almost evenly split among the three risk categories (Shah, et al., 2004). These surveys suggest that common judgments by experts about the meaning of minimal risk are insufficient. While some procedures clearly pose very low or high degrees of risk, many, if not most, resist obvious categorization by experts.

While an interpretation informed by common usage might have the merit of intuitive plausibility, this interpretation does not meet the requirements of a successful minimal risk standard. It fails the criterion of offering useful practical guidance. Given that even within a circumscribed community of expert practitioners there was little agreement, appealing to common usage would not provide a consistent and useful standard. Further, the differences between different ethics committees common usage of minimal risk may pose particularly difficult complications for investigators carrying out multicenter trials (Lantos, 2004).

Interpreting minimal risk according to common usage also fails to meet the requirement of a defensible standard. Even if the expert community used minimal risk in the same way and to refer to the same kinds of procedures, it is not clear whether, and if so why, these particular procedures are appropriate kinds of risks for non-therapeutic research procedures. Insofar as this standard does not offer a justified defense or useful

guidance for ethics review, minimal risk should not be interpreted in terms of common usage.

#### 2.3.2 Quantitative interpretation

Given that there seems to be no consensus at least among experts about the meaning of minimal risk, some have proposed quantitative strategies for assessing permissible risks. Nicholson argues:

The evidence presented of the inaccuracies in investigators' perceptions of risk suggests that it is important to work towards an arithmetical categorization of risk and away from such categories as negligible, minimal, minor increase over minimal, and so forth, which are impossible to define and rely heavily on perceptions of risk, particularly those of the professionals involved. (Nicholson, 1986, p.118)

That is, one might reduce variability and ambiguity in risk determination with the help of a quantitative interpretation of the permissible degree of risk.

How would this work? Nicholson proposes that the worthiness of a given trial be assessed by appealing to a complex arithmetical formula that proceeds as follows: one multiplies the length of time for which each harm potentially caused by a research procedure would last by its valuation on the Rosser scale (Rosser & Kind, 1978), which assigns a numerical value to different states of illness. The product is then multiplied by the probability that the harm will occur. This preliminary result represents the disutility score for each harm that an individual might face in the trial. The disutility scores are then multiplied by the number of subjects in a trial and then added together which results in a final disutility score for the whole project (Nicholson, 1986, p.108-110).

Once the final disutility score of a trial is calculated, it is evaluated by reference to a second set of numerical values that prescribe permissible levels of risk for nontherapeutic procedures. For Nicholson, minimal risks are those that pose less than 1 per million risk of death, less than 10 per million risk of major complication, and less than 1 per thousand risk of minor complication (Nicholson, 1986, p.119). Nicholson claims that these values represent permissible degrees of risk because they correspond to the degree of risk that is generally considered negligible in medicine (Nicholson, 1986). Nicholson's system for risk evaluation is not purely arithmetic or purely quantitative. It relies on the judgment that negligible risks in medical practice are a morally appropriate comparator for risks in research as well as the idea that the risks considered negligible in medicine can be represented quantitatively. While Nicholson recognizes that values will inevitably enter into judgments about risk (Nicholson, 1986, p.81), he endorses the use of quantitative calculations whenever possible to reduce the ambiguity and variability generated by intuitive risk assessments. Thus, for Nicholson, the appropriate ethical assessment of clinical research—and non-therapeutic research procedures—depends on a quantitative calculation that is then assessed by comparison to the degree of risk that is considered acceptable in medical practice.

Nicholson's quantitative strategy is unsuccessful. It relies on at least two problematic claims. First, it is not clear that the degree of risk considered negligible in medicine can be reflected quantitatively. Nicholson arrives at his calculations by examining statistics collected about the risks of certain medical procedures and doctors' as well as the general public's reactions to these risks. For example, he appeals to the research of the Committee on Safety of Medicines to find statistical information about the risks of taking medications. The Committee on Safety of Medicines examined data about the number of deaths reported as being caused by a particular drug during a given period and the number of prescriptions for the drug in the same period; they found that 22 drugs produced a risk of death per prescription no greater than 1 per million, 6 drugs produced a risk greater than 10 per million, and 1 drug produced a risk of 160 per million (Nicholson, 1986, p.89).

Nicholson claims that these statistics serve as some evidence that both doctors and the general public deem a risk of death of one per million as negligible in medical practice (Nicholson, 1986, p.89). But this conclusion is unwarranted. It is not clear whether doctors prescribe drugs that cause a risk of 1 per million of death because they deem this degree of risk negligible or whether they are simply unaware of the risks of certain prescriptions. The results of the Committee on Safety of Medicines may well contribute to changes in prescribing practices. Further, this example cites evidence based on an examination of 29 medications, which is a very small subset of the medications prescribed by physicians on a regular basis. Even if evidence about these 29 medications revealed that physicians deem negligible a 1 per million risk of death per prescription, it is not clear whether, and if so why, these statistics can be generalized to broader prescribing practices. Consequently, it is hard to see how the Committee on Safety of Medicines' report translates into statistics about the degree of risk generally considered negligible in medical practice.

Moreover, while a doctor's decision to prescribe a medication may well take into account the statistical likelihood of a medication resulting in death, her prescribing habits are likely influenced by different or multiple factors. A physician's judgment also depends on particularities of the situation, including a given patient's risk factors, allergies, and circumstantial or environmental factors that make a given medication a better choice for her. The physician's subsequent judgment about what medication to prescribe is a qualitative judgment based on a consideration of the various benefits and harms of various medical options. It is problematic to appeal to a quantitative calculation that would exclude these considerations in medical practice. Doing so would result in poorer medical care. If the degree of risk considered permissible in clinical research is based on the degree of risk considered negligible in practice, then it should be calculated using more than statistics about risks of death and injury. Making risk assessments based on these factors alone runs the risk of neglecting other important features of a trial. Thus, it is difficult, at best, to accurately reflect the risks considered negligible in medicine quantitatively and even if one could, doing so is undesirable.

Second, Nicholson's proposal depends on the problematic idea that the degree of risk considered negligible in medical practice is a morally relevant comparator for permissible risks in research. The goal of clinical practice is to treat patients; accordingly, the interventions prescribed and administered in practice aim to offer a patient the prospect of direct benefit. It follows that some risks may be deemed negligible in clinical medicine not because there is something inherently acceptable about this degree of risk but because the risk is far outweighed by the potential benefit of a treatment. But this is not necessarily the case in clinical research. Some research procedures are administered exclusively in the interest of answering the scientific question and do not aim to offer a subject the prospect of direct benefit. Given that risks associated with procedures administered in clinical practice may be considered negligible because of the benefits

these procedures offer and that some research procedures do not offer the prospect of benefit, the degree of risk considered negligible in medicine is not an appropriate comparator for the degree of risk that is considered ethically permissible in research.

More generally, quantitative interpretations for minimal risk must either arbitrarily choose a number to represent morally permissible degrees of risk or they must appeal to another kind of justification about what serves as a useful comparator for morally permissible risks in research. The former option is unjustifiable and in the latter, it is the second comparative judgment that serves as the moral foundation for the interpretation. That is, the success of the proposal ultimately depends on the strength of the moral comparator chosen for permissible risks in research, which is a qualitative judgment. Thus, quantitative strategies are ill-equipped to serve as interpretations for minimal risk. Insofar as Nicholson's proposal fails to offer a convincing reason why the risks deemed negligible in medicine (were it possible to reflect these quantitatively) serve as a useful comparator for morally permissible risks in research and there are good reasons to think that it should not be the appropriate comparator, his proposal fails to meet the requirement that an interpretation limit risks to a defensible degree. Consequently, it is not a successful interpretation of minimal risk.

#### 2.3.3 Routine examination

Another possible interpretation of minimal risk suggests that the threshold for permissible non-therapeutic research procedures on children should be the degree of risk a child faces during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests. This interpretation is endorsed by the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences' *International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects* (CIOMS, 2002, Guideline 9, p.48) and Kenya's National Council for Science and Technology's *Guidelines for Ethical Conduct of Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects in Kenya* (Kenya's National Council for Science and Technology, 2004, Guideline 6, p.11). The procedures performed during a healthy child's routine physician visit are reasonably well-characterized; they include routine age-appropriate physical and psychological examinations or tests, guidance and education, and immunizations (IOM, 2004, p.124).

One advantage of this interpretation is that it offers clear procedural guidance about the kinds of procedures that pose no more than minimal risk. But this interpretation is not persuasive. First, it is not consistent with common moral intuitions about the permissible treatment of children. The risks of routine examinations in countries with reasonably well-developed health care systems pose almost no risks (Wendler, 2005). The Institute of Medicine claims that a healthy child's doctor's visit often involves a history, physical exams (including height, weight and head circumference measurements, collection of blood, measurement of heart rate and blood pressure), psychological exams, guidance or education, and immunizations (IOM, 2004, p.124). These procedures involve very few risks. Consequently, implementing this interpretation would prevent children from facing most risks that offer them no prospect of direct benefit. But this seems overly restrictive. As discussed earlier, parents should have broad discretion over the kinds of risks that their children should face. And at times, it is permissible for parents to expose their children to some risk for the benefit of the family or for unrelated others. Restricting minimal risk to the procedures administered during a routine examination prevents many non-therapeutic research procedures. It also restricts a parent's ability to exercise discretion about the kinds of risks their children should face that do not aim to offer their children the prospect of direct benefit. Consequently, this interpretation does not meet the requirement of fidelity.

Further, the routine examination interpretation does not limit risk to a defensible degree. No argument is provided about why the degree of risk faced in a child's routine physical or psychological examination is a morally relevant threshold. In the absence of this kind of argument, there is no obvious reason to accept that the risks of routine examinations should be the basis of comparison for minimal risk. In fact, there are good reasons to think these risks are the wrong comparators. The procedures administered during a well-child visit offer children the prospect of direct benefit. They track children's development and seek to identify any problems in need of treatment (Wendler, 2005). Given that they involve risks undertaken with the prospect of direct medical benefit and not for the benefit of others, they are not an appropriate baseline according to which to measure the permissibility of non-therapeutic research procedures. Given that

the routine examination interpretation fails to meet the requirement of fidelity and the requirement of defensibility, it does not offer a persuasive interpretation for minimal risk.

#### 2.3.4 Charitable participation

Wendler defends the "charitable participation" standard (Wendler, 2005; Wendler & Glantz, 2007; Wendler, 2010) according to which risks are considered minimal when they do not "exceed the risks of charitable activities deemed acceptable...in daily life" (Wendler, 2005, p.40). That is, children should be enrolled in research that does not aim to offer them the prospect of direct benefit only when the research poses no more risk than society would deem permissible for a child to face while she participates in charitable activities. For example, minimal risks should be understood as those faced by children participating in Global Youth Service Day, during which children across the world carry out local community improvement projects including crop planting, visiting the sick, digging wells, and collecting donations (Wendler & Glantz, 2007).

Wendler makes his case by drawing parallels between research and charitable activities and then appealing to our intuitions about the permissibility (or desirability) of volunteering children to participate in charitable activities. He argues that both charitable activities and nonbeneficial pediatric research are designed to help unrelated and unidentified others (Wendler & Glantz, 2007). And neither activity is able to predict with certainty that it will benefit others; the benefits of a clinical trial, like those of a charitable fund raiser, may not materialize. But both are valuable endeavours that offer a reasonable prospect of helping others (Wendler & Glantz, 2007).

Next, Wendler argues that participation in charitable activities is socially endorsed. He writes:

Parents may reasonably instruct their children to mow the lawns of infirm neighbors, and they may allow their children to participate in car washes and go door to door collecting money for charitable organizations, even though these activities pose some risks to their children. Further, society not only implicitly accepts such charitable activities but in many cases actively endorses them. Schools and local governments often support them, and respected organizations like the Red Cross and Habitat for Humanity encourage children to participate in them. Presumably, if society considered it outright exploitation in every case to expose children to risks for the benefit of others, the public would not, through the government, give them a special tax status. (Wendler, 2005, p.40)

That is, society endorses parent's decisions to volunteer their children's help in charitable activities that pose some risks to children but also offer the possibility of helping unidentified and unrelated others. This suggests that it may also be permissible for children to participate in clinical research involving similar degrees of risk without direct medical benefit but with the ability to benefit others.

The charitable activity interpretation lines up well with the common moral intuition that parents should encourage children to learn the value of charity and of helping others. In addition, charitable organizations often have strict rules about what kinds of charitable activities children of different ages may undertake, which offer clear guidance about what kinds of risks may be permissible in research (Wendler & Glantz, 2007). For example, Habitat for Humanity reaches out to children as young as 5 years old to help contribute towards their goal of providing every person with a safe, decent, and affordable place to live. But children's participation is carefully constrained to age-appropriate activities. Children between 5-8 years old are encouraged to help build piggy banks for fundraisers, construct welcome baskets for homeowners, and help with landscaping (Habitat for Humanity). But to be permitted on construction sites, one must be over 16 years old (Habitat for Humanity). Thus, some charitable organizations offer clear guidance about what kinds of risks are appropriate for children of different ages.

However, Wendler's charitable participation standard fails to meet other necessary criteria of a successful interpretation. Wendler's standard does not clearly limit risks to a defensible degree. Wendler successfully points out that charitable activities help to teach children socially and morally valuable traits. He also points out that the risks of participating in charitable activities are risks and burdens to which society is willing to expose individuals for the benefit of others (Wendler, 2005, p.40). These claims are compelling. But it is not clear that charitable activities are the only kinds of valuable activities in which society is willing to expose children to risk for the sake of others.

Wendler does not offer a strict definition of what he means by charitable participation and the scope and range of activities that should count as charitable is not entirely clear. But his examples, including American Red Cross, Habitat for Humanity, UNICEF, and Global Youth Service Day (Wendler & Glantz, 2007) refer mostly to the works of charitable organizations. He also raises the example of helping out infirm neighbours (Wendler, 2005). There is little question that these are valuable activities. But there are other valuable activities in which it may be permissible to undertake, or to expose children to risks for the sake of others, that do not clearly fit within Wendler's charitable activities standard. Consider, for example, valuable social goals such as reducing poverty, promoting public health, promoting democracy, reducing pollution, reducing traffic accidents, and promoting racial tolerance, to name a few. It is desirable for people to be involved in, and in some instances, to involve their children in activities that involve risk but help contribute to these valuable goals. But constraining the degree of risk to which it is permissible to expose children in research to the degree of risk involved in charitable activities does not capture the permissibility of involving children in these other kinds of valuable activities. In other words, Wendler's interpretation is overly narrow. He identifies a set of clear cases in which one exposes oneself or one's child to risks in order to benefit another, often a complete stranger, but it is not clear why we should limit permissible risks to the risks involved in charitable activities. These are only one example of the kinds of valuable activities society promotes.

Further, Wendler's charitable activity standard fails to meet the requirement of generality. That is, it does not apply to children of all ages. As Wendler recognizes, interpreting minimal risk according to charitable activities does not seem to support research on infants or very young children. Socially endorsed charitable organizations, like Habitat for Humanity, do not endorse the inclusion of children under five years old in charitable activities (Wendler & Glantz, 2007). If minimal risk is to be compared to the degree of risk socially permissible in charitable activities, then infants and young children cannot face any risks without the prospect of corresponding benefits. This is not simply a disadvantage of the argument (Wendler & Glantz 2007, p.580) but a serious problem; a convincing interpretation of minimal risk must explain the permissibility of research risks for children of all ages. Insofar as the charitable activity interpretation bars infants and young children from facing any degree of risk, it is not a persuasive definition of minimal risk. Applying it would prohibit the progress of research that investigates the medical

treatment of infants and young children. Thus, Wendler's charitable participation interpretation should be rejected.

#### 2.3.5 Socially allowable risks

A fifth possibility interprets minimal risk as the risks to which it is socially permissible for parents to expose children. Some of the comments of the National Human Research Protections Advisory Committee (NHRPAC) suggest this kind of interpretation (NHRPAC, 2002). Specifically, NHRPAC interprets minimal risk according to the daily life of a "normal, healthy, average child" but also endorses a socially allowable risk standard. They write: "Conceptually, the minimal risk standard defines a permissible level of risk in research as the socially allowable risks which parents generally permit their children to be exposed to in non-research situations" (NHRPAC, 2002, p. 1). NHRPAC do not explain how their endorsement of a daily life and a socially allowable risk interpretation can be reconciled. That is, it is not clear whether they think that minimal risks should be assessed by considering the risks of daily life or by considering whether a particular risk is socially allowable. And some have argued that the conceptual link between the two is unsuccessful (Kopelman, 2004b, p.364). Nonetheless, the socially allowable risks interpretation receives some support. When examining what is meant by a "minor increase over minimal risk", Wendler and Emanuel endorse a socially acceptable risk standard (Wendler & Emanuel, 2005, p.577).<sup>3</sup> They argue that a minor increase over minimal risk refers to the level of risk in the lives of children who face greater than average, yet socially acceptable risks. He writes:

[In some cases,] society not only permits children to be exposed to greater risks, but also deems the related activities to be acceptable for children. For instance, children who assist their families on working farms face greater risks than the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wendler's interpretation is surprising. Given that he defends a charitable activities interpretation of minimal risk (Wendler, 2005) and also endorses the need for empirical data about the quantitative degree of risk posed by daily life and charitable activities (Wendler et al., 2005), it seems reasonable to conclude that he would interpret a minor increase over minimal risk as some fixed degree of risk higher than that encountered in charitable activities. But Wendler does not explain how (or whether) his endorsement of the socially allowable interpretation is to be understood in light of the charitable interpretations standard and his emphasis on quantification.

risks ordinarily encountered by healthy children; children who take frequent car trips and children who go on mountain climbing trips with their parents face greater risks than other children...Society accepts children facing these risks and, in some cases, even explicitly endorses them.

At the same time, society often places additional restrictions on these riskier activities. Society requires that infants be placed in car seats, and younger children to work on family farms only. Furthermore, society does not accept all of the risks associated with family farms, such as the risks posed by unsafe machinery, even when these risks might be deemed acceptable by some parents. (Wendler & Emanuel, 2005, p. 577-578)

This interpretation aims to identify the degree of risk that is permissible in research as the risks that are deemed socially permissible by a society. When a society deems some risks, such as the risks faced by children who live in housing projects as unacceptable, then these risks are also assumed to be unacceptable in non-therapeutic research procedures. This position has some appeal. It draws on intuitions that social mores help to determine how children should be treated in research. And it seems plausible to draw on collective insights to help determine what kinds of activities or research procedures are permissible for children.

Nonetheless, the socially allowable threshold is ultimately unsuccessful. It is not clear how to determine whether something is considered socially allowable. Identifying something as socially allowable might mean that it is legal or it might mean that it is approved by most people (Kopelman, 2004b, 364). The former does not necessarily dictate what is morally justifiable and the latter standard is hard to gauge. Consequently, this interpretation does not meet the criterion of practical guidance. Further, requiring that an action be permitted by society does not ensure that it is an appropriate comparator for non-therapeutic research procedures. That is, it is not a defensible risk standard. The IOM point out that this interpretation suggests that if public opinion polls showed majority support for spanking, then hitting a child during an experiment would pose no more than minimal risk, which seems wrong (IOM, 2004, p.123). To put the point more generally, identifying socially acceptable risks does not explain whether or why these risks are morally permissible. And in the absence of a persuasive reason to think that a set of

actions should be socially permissible, measuring these actions against minimal risk, so defined, does not offer adequate protections for children in research.

#### 2.3.6 Risks in family life

Ackerman defends another interpretation according to which "[a] research procedure involving minimal risk is one in which the probability of physical and psychological harm is no more than that to which it is appropriate to intentionally expose a child for educational purposes in family life situations" (Ackerman, 1980, p.106). That is, the degree of risk permissible in non-therapeutic research procedures should be restricted to the degree of risk to which parents are willing to expose their children for the purposes of their education.

Ackerman arrives at this interpretation through an examination of family life. His idea is that exploring the duties and privileges of parents can tell us about the appropriate treatment of children in research. Specifically, he argues that identifying the kinds of interventions that are commonly thought to be morally justified in family situations should inform determinations about permissible interventions in medical research (Ackerman, 1980). He then identifies three kinds of legitimate parental interventions into the lives of their children. First, parents should intervene to contribute to a child's physical and personal development. Such interventions include the provision of food, shelter, and medical care as well as contributions to her personality development, learning, and skill acquisition. In addition, parents must take steps to limit children's exposure to dangers that threaten their well-being (Ackerman, 1980, p.95).

Ackerman's second and third kinds of justifiable interventions serve different goals. They represent interventions that are not merely in a child's direct interests but are undertaken to promote the interests of others. The second permissible kind of intervention permits parents to intervene in the lives of their children so as to inculcate in their children traits of character that contribute to a child's development into a morally acceptable adult (Ackerman, 1980, p.95-96). Ackerman's idea is that social life depends on the existence of a community that adheres to a moral code and that parents can and should contribute to this moral community by educating their children about and habituating children to shared moral duties, including respecting others, keeping promises, and avoiding harm. Third, parents can intervene in the lives of children to promote the interests of others, especially family members. For example, it may be reasonable for parents to move a child away from established social relationships to take up a new job in a different country or to force a child to wait long hours in an emergency room while her sibling's broken bone is attended to (Ackerman, 1980, p.96).

It is an important feature of Ackerman's account that morally justifiable interventions into the lives of children do not need to be in a child's direct or best interests (Ackerman, 1980, p.101). These interventions educate the child, but not exclusively for her own sake. But these interventions are subject to limitations: they must not frustrate or threaten a child's development, the risks associated with these interventions must be minimized, and the burdens incurred from these interventions must be fairly distributed (Ackerman, 1980, p.96).

Ackerman extends this analysis of family life to non-therapeutic research procedures with children. He writes:

[S]ociety may expect that parents will impose risks and discomforts upon children in order to inculcate dispositions of character which assure their acknowledgement of the publicly recognized moral code. Similarly, parents may impose upon a child to enhance the well-being of others, particularly family members. In each case, pursuit of the direct interests of the child may be circumscribed by goals related to the welfare of society and its other members. (Ackerman, 1980, p.101)

That is, if certain kinds of interventions that are not in a child's direct interests are morally legitimate in family life then they can, by analogy, also be morally justified in the context of research with children. But, in both family life situations and in nontherapeutic research procedures, limits must be placed on interventions that expose children to risk without the prospect of direct benefit.

What is the appropriate limit for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures? Ackerman's answer is that given that it seems reasonable to permit children's moral education to involve some degree of risk to serve a socially worthy goal and that clinical research involving non-therapeutic research procedures also contributes to a socially worthy goal, it seems reasonable to conclude that non-therapeutic research procedures are permissible if they pose no more harm than parental interventions do that contribute to a child's moral education (Ackerman, 1980, p.106). Interventions in the family setting that promote a child's moral education include chores such as washing the dinner dishes, which involves some risk of cuts and the discomfort of not doing other things during that time, and participating in an outing that is not of immediate interest to a child, such as a trip to the grocery store. Ackerman claims that the risks posed by these interventions are comparable to the risks posed by non-therapeutic research procedures such as weighing, aspirating bone marrow, needle biopsies, and lumbar punctures (Ackerman, 1980, p.107).

Ackerman's analogy—that is, between clinical research and family life as two situations in which it is permissible to expose children to risks for the benefit of others is plausible. As with Wendler's charitable interpretation standard, Ackerman's proposal persuasively identifies an area in which it is permissible to expose children to some risks for the sake of others. And Ackerman's proposal is more convincing than Wendlers'. The risks to which it is permissible to expose children for educational purposes in family life likely includes the risks of participation in charitable activities but in addition to a broader range of valuable activities. That is, given that many parents think it is appropriate to encourage their children to help unrelated others, Ackerman's interpretation of permissible risks includes the risks of charitable activities such as helping neighbours. But it also has a broader scope. The risks to which it is permissible to include children in family life for educational purposes also include different risks undertaken for the purposes of a child's moral education, such as teaching children to keep promises. Thus, this interpretation offers a persuasive account of many risks to which it is appropriate to expose a child in the interest of others.

However, there are difficulties with Ackerman's argument. First, his standard does not adequately constrain the degree of risks that children may face in research. Some parents' systems of moral education expose their children to risks that would be inappropriately high in the context of non-therapeutic research procedures. For example, James Mill—following the principles of Bentham's associationist psychology—required John Stuart Mill to learn Greek by the age of three, Latin by age eight, and master the basics of economic theory complemented by extensive work in logic and mathematics by age fourteen. Acquiring this knowledge is admirable, but Mill complained that his father's rigorous training led to the intense depression he suffered by age twenty (Wilson, 2007). Non-therapeutic research procedures dangerous enough to cause severe depression seems to pose too much risk. More generally, it seems impermissible to permit non-therapeutic research risks that are equivalent to those imposed by a heavily burdensome program of study on a young child. But given that some parents find high risks appropriate during a child's education in family life, they might be deemed minimal on Ackerman's account. More generally, it is not clear that this interpretation can distinguish between malicious, mistaken or ill-informed parental treatment and consequently, does not meet the requirement that a successful account must be subject to adequate constraints.

One might respond to this objection by pointing out that Ackerman's interpretation indexes permissible risks to those to which parents *should* expose children (and not as the risks to which some parents do expose children), which would reflect a social judgment about the kinds of risks that are permissible in family life situations (Nelson & Ross, 2005, p.565). But this response is not persuasive. First, it is not clear that such an interpretation could be implemented in practice. There is no unambiguous body of risks to which it is socially permissible to expose children for educational purposes in family life. There is little doubt that James Mill's methods were severe but they contributed to his son's becoming the most influential English-speaking philosopher of the nineteenth century. Should the risks of this kind of training be appropriate for educational training in family life? If not, where should the line be drawn within the spectrum of risks to which parents intentionally expose children for the purposes of their education? In short, it is not clear that there exists one common social judgment about permissible educational interventions, which complicates efforts to operationalize this interpretation. But this suggests that Ackerman's interpretation does not meet the requirement of practicality.

In addition, Ackerman's interpretation does not meet the requirement of generality. Parents do not generally morally educate infants or very young children. It follows that this interpretation offers no persuasive reason why it is permissible to include infants and very young children in research that exposes them to risks for the benefit of others. Ultimately, the success of Ackerman's interpretation depends on the development of an account of the risks to which parents should expose children for the purposes of their education, an explanation of the ways in which we morally educate very young children, and practical guidance. As it currently stands, Ackerman's interpretation does not constrain non-therapeutic risks adequately or provide adequately clear or general guidance for ethics review.

#### 2.3.7 The risks of daily life

The National Commission defends the idea that "minimal risk is the probability and magnitude of physical or psychological harm that is normally encountered in the daily life, or in the routine medical or psychological examination, of healthy children" (National Commission, 1977, xx). The current U.S. DHHS regulations also interpret minimal risk according to the risks of daily life (although they omit the phrase "healthy children") (45 CFR 46.102(i)). The daily life interpretation draws on the fact that, no matter how careful a person is, carrying out her usual daily activities—such as eating a meal or crossing the street—involves exposure to some risk. This inevitable degree of risk should be understood as minimal risk (Ackerman, 2001, p.32).

There is little question that our daily activities expose us to risks but measuring minimal risk according to daily life gives rise to at least two difficult questions: (1) what, if anything, is morally relevant about the risks of daily life? That is, why is it a justifiable measure for minimal risk? And (2) whose daily life do we have in mind? In the rest of this chapter I examine whether there are good reasons to think that daily life should serve as a measure for minimal risk. Specifically, I will offer an account of why the risks of daily life are morally acceptable and serve as a justifiable measure for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures with children. In subsequent chapters, I take up the second question of whose daily life is morally relevant.

One reason to think that the risks of daily life are morally relevant is that they replace (and do not add to) the risks a child faces in her usual activities. Commentators argue:

The risks of research are to a degree substitutive, rather than additive: research risks are undergone, but the risks of alternative activities are foregone. Normal, healthy subjects of research would otherwise be pursuing their normally risky daily lives.... (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993, p.17)

Similarly, McMillan and Hope write:

[R]esearch which is no more harmful than activities that an individual takes part in during everyday life is not harming that individual in a way that he would not have been harmed had he not taken part in the research. In other words a research participant is not worse off by taking part in the research than he would have been if he got on with his life in other ways. (McMillan & Hope, 2004, p.112)

The moral rationale in these passages is that restricting the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures to the same degree of risk a child would otherwise be facing in her normal risky daily activities helps to ensure that research risks substitute and do not add to the amount of risk a child will face at any given time (Ackerman, 2001, p.32; McMillan & Hope, 2004). A child may have different kinds of experiences (and their accompanying risks) in research, but what is important is that these risks replace her usual and comparably risky daily experiences. If the risks of research replace the risks of daily life, then children's participation in a trial does not expose them to any additional harm. Understood in this way, daily life is a justifiable interpretation not because of any morally salient features about the risks of daily life but because it helps to ensure that participation in research will not unjustifiably sacrifice children's interests for the sake of others.

However, the argument for risk substitution is not successful. It is based on the idea that one cannot literally be in more than one place at one time. That is, a child cannot simultaneously undergo a non-therapeutic blood draw in a research setting and ride her bicycle on the street. This is true, but it does not necessarily prevent a child from undergoing additional risks as the result of her research participation. That is, while one activity may substitute the other, the risks of non-therapeutic procedures do not necessarily substitute the risks of daily life. The risks of non-therapeutic procedures are not constrained to the period of time during which the procedure is administered (or even to the duration of the study). For example, the risks of injection with an investigational drug are likely to persist after a child leaves the hospital or clinic. It follows that the activities she undertakes post-procedure but while the effects of the intervention persist are subject to two sets of risks: those incurred as the result of the research intervention as well as those incurred as the result of her usual daily activities. To carry normative force, the argument for risk substitution must establish that one cannot simultaneously be exposed to the risks of non-therapeutic procedures at the same time as one is exposed to the risks of daily life. But the risks of research procedures can increase a child's risks. It follows that the argument for risk substitution is unsuccessful. If daily life is a useful comparator for minimal risk, it requires a different justification.

## 2.4 A new justification for daily life

Is there a different reason that daily life is a morally justified comparator for minimal risk? I will defend the thesis that daily life is morally relevant because it involves risks that most reasonable people undertake without much thought, concern, and irrespective of whether they offer the prospect of corresponding benefit. That is, these risks are socially acceptable risks. Moreover, the acceptance of these risks is not the result of mistaken or ill-informed judgment. They are risks that most reasonable people have good reasons to deem safe enough for themselves, their children, and for unrelated others even when they do not offer the prospect of corresponding benefit. Insofar as people have good reasons to deem these risks acceptable for the benefit of others, they serve as a justifiable measure for the kinds of risks that are morally permissible in non-therapeutic research procedures with children. In the first section, I will argue that the risks of daily life represent the kind of risks that most reasonable people to deem these risks socially permissible and then, I will argue that there are good reasons for people to deem these risks socially permissible.

Theoretically, one can always make efforts to reduce the risks associated with an activity. But at a certain point, most reasonable people stop trying to reduce the risks of their activities. They make trade-offs between safety and the pursuit of other goals or goods. The kind of risks that most reasonable people are willing to accept as part of this trade-off—that is, the risks that are deemed 'safe enough'—are morally relevant. They are the socially acceptable risks in a given time and place. To put it another way, identifying some risks as 'safe enough' reflects a normative judgment about risks that reasonable people should undertake without significant calculation and irrespective of whether they offer the prospect of direct benefit. Further, identifying what kinds of risks, if any, are socially acceptable can guide decisions about the kinds of risks that are

permissible in non-therapeutic research procedures on children. The main tasks then are to say what risks are considered safe enough and why they should be deemed socially acceptable.

How safe is safe enough? People's attitudes towards risk vary. As Altham writes:

To some people, in some circumstances, the consciousness of risk has positive value. To others in the same circumstances, the consciousness of risk may be unpleasant. What gives one some pleasurable excitement gives another the pain of anxiety. A person may be temperamentally risk-averse or risk-loving. Similarly a person may relish or detest the experience of uncertainty, where objective probabilities are not assignable. (Altham, 1984, p.24)

But then how do we identify risks that both the skydiving enthusiast and the couch potato think are safe enough? One promising option is to identify 'acceptable risk' as a point on the lower end of the risk spectrum. Freedman and colleagues write:

[B]y specifying the threshold [of acceptable risks] at or near the risks of everyday life we approximate a lowest common denominator of risk, the level at which most reasonable people feel 'safe enough' so that their choices can be made without considering the small risk repercussions. (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993, p.17)

That is, socially acceptable risks should be chosen as a minimal level that most reasonable people accept as permissible for all. The idea that there is something socially acceptable about the risks of daily life is well reflected in our behaviour. Most reasonable people—irrespective of whether they are risk-averse or risk-takers—undertake the risks of daily life without much thought or calculation. Further, we identify those who disagree with this judgment, that is, people who try and avoid daily risks are considered deviant. For example, we understand agoraphobes—who experience anxiety about being in situations or places that make escape difficult (DSM IV, 2000), including normal experiences of daily life such as riding in an elevator, travelling in a bus, car or plane or walking through crowded public places—as suffering from a disorder (DSM IV, 2000). We classify their behaviour as unusual or problematic and recommend therapies to help them face everyday experiences without panicking. This suggests that daily risks—including crossing the street, riding in public transportation, eating a meal, and entering public areas—are generally thought to be safe enough. Further, this judgment applies

broadly; we think that these daily risks should be acceptable for members of a given society.

However, identifying the kinds of risks reasonable people treat as safe enough is not, on its own, a sufficient justification. A successful interpretation of minimal risk must also explain why people should accept these risks. That is, it should explain whether there are good reasons to accept the risks of daily life. Moreover, it must explain why there are good reasons to accept these risks for the benefit of others. This analysis is more complex. A substantial body of evidence from cognitive psychology suggests that people are notoriously poor judges of risk (Tversky & Kahneman, 1981; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974; Slovic, Fischhoff, & Lichtenstein, 1982; Teuber, 1990). We assess risks by appealing to a series of common heuristics that lead to systematic errors of judgment.

We tend to judge the likelihood of an event based on whether it is available to us, that is, based on whether instances of this event can be easily recalled or imagined. For example, people often guess the likelihood of heart attacks in middle-aged men based on their recollection of these occurrences amongst acquaintances (Tversky & Kahnmenan, 1982; Slovic et al., 1982). But this kind of judgment is problematic; it ignores the fact that proximate or recent instances of events are not always good indicators of the most pressing dangers (Slovic et al., 1982). Another common error arises in our estimation of probabilities. We tend to begin with an initial value and then adjust this value to yield a final answer. But these adjustments are insufficient; different starting points—that are generally the result of a particular formulation of a problem or the result of a partial computation—yield different estimates that are biased toward the initial values. Consequently, our estimations of probabilities often contribute to distorted risk perceptions (Tversky & Kahneman, 1982).

Further, we overestimate rare cases of death and underestimate common causes of death (Slovic et al., 1982), we undervalue outcomes that are probable in comparison with outcomes that are obtained with certainty (Kahneman & Tversky, 1982; Tversky & Kahneman, 1981), we are biased to think bad things will happen to others but not to us (Slovic et al., 1982) and we fall prey to the gambler's fallacy, that is, the belief that chance is a self-correcting process in which a deviation in one direction leads to a deviation in the opposite direction in order to maintain an equilibrium (Teuber, 1990;

Tversky & Kahneman, 1982). Research shows that even people with extensive training in statistics are prone to intuitive biases of risk perception (Kahneman & Tversky, 1982).

One might understand this evidence as suggesting that we make poor and incoherent decisions about probabilities that fail to match up with the actual dangers that risks pose. This interpretation suggests that we do not have good reasons to accept the risks of daily life. We mistakenly think these risks are low but if we understood the dangers posed by our usual activities properly, we would deem them unacceptably high. This is how Wendler and colleagues interpret the evidence (Wendler, Belsky, Thompson, & Emanuel, 2005; Wendler, 2010, p.66-67). They argue that ignoring the risks of daily life is not rational; these risks are higher than we realize, and much higher than most ethics committees think are allowable (Wendler et al., 2005). Wendler writes:

[T]he extent to which we ignore the risks of daily life is not a fully rational process. In many cases, our attitude regarding risks has to do with features of the situation that are not correlated directly with risk levels, such as our perceived level of control and our familiarity with the activity...Recognizing the different factors that influence our perception of risks undercuts the attempt to ascribe moral significance to the threshold for which risks we attend to. (Wendler, 2010, p.66-67)

Wendler also suggests that providing more empirical evidence about the risks of daily life is likely to convince ethics committees to reject these risks as excessively risky and a poor comparator for risks in research with children (Wendler et al., 2005).

However, this is not a persuasive interpretation of the evidence. It is true that we assess risks in ways that are predictably problematic and lead to systematic errors. But it is unlikely that our perceptions of the risks of daily life are flawed in the way Wendler suggests. That is, it is unlikely that knowing empirical statistics about the likelihood and magnitude of the risks of daily life would convince us that our risk judgments are ineffectual and that our usual activities are too risky. For example, upon learning the risks of crossing a busy street, a person seems unlikely to decide that this activity is less acceptable than she originally thought and to attempt to limit her street crossings in the future. This suggests that our acceptance of the risks of daily life may not be the result of our propensity to misjudge risks and deem risky situations safer than they actually are.

Instead, it is an indication that our risk perceptions may also be influenced by another, non-empirical kind of mechanism.

A better way of understanding the way in which we perceive risks is that we are not uniquely or primarily motivated by empirical evidence, that is, we do not seek to limit risks to the lowest possible degree or even to a consistent degree. Instead, we construct and manipulate our understandings of risk to conform with a society's broader values. The main idea is that as a society or a given group, we value certain projects, goals or ways of life. These projects, goals or ways of life are valued for the benefit of society as a whole and not uniquely for a particular individual. Further, our decisions to focus on some risks and to disregard others reflect the things and ways of life cherished by the group.

We perceive risks as acceptable not because they pose less than a particular statistical degree of death or injury. Instead, they are acceptable because they conform to a society's social values and commitments. By the same token, we ignore or manipulate perceptions of risk that threaten the ways of life valued by the aggregate. Understanding risk perceptions as a social construct and a meaningful representation of the things we value suggests that statistics estimating the likelihood of death or disability associated with various actions will not necessarily motivate changes in our behaviours or attitudes. We may simply manipulate the empirical evidence in order to pursue chosen ways of life.

The idea that our risk perceptions are, at least in part, a reflection of societal values helps to explain why we have good reasons to perceive the risks of daily life as socially permissible. We deem these risks acceptable because they are a reasonable sacrifice to make in the interests of pursuing the kinds of lives we want to live as a society. That is, our acceptance of daily risks as permissible reflects the group's conception of the kinds of projects and institutions that help to uphold and promote meaningful ways of life. For example, as a society, we value pollution reduction. Thus, we undertake activities such as community clean up days and weekly recycling that contribute to this goal. Recycling will (hopefully) limit and reduce the amount of waste added to landfills, which, in turn, aims to contribute to a better world for future people. Recycling involves some degree of risk, such as the risks of being cut by tin, glass or paper goods while sorting recyclables and the risks of moving a recycling box to and from the street for a roadside pick up. But

we accept these risks as safe enough because they contribute to a valuable cause. More generally, daily risks should be understood as an acceptable range of risks that a society as a whole has undertaken to promote a certain form of social life.

An important point arising from this analysis bears further clarification. Many of the risks of daily life are accepted because they offer corresponding personal benefit. For example, the risks of driving to work may be undertaken because they offer the benefit of a convenient and timely arrival. But understanding the permissibility of daily risks as a reflection of a group's values (rather than an individual's values) helps to explain why daily risks are permissible not only for personal benefit but also for the sake of others. Recycling aims to limit environmental harms for future people, but it is unlikely to have any immediate effect on the quality of the air that we currently breathe. Nontheless, we accept the risks of recycling because they are part of an environmentally responsible and valuable social goal that is widely endorsed. That is, they are risks that are permissible and desirable for the benefit of others.

One might respond to this by pointing out that not everyone embraces the same goals or undertakes efforts to promote valuable social goals. That is, there is rarely complete agreement about the projects, goals, and ways of life that are meaningful to every member of a group. This is true. But for a daily activity to be 'safe enough' in the way suggested above, it need not be the case that every member of society endorse a given activity as a useful contribution to a meaningful way of life. Instead, it is sufficient that it is widely recognized that the kinds of activities, projects, and social organizations that impact our lives, and the kinds of risks that we face daily as a consequence of these organizations and projects, are considered acceptable by most reasonable people. Thus, the fact that society offers regular recycling pick-ups and sanctions the use of plastic bags to carry groceries might be taken as evidence that environmental consciousness is socially endorsed way of life. And daily risks undertaken to promote this goal are considered acceptable, in part, because they contribute to valuable ways of life.

The idea that our risk perceptions reflect our values is well-illustrated by research in anthropology. One of the basic claims of cultural theory is that there is an important relationship between various ways of life and risk perceptions. Proponents argue that people organize their perceptions of risk to support and advance the way of life to which they are committed (Douglas, 1985; Douglas & Widavsky, 1982; Wildavsky & Dake, 1990). For example, we link ideas of risk with deviancy. In primitive religions, people's perceptions of the risks of pollution were constructed in conformity with and in order to maintain the dominant religious order. To this end, acts that violated the code—like adultery or political disloyalty— were understood not only as impious but also as the causes of the outbreak of contagious diseases or the cause of natural disasters (Kahan & Braman, 2006; Douglas, 1966). Further, we continue to link ideas of risk with deviancy (Kahan & Braman, 2006). Modern conceptions of dirt, and the revulsion we feel towards dirty things, is linked to the violation of ordered relations in modern societies. Douglas writes:

Shoes are not dirty in themselves, but it is dirty to place them on the dining-table;
food is not dirty in itself, but it is dirty to leave cooking utensils in the bedroom, or
food bespattered on clothing; similarly, bathroom equipment in the drawing room
clothing lying on chairs out-door things in-doors; upstairs things downstairs; underclothing appearing where over-clothing should be... (Douglas, 1966, p.35-36)
Her idea is that our assessment of something as a source of dangerous contamination can
be understood as an effort to condemn "any object or idea likely to confuse or contradict
cherished classifications" (Douglas, 1966, p.36; Kahan & Braman, 2006, p.152). That is,
we deem things dangerous when they threaten social relations and institutions that we
value.

It follows that our seemingly peculiar tendencies to focus on some risks and to disregard others can be understood as an attempt to accommodate and to reinforce various ways of life. As Douglas writes:

Persistent shortsightedness, selectivity, and tolerated contradiction are usually not so much signs of perceptual weakness as signs of strong intention to protect certain values and their accompanying institutional forms...Gaps and contradictions in a system of thought are a good guide to the institutional fabric which supports it and to which it gives life. (Douglas, 1985, p.3)

Understood in this way, people's risk perceptions and disagreements about risk are neither ill-informed nor incoherent but part of an "ongoing debate about the ideal society" (Douglas & Wildavsky, 1982, p.36). They reflect the kinds of risks we think

should be socially acceptable in order to pursue meaningful lives and to uphold the institutions that contribute to these ways of life.

Research in social psychology also suggests that psychological mechanisms induce people to form beliefs about the risks of activities that conform with their cultural evaluations of those activities (Kahan & Braman, 2006). One such mechanism, called cognitive-dissonance avoidance, explains that dissonance—that is, the existence of nonfitting relations among cognitions (beliefs and knowledge)—motivates our beliefs and perceptions (Festinger, 1957, p.3). It is comforting to think that what is cherished is harmless and what is vulgar is dangerous. Further, it is psychologically uncomfortable to discover the existence of dangers that threaten our commitments or affiliations (Kahan & Braman, 2006). Consequently, we try to reduce dissonance and to avoid information that is likely to increase dissonance (Festinger, 1957, p.3). In short, we focus on certain risks and disregard others in order to avoid the discomfort arising from risk judgments that threaten our commitments and our adherence to ways of life that we find meaningful.

A set of dynamics known as "in-group/out-group" dynamics also harness risk perceptions to cultural values (Kahan & Braman, 2006, p.155). These dynamics explain that our commitments influence the way we assess conflicting claims about risk. Specifically, when we encounter conflicting claims about risks that we are ill-equipped to assess—such as claims about the likelihood of a terrorist anthrax attack or the risks of salmonella poisoning from spinach purchased at the grocery store—we rely on experts that we trust to differentiate between serious and specious risks (Kahan & Braman, 2006, p.155-156). But we tend to trust those whose viewpoints are similar to our own and are consequently biased towards some conclusion by mechanisms like cognitive-dissonance avoidance (Kahan & Braman, 2006, p.155-156). Thus, our commitments or worldviews are at play even when we mediate between conflicting evidence by turning to experts.

Evidence for a strong connection between risk perceptions and worldviews is also corroborated by studies. For example, one study found that cultural worldviews exert stronger influence over our perceptions of environmental and technological risk than all other factors, including gender, race, income, education, and political ideology (Kahan, Braman, Gastil, Slovic, & Mertz, 2005). Other studies generalize the impact of worldviews on risk perceptions to people's beliefs about the efficacy of various public policies. For example, a survey of 1800 people demonstrated that respondents' beliefs about whether increasing restrictions over gun control will (a) promote public safety by reducing gun violence and accidents or (b) reduce public safety by restricting the ability of innocent people to protect themselves against violent crime were best determined by their worldviews. People who tended towards a hierarchical and individualistic worldview believe that increasing gun control is unreasonable while more egalitarian and solidaristic people trust that gun control will enhance safety (Kahan & Braman, 2006). Researchers have also replicated these results with reference to attitudes towards the death penalty, drug criminalization, and abortion (Kahan & Braman, 2006).

These studies offer general lessons that help to explain why daily life is morally relevant. Research from anthropology and social psychology indicates that our risk perceptions are intertwined with our values. These perceptions reflect and reinforce the kinds of activities and the ways of life that we cherish. We downplay the risks of walking, crossing busy streets, driving in cars, and riding in public transportation because these actions facilitate mobility and we value our ability to get from place to place. Similarly, we emphasize the positive aspects of living in communities—like help from neighbours, support from friends, and easier access to various goods and services—and downplay the risks of doing so—such as increased likelihood of encountering violent crimes and the easier spread of contagious diseases—because we value social life, bonds with other people, as well as access to goods and services. More generally, our judgments about what is risky or not reflect the activities, projects and ways of life that we find desirable. They are part of our conception of what makes a life meaningful and which kinds of institutions help to uphold and promote meaningful ways of life.

It follows that the failure of our risk judgments at times to line up with empirical evidence about the risk of death or injury incurred by an activity does not threaten attempts to ascribe moral significance to the risks of daily life. We ignore the risks of daily activities not because we mistakenly think they involve only low risks but instead because it is necessary to undertake these risks in order to promote ways of life we find desirable. To put this another way, these risks are part of an acceptable trade-off between personal safety and being able to live the kinds of lives valued by a group.

I am not suggesting that each morning, or before undertaking any particular daily activity, we pause and calculate whether the risk of the activity (or the risks for the day) are necessary or worthy aspects of an institution that contributes to our chosen way of life. Instead, the risks of daily life should be understood as a background set of risks that most reasonable people accept implicitly. That is, the risks of daily life are part of a range of risks that a society as a whole has undertaken to promote a certain form of social life. Consequently, we accept these risks (and undertake them automatically) as part of a reasonable trade off between our personal safety and our ability to pursue the kinds of lives we value.

Further, it need not be the case that a daily risk is one that is literally encountered by most or all people everyday. Daily risks should be understood as risks comparable to or of the same magnitude as those encountered in daily life; they are part of a background range of risks that form part of an acceptable trade-off between personal safety and valued ways of life. They are the kinds of risks that reasonable people should deem socially acceptable. That is, people have good reason to consider these risks socially acceptable; undertaking these risks helps to promote the kinds of lives they want to live.

Ascribing moral significance to the risks of daily life has important implications for research with children. Socially acceptable risks (that is, risks that people have good reasons to accept) strike a reasonable balance between individual safety and the pursuit of valuable goals. That is, they are the kinds of risks that are acceptable to undertake in the interests of permitting valuable social pursuits to continue. Further, these risks are permissible not only for ourselves but for a broad range of members of a group and they are permissible irrespective of whether they offer direct corresponding benefit. Clinical research with children is a valuable social endeavour; it promotes improved care for current and future children. Accordingly, it should be permissible for clinical research to expose subjects to some kinds of risk. To how much risk should we expose children in research procedures that do not aim to offer them direct medical benefit? Children should be exposed to the same kinds of risks that are acceptable in the pursuit of other valuable social endeavours, that is, to socially acceptable risks or the risks of daily life. Thus, it seems reasonable to measure the risks of non-therapeutic procedures according to the risks of daily life.

Three points raised by the comparison of minimal risks to the risks of daily life merit further consideration. First, the idea that our risk perceptions are linked with and formed by our values and the ways of life we cherish does not suggest that we should disregard empirical evidence. I've argued that Wendler's statistics about the risks of death or injury incurred during everyday activities do not necessarily indicate—as he suggests—that daily life poses unacceptably high risks about which we are unaware. Further, I've argued that Nicholson's quantitative account of risks is unsuccessful. But the main problem with these proposals is not that they invoke empirical evidence. The problem is that they try and constrain the permissibility of risk according to a particular empirical degree of death or injury. And there is no clear and non-arbitrary way of drawing a normative line at some particular degree of risk of death or injury. To put it another way, it is, at best, hard to see why we should recognize a 1 in 1,000,000 risk of death, for example, as negligible.

Nonetheless, any successful account of minimal risk should be open to empirical evidence. Statistics about the risks of death or injury of daily activities may draw public attention to serious and unanticipated problems generated by commonly undertaken activities. This evidence could influence our assessments of permissible risk. When empirical evidence about the risks of an activity is strong enough to persuade people in a society that a given activity is overly risky, that is, that it is not a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and valuable social goals, then this risk should no longer be accepted as part of the background range of risks considered to be morally acceptable daily risks. Understood in this way, my account of minimal risk as the risks of daily life may be informed, but not primarily guided by empirical evidence about the risks of our common activities.

A second point to consider is how minimal risk should be understood with respect to daily life. Should minimal risk activities be understood as posing no more than the risks of daily life? Is it permissible for the risks of non-therapeutic procedures to pose a minor increase over the risks of daily life? To recall, component analysis limits the risks of non-therapeutic procedures to a *minor increase over* minimal risk. The logic is as follows: the kind of risk identified as socially acceptable was chosen as a point on the lower end of the spectrum of risks, which reflects the risks most reasonable people already do find acceptable. But if the threshold for acceptable risk permitted only the risks of daily life or risks of the same magnitude, and never anything more, then no new experiences could be enjoyed. And this would not be in a child's best interests (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993, p.16).

The argument draws on ways in which responsible parents make decisions in family life. When a parent considers whether a child should participate in a new kind of activity, she asks whether the risks of the new activity are sufficiently similar to those in the child's usual life that the experience should be permitted at a given time. It follows that a parent's decision about whether to permit a new experience and its risks is anchored to and not governed by the risks of daily life (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993, p.16-17). Similarly, when standing in for the scrupulous parent, a research ethics board should use similar logic, that is, they should set the upper threshold for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures as a minor increase over minimal risk or a minor increase over the risks of daily life.

According to my analysis, acceptable risks are daily risks because these risks reflect ways of life that a society supports as valuable for the benefit of the group. The assessment of permissibility is not made on behalf of a particular child. Instead, it is made by a research ethics board on behalf of a reference class of children and by appeal to a common set of risks that are deemed permissible in order to pursue valuable projects or ways of life. Given that it does not focus on the potential benefit of a new experience to a particular child, there is no clear reason to permit a minor increment over the degree of risk that is acceptable in order to promote valued ways of life. It follows that according to my interpretation, the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures should pose no more than minimal risk, understood as the risks of daily life.

A third point raised by the above analysis threatens the success of ascribing moral significance to the risks of daily life. I've argued that daily life is morally relevant because it involves risks that people have good reason to accept as socially permissible. That is, daily risks are part of an acceptable trade-off between personal safety and the pursuit of cherished ways of life. But this analysis does not apply to all people's daily risks. The daily lives of different people involve different degrees of risk, some of which do not seem to be socially endorsed. For example, daily life in a war zone or a resource

scarce setting may pose high degrees of risk that are inevitable or the consequence of injustice rather than risks that reasonable people have good reasons to accept. Identifying daily life as morally relevant opens my argument to a serious problem: it permits the differences between the risks of different people's daily lives to be used to exploit them in research. As Evans and Evans point out:

A problem with [the daily life] interpretation of 'minimal risk' is that different people's daily lives vary enormously; are the relevant clinical risks to be compared with the typical daily life of a schoolteacher, or of a long-distance lorry-driver, or of a steelworker, or of a librarian? (If a schoolteacher, then in an urban secondary

school or in a rural primary school? And so on). (Evans & Evans, 1996, p.66) That is, people's daily lives vary significantly, and if we allow these differences to influence the degree of risk that a child may face in non-therapeutic research procedures, then children who face higher daily risks will be at a disadvantage. They will be permitted to face higher risks than their counterparts who live safer lives. And there is no obvious reason to permit this variation in treatment; it may contribute to the exploitation of unfortunate children in research.

This objection is on solid ground. Indexing minimal risk to the risks of daily life without specifying a particular reference group of children whose daily lives are morally relevant opens the possibility of unjustified or unjustifiable treatment between children in research. To prevent the exploitation of children in research it is necessary not only to explain why the risks of daily life are morally relevant but also to say whose daily life, in particular, should be morally relevant. This analysis must constrain the referent for minimal risk in such a way that daily risks imposed by background conditions of injustice are not used to justify the permissibility of non-therapeutic research procedures. I take up this task in the following chapters; I propose a framework by which to assess which children should be the referent for minimal risk.

## 2.5 Further reflections

Understanding minimal risk as the risks of daily life retains some of the advantages of the other interpretations while avoiding their pitfalls. There is something appealing in Wendler's account of charitable activities and in Ackerman's account of children's

education in family life. These proposals draw on social mores about what is permissible and desirable; each refers to an activity or goal that reasonable people would identify as socially valuable. Further, they both involve activities that involve risks for the benefit of others. These are desirable features for a morally relevant comparator for minimal risk. But these accounts require further examination. Neither meets the requirement of generality; we do not tend to morally educate infants and very young children and this group does not participate in charitable activities. Consequently, it is not clear whether, and if so why, they can participate in research. Further, Wendler's account fails to explain why charitable activities are the only valuable social goals that should serve as moral comparators for risks in non-therapeutic research procedures. And Ackerman's account doesn't adequately explain how to operationalize the degree of risk to which it is appropriate to intentionally expose a child for educational purposes in family life.

My interpretation also measures risks according to activities and projects that are deemed socially valuable. Further, it also identifies a group of risks that may be permissible for the benefit of others. Specifically, it identifies the morally relevant risks as those involved in projects and activities that contribute to ways of life that society finds valuable. But it does not constrain permissible risks to certain kinds of valuable projects; it is a broader standard, which accounts for the many and varied projects and activities that we value, including charitable activity and moral education as well as other important social goals such as reducing pollution, promoting peace, promoting democracy, and fighting for human rights. Further, it offers a standard that applies to children of all ages, including infants and very young children. Thus, it has an advantage over the others.

Nonetheless, it is worth emphasizing that my interpretation is consistent with and aims to build on Wendler and Ackerman's proposals. The moral education of children in family life and participation in charitable activities are likely to be two instances of the activities of daily life. They are examples of activities or projects that are, and should be, deemed socially permissible; people have good reasons to accept these activities, and their accompanying risks, as part of a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and cherished ways of life. Consequently, the risks of charitable activities and moral education are examples of the kinds of morally relevant activities that might also be found permissible according to a daily life interpretation.

Is the daily life interpretation successful? At the beginning of this chapter, I proposed that a successful interpretation must meet four criteria; it must meet the requirements of practicality, generality, fidelity, and defensibility. The analysis in this chapter offers a preliminary account of a general and defensible interpretation. But it is incomplete. It has not adequately constrained the interpretation of minimal risk to the daily lives of a particular group of children. Further, it has not explained how the daily life interpretation may be implemented in practice. In the following chapters, I will refine my proposal. In chapters three and four, I will constrain my interpretation of minimal risk to the daily lives of children who do not face undue burdens and in chapter 5, I will examine a case study to demonstrate how my proposal may be implemented by an ethics committee. After elaborating on these aspects of my interpretation, I will assess my proposal's success by examining whether it meets the necessary criteria for a successful justification.

Finally, I've argued that the main challenges involved in identifying which degree of risk is low enough to be permissible in non-therapeutic research procedures with children lie in defining what is meant by minimal risk and explaining why this kind of risk is morally relevant. I've defended the idea that minimal risk should be understood as the risks of daily life and sketched a new justification for why daily risks are morally important. Our daily activities involve risks that are, and should be, treated as socially permissible. The following chapters will focus on whose daily life should be morally relevant, that is, who should be the referent for minimal risk.

## Chapter 3

# The uniform and relative interpretations<sup>4</sup>

I've argued that the concept of daily life has some normative force; it identifies the kinds of risks that should be treated as socially permissible. Daily risks are part of a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and the ability to pursue meaningful lives. But this analysis is incomplete. A persuasive defense of a daily life interpretation must also specify whose daily life is morally relevant. The daily lives of some groups of people seem to involve risks that are not socially permissible. Thus, the success of the daily life interpretation of minimal risk relies on answering an additional question: who should be the referent for minimal risk?

Commentators in research ethics recognize that this ambiguity must be addressed. But their arguments aiming to identify the referent for minimal risk are often unclear. When examining who should be the referent, commentators also ask a second question: does a uniform standard or a relative standard governing research with children meet the moral requirements of justice? That is, should minimal risk apply to all children in the same way or are there morally relevant differences between children that justify differential treatment in research? This second question is important; it asks what kinds of moral rules are justifiable in research with children, but it is separable from the identification of a group of children whose daily lives should serve as the morally relevant comparator for minimal risk. Nonetheless, the two questions have become intertwined.

In this chapter, I argue that progress on the identification of a morally justifiable referent for minimal risk requires that we separate examinations about what kind of standard is morally appropriate from attempts to identify a group of children who should be the referent for minimal risk. I argue that focusing on the uniform and relative interpretations gives rise to two main problems: (1) these interpretations misconstrue the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A version of this chapter has been accepted for publication in the Journal of Medicine and philosophy (Binik & Weijer, forthcoming).

most fundamental difference between proposals for who should be the referent for minimal risk and (2) the uniform interpretation fails to identify one distinct and consistent group of children as the referent for minimal risk; different descriptions of this position identify unique, and, sometimes conflicting groups of children as the referent. I conclude that progress on the identification of a justifiable referent for minimal risk requires that we stop focusing on the uniform or relative standards and address a more fundamental question: should healthy children or the subjects of the research—including both healthy and sick children—be the referent for minimal risk?

My argument is divided into the following sections: I begin by describing the debate over minimal risk as it traditionally appears in the research ethics literature, that is, as a debate between the uniform and relative interpretations. I then clarify misconceptions and construct the strongest version of each interpretation. Next, I identify two problems that arise when commentary focuses on the uniform and relative interpretations. In the final section, I argue that identifying the referent for minimal risk requires that we focus on whether healthy children or the subjects of the research should be the referent for minimal risk.

## 3.1 The traditional formulation of the debate

Ambiguities concerning the identification of the referent for minimal risk receive attention in the research ethics literature. Many commentators describe the debate over the referent for minimal risk in similar terms. They frequently describe the debate as a choice between two interpretations, (a) the uniform interpretation (also known as the absolute interpretation) and (b) the relative interpretation (Wendler, 2009; Reid & Krahn, 2007; Kopelman, 2002b; Fisher, Kornetsky, & Prentice, 2007; IOM, 2004; Snyder, Gray, & Miller, 2011).

The uniform interpretation attributes the same degree of risk to all children irrespective of their health status (Ross, 2003). Thus, risks cannot be minimal for some children but more than minimal for other children. While the uniform interpretation applies one standard to all children, the competing interpretation, the relative interpretation, permits higher risks to count as minimal for some. The relative interpretation permits higher risks to be classified as minimal if they are comparable with the risks experienced by that individual in her daily life (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993).

## 3.2 Clarifying the uniform and relative interpretations

To determine whether either the uniform or relative interpretation can help to identify the referent for minimal risk it will be useful to clarify what is meant by each interpretation. In this section, I will construct the strongest version of each interpretation and dispel common misconceptions before subjecting each to critical scrutiny.

The uniform interpretation of minimal risk is also known as the absolute interpretation. That is, some commentators use the term absolute (Wendler, 2009; Reid & Krahn, 2007; Snyder et al., 2011; Kopelman, 2004; Westra et al., 2011) while others use the term uniform (Fisher et al., 2007; SACHRP, 2005) to describe the same interpretation of minimal risk. The terms absolute and uniform have different meanings. Which one do commentators have in mind? The term absolute refers to something objective or universal. It follows that one could understand an absolute interpretation of minimal risk as referring to a universal set of risks experienced by all children in their daily lives. This kind of interpretation would suggest that there is some fact of the matter concerning the risks children face in daily life. That is, that some fixed group of risks faced daily by all children could be identified as minimal risk. Further, this kind of interpretation would permit moral judgments about what kinds of risks count as minimal to be made by appealing to evidence about the "absolute risks" experienced by all children in daily life; if non-therapeutic research procedures pose risks that are comparable to the fixed group of risks faced daily by all children, then they could be deemed permissible.

This interpretation of minimal risk is implausible. There is no objective degree of risk that all children face in daily life; the risks children face in daily life differ according to a child's age, environment, and health status. It follows that determinations about what degree of risk should be deemed minimal require that some person or group of people's daily lives, in some particular place, and at some given time be chosen as a reference point. As Prentice and Gordon point out, "there is nothing absolute about 'daily life,' and the risks inherent in the daily life of a person from rural Iowa are not the same, quantitatively or qualitatively, as those inherent in a person from inner city New York"

(Prentice & Gordon, 2001, p.L-7). Kopelman agrees. She points out that minimal risk has multiple meanings and not one objective meaning. It might refer to "all the ordinary risks encountered in daily life by any of us or all of us" (Kopelman, 2000a, p.3-6). Further, it is this very ambiguity that motivates the debate over the referent for minimal risk. If there were one uncontroversial degree of risk faced by all children in their daily lives, then there would be no need to identify the referent for minimal risk. Thus, the absolute interpretation of minimal risk should not be understood as reflecting the literal meaning of the term "absolute".

A more plausible understanding of the absolute interpretation of minimal risk, and the one reflected in the literature, understands minimal risk as giving rise to a uniform standard. The term 'uniform' describes something that is unchanging, unvarying, consistent or non-fluctuating. Thus, rather than suggesting the existence of a set of universal risks encountered in the daily lives of all children, a uniform interpretation of minimal risk chooses one degree of risk as the morally relevant type and applies this degree of risk to all children involved in research. The idea this interpretation is meant to capture is that no matter what kinds of differences children face in their respective daily lives, minimal risk must be measured according to one fixed level of risk, faced by some particular group of children. That is, something cannot be assessed as minimal risk for some people but not for others.

Commentators in the research ethics literature understand minimal risk in this way. For example, Kopelman argues that the "absolute interpretation of the 'everyday-risks' standard...does not permit reviewers to assess something as minimal risk for some people but not others" (Kopelman, 2004b, p.361). Similarly, Snyder and colleagues write:

[T]he federal guidelines are understood as setting a single standard for the risk found in the ordinary lives of a certain class or set of children. This standard class of children would then set the baseline for risk against which the actual risk found in proposed clinical trials would be measured. Even if the risks faced in the daily lives of the potential research subjects are different from those faced in the daily lives of the members of the standard class, it is the risks faced by the standard class that will be used as a basis of comparison. (Snyder et al., 2011, p.7) Thus, both the absolute and uniform interpretations of minimal risk seem to refer to the same idea: that some particular level of risk faced by children in a society (regardless of their socio-economic or health status) should be identified as minimal and this basic shared level of risk should then be recognized as the baseline for measuring minimal risk.

The competing interpretation, the relative interpretation, permits risks to be considered minimal for one person but more than minimal for another; on this interpretation, risk determinations are made based on whether the degree of risk posed by some procedure is comparable with the risks experienced by a particular individual in her daily life. Insofar as children's daily experiences expose them to varying degrees of risk, what counts as a minimal degree of risk might vary between different children. Thus, unlike the uniform interpretation, the relative interpretation sometimes permits the degree of risk that counts as minimal to differ.

One common misconception about the relative interpretation bears clarification. The relative interpretation is often understood as justifying almost any degree of nontherapeutic risk with children just as long as we can identify a group of children who are unlucky enough to already face this degree of risk in their daily lives. Thus, the relative interpretation is commonly described as permitting the inclusion of children in high risk environments, including geographically unstable areas or war torn countries, in higher risk research. Commentators who understand the relative interpretation of minimal risk in this way reject it as unjust. They claim that this interpretation exploits the unfair circumstances of certain children. For example, Wendler claims that the problem with the relative interpretation is that "it would allow researchers to expose children who live in violent neighborhoods or who face greater than average environmental health hazards to greater risks in research that does not offer a prospect of direct benefit" (Wendler, 2009, p.116). Elsewhere, he argues that "[c]hildren who live in violent neighborhoods or who face greater than average environmental health hazards could thereby be exposed to greater research risks simply because they face greater risks in their daily lives. This result seems unjust, a kind of societally induced double jeopardy" (Wendler, 2005, p.827). Similarly, the IOM rejected the relative interpretation of minimal risk because it permits "greater research risk for children exposed to higher than average risk of harm in their personal lives (e.g., because they are ill or live in unsafe neighborhoods)" (IOM,

2004, p.5).<sup>5</sup> Thus, the relative interpretation is understood as permitting a flexible standard, which allows children who face higher risks as a result of their illness or dangerous living environments to be exposed to higher degrees of risk than children facing lower degrees of daily risk.

However, according to the most plausible interpretation of the relative standard, children's dangerous living conditions do not justify their exposure to higher risk research. The relative interpretation does permit the meaning of minimal risk to vary, but not without constraints; the minimal risk standard operates within a broader framework of research ethics principles, which prohibit the inclusion of children in dangerous living conditions in any research, much less higher risk research. In the Belmont Report, the National Commission did not consider the ethical permissibility of including children in unsafe societies in research explicitly, but the report's emphasis on the importance of fairness in the selection of research subjects suggests that children in unstable societies should not be research subjects. It explains that "the selection of research subjects ... needs to be scrutinized in order to determine whether some classes are being systematically selected simply because of their easy availability, their compromised position, or their manipulability, rather than for reasons directly related to the problem being studied" (Belmont Report, 1979). The National Commission developed this argument with welfare patients, racial and ethnic minorities, and institutionalized people in mind. But it can be extended to the case of children living in unsafe environments. These children are more vulnerable than children living in safe environments and accordingly, their situation merits careful attention. If these children are selected because their compromised situation makes them readily available and easy to manipulate, then including them in research violates the principle of fairness in subject selection.

The prohibition on the inclusion of groups such as children who live in dangerous locations as research subjects is even clearer in the National Commission's procedural guidance for assessing the fairness of subject selection. They argue that particularly vulnerable individuals may need to be excluded from all types of research. They write:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Kopelman, 2000, p.750; Kopelman, 2004b, p.363; Wendler, 2004, p.191; Wendler, 2009, p.116; Shah et al., 2004.

[S]ocial justice requires that a distinction be drawn between classes of subjects that ought, and ought not, to participate in any particular kind of research, based on the ability of members of that class to bear burdens and on the appropriateness of placing further burdens on already burdened persons. (Belmont Report, 1979, p.18)

Insofar as children in unsafe environments are "doubly vulnerable", both from their status as minors and from their higher risk living conditions, it seems reasonable to infer that they are precisely the type of group that the National Commission would exclude from research. Thus, one of the principles of research ethics— the requirement for fair selection of research subjects—prohibits the inclusion of children in dangerous living conditions from facing higher risks in research. Insofar as the minimal risk rule operates within and in conjunction with these moral rules, the most plausible understanding of the relative interpretation does not legitimize the exposure of children in dangerous living conditions to higher risk research.

A careful reading of commentary on the relative interpretation of minimal risk reveals that—in keeping with the moral principle of justice as it is described in the Belmont Report—proponents of the relative interpretation aim to exclude children in dangerous environments as the referent for minimal risk. In the original argument, Freedman, Fuks, and Weijer argue that "[b]ecause children and their situations differ, a judgment anchored to the risks of everyday life, whether arrived at by parent or ethics committee, must be made relative to the child's actual situation" (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993, p.17). That is, they interpret the referent for minimal risk as the subject of the research and not children in dangerous environments. When discussing the "subject of the research", the authors refer explicitly to healthy children as well as children with a disease or disorder. However, no mention is made of children living in unsafe environments. Although the language in the original formulation does not explicitly exclude the possibility of interpreting the subjects of the research as including children living in dangerous environments, the most plausible interpretation understands the authors as identifying the referent for minimal risk as the subjects of the research including healthy, sick children and dying children—but rejecting the claim that children living in unsafe environments can be included in higher risk research.

Elsewhere, Miller and Weijer make this point explicitly. They reject the idea that measuring minimal risk against the daily life of the subjects of the research facilitates the exploitation of children who live in dangerous environments in research. They write:

> ... [M]inimal risk does not exist in a vacuum. It functions in conjunction with the fundamental principles of research ethics enunciated by the National Commission and the regulatory protections derived therefrom... [t]o remain consistent with the moral and regulatory framework of which it is part, minimal risk cannot be used to justify the exploitation of vulnerable populations. (Miller & Weijer, 2000, p. 9)<sup>6</sup>

That is, minimal risk is not the only moral requirement that must be met for research with children to be permissible. It exists in combination with other foundational principles of research with humans—such as the moral requirement not to burden an already burdened population—that prohibit the exploitation of particularly vulnerable children living in dangerous locations. Thus, the relative interpretation is best understood as permitting variable treatment of children within some constraints; this interpretation, in combination with the broader rules of research ethics, excludes children living in dangerous environments but does permit higher non-therapeutic research risks on some sick children or dying children. It follows that rejections of the relative interpretation should not be based on whether this standard permits children in dangerous environments to be the referent for minimal risk but on whether a child's health status justifies differential treatment. Thus, the relative interpretation is best understood as permitting variable treatment within constraints; it permits the degree of risk that counts as minimal to vary according to a child's health status.

## 3.3 Problems with the traditional formulation

Even the most plausible readings of the uniform and relative interpretation generate problems for the identification of a justified referent for minimal risk. (1) The uniform and relative interpretations misconstrue the most fundamental difference between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Other arguments that endorse the relative interpretation without endorsing the inclusion of children in dangerous environments in higher risk research include Freeman, 1994, p.1-5; Noel & Birnie, 2010, p.18-22; Snyder, Gray, & Miller, 2011, p.5-13.

proposals for who should be the referent for minimal risk and (2) the uniform interpretation does not identify a clear and consistent group of children as the referent for minimal risk; it follows that it does not identify a justifiable referent for minimal risk.

The main difference concerning the identification of a referent for minimal risk is not about uniformity and relativity. Some commentators who endorse a uniform interpretation think that unequal treatment between children in research is, at times, legitimate and necessary. For example, Wendler points out that the fact that the degree of risk children face daily varies according to age suggests that researchers and IRBs should implement two different minimal risk thresholds, one for research with younger children and a second for research with older children (Wendler, 2009). Kopelman also explains this point well: she argues that justice does not require equal treatment for all children in research, it requires that "similarly situated individuals be treated similarly, different situated people differently, and that the differences and similarities are relevant" (Kopelman, 2004c, p.752). Thus, the disagreement does not seem to be over whether there should be any differences in the ways that different children are treated in research but instead about which kinds of differences justify a departure from equal treatment between children in research.

The main question concerning the identification of a referent for minimal risk is: which property should justify unequal treatment between children in research? Only the relative interpretation permits determinations about what should count as minimal risk to change based on a child's health status.<sup>7</sup> The uniform interpretation, on the other hand, does not permit a child's health to play a role in determining what kinds of risks count as minimal for her. To put it another way, the main difference seems to be that only one interpretation understands health as being a morally relevant property that justifies unequal treatment between children in research. This difference is important; it addresses a fundamental question about what is just in research with children, that is, can it be permissible to expose sick children to higher degrees of non-therapeutic research risks than would be permissible with healthy children? But this point is not well captured by the distinction between uniformity and relativity. Describing the debate over minimal risk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As mentioned above, all commentators agree, and for good reasons, that unequal treatment based on a child's dangerous living conditions is unjust.

as a disagreement about whether a uniform or relative interpretation is appropriate suggests that the morally relevant question concerning research with children is whether a uniform or relative standard is morally permissible. But this obscures the idea that one might be able to consistently endorse a uniform interpretation and allow for some justified departures from equal treatment.

Describing the two competing interpretations as uniform or relative suggests that each interpretation involves either a distinctly uniform determination or a distinctly relative determination. But each interpretation seems to involve both a relativistic and a uniform judgment. The uniform interpretation of minimal risk—like the relative interpretation—requires a kind of relativistic judgment. Above, I explained that the main insight motivating a uniform interpretation is that some degree of risk should not be assessed as minimal risk for some children but not for others. That is, no matter what kinds of differences children face in their respective daily lives, minimal risk must be measured according to one fixed level of risk, faced by some particular group of children. For example, the group "healthy adolescents in Canada" may be chosen as the referent for minimal risk. In this case, minimal risk would be defined as the risks healthy Canadian adolescents face in daily life and this degree of risk would be applied uniformly to children worldwide as the risk threshold for research involving children that does not aim to offer direct benefit. But to choose one group of children (e.g. healthy Canadian adolescents) as the morally relevant group is to make a relativistic determination. That is, if a relativistic determination is understood as a judgment that permits differential treatment between children in research, then it seems that any attempt to choose a particular group of children as the referent is relativistic. It identifies one group of children's daily lives as morally relevant and requires non-therapeutic research risks to be assessed relative to this group of children's daily experiences. To put it another way, the relative judgment is that the risks of a study's non-therapeutic procedures may be measured against the daily experiences of some—but not all—children. It follows that a uniform interpretation does not seem to exclude all relativistic judgments.

Another example further illustrates this point. One might endorse an interpretation in which the referent for minimal risk is an average child. This interpretation is uniform; it measures minimal risk according to the daily experiences of average children. But it also permits differences between what counts as minimal risk for different children. Average infants have different daily experiences than average 8 year olds. As a result, what counts as minimal risk for an average infant will differ from what counts as a minimal risk for the older child. There is a difference in the way we understand minimal risk for children of different ages, but it is a justified difference within a uniform standard.

Further, a relative interpretation does not preclude a uniform one. On a relative interpretation of minimal risk, the degree of risk that can be considered minimal varies according to the levels of risk experienced in the daily lives of different children. But a variable standard does not preclude a uniform determination. Relativity and uniformity are not mutually exclusive concepts. For example, the phenomenon of sunset can be understood as both relative and uniform. The timing of sunset may vary according to an observer's position on the earth. But the timing of sunset can also be understood as uniform; the sun sets when the sun disappears below the western horizon. Thus, sunset can be understood as having both properties. Similarly, the relative interpretation can be understood as involving a uniform determination. It involves a consistent, non-fluctuating standard: the minimal risk standard. Minimal risk is the unchanging rule that limits the degree of permissible risk. That is, a relative interpretation of minimal risk standard (in addition to a variable determination about the degrees of risk that should count as minimal).

There is an important difference in the way each of these interpretations treats children in research. But the distinction between uniformity and relativity does not capture the morally relevant difference between these competitors. Describing the debate over minimal risk as a disagreement between a uniform and relative interpretation suggests that the morally relevant difference between the two is a difference about which standard (i.e. uniform or relative) is morally appropriate. But both interpretations involve relativistic and uniform aspects. Thus, this description impedes progress on the debate over minimal risk by obscuring the main point of contention between the competing interpretations. What seems to be important is not whether or not a relativistic or uniform judgment is made (it is made in both cases) but instead, whether or not the meaning of minimal risk should be permitted to vary on the basis of a child's health status. Focusing on uniform and relative standards obscures the central point of disagreement, which is about whether health is the morally relevant property justifying differential treatment between children in research. Thus, focusing on the uniform and relative interpretations obscure the fundamental difference between proposals for who should be the referent for minimal risk.

(2) The first objection identifies a problem with the distinction drawn between the two competing interpretations of minimal risk. A second objection concerns the uniform interpretation specifically. The uniform interpretation fails to identify one clear and consistent group of children as the referent for minimal risk. In the traditional formulation of the debate, commentators identify the uniform and relative interpretation as the two central competing interpretations of minimal risk. They then ask: "which kind of standard is morally appropriate?" These discussions aim to determine which, if either, of the two interpretations is consistent with the moral requirements of justice in research with children. This is an important question. However, it is different from the central question generated by the minimal risk standard. Minimal risk is defined according to daily life, but it is not clear whose daily life is morally relevant. Accordingly, we must determine "who should be the referent for minimal risk?"

The uniform interpretation does not focus uniquely on identifying the referent for minimal risk; it is also unclear about which group of children should be the referent. The uniform interpretation is attributed to a variety of commentators (Kopelman, 2004b; Fisher, Kornetsky, & Prentice, 2007; Wendler, 2010; Davidson & O'Brien, 2009; Diekima, 2006; Flotte et al., 2006; Glantz, 1998; Tauer, 2002) as well as committees commissioned to explore the ethics of research with children (National Commission, 1977; IOM, 2004; NBAC, 2001; NHRPAC, 2001). However, a close examination of the language in these documents reveals that there is less consensus than is often recognized. The position called the uniform interpretation can be divided into four positions that identify unique groups as the referent for minimal risk. These descriptions give rise to different and, at times, conflicting standards for minimal risk. Thus, proponents of the uniform interpretation do not all seem to support the same interpretation of minimal risk.

What is, at times, taken to be one position (the uniform interpretation), is more accurately described as four positions. The first identifies the referent for minimal risk as "healthy children" (National Commission, 1977). The second identifies the referent for minimal risk as "normal, healthy, average children" (IOM, 2004; NHRPAC, 2001; AAP, 2003). The third identifies the referent for minimal risk as "normal, average, healthy children living in a stable society" (SACHRP, 2005) and the fourth identifies the referent for minimal risk as "the general population" (NBAC, 2001).

## Four descriptions of the uniform interpretation

#### 1. Healthy children

#### National Commission (1977):

""minimal risk' is the probability and magnitude of physical or psychological harm that is normally encountered in the daily lives, or in the routine medical or psychological examination of healthy children".

2. Average, healthy, normal children

Institute of Medicine (2004):

"In evaluating the potential harms of discomfort posed by a research protocol that includes children, investigators, and reviewers of research protocols should interpret "minimal risk" in relation to the normal experiences of average, healthy, normal children"

American Academy of Pediatrics (2003):

"The AAP interprets the definition of "minimal risk" to be that level of risk associated with the daily activities of a normal, healthy, average child".

<u>National Human Research Protections Advisory Committee (NHRPAC, 2002):</u> "We interpret the definition of minimal risk to be that level of risk associated with the daily activities of a normal, healthy, average child"

3. Normal, average, healthy children living in safe environments

<u>Secretary's Advisory Committee on Human Research Protections</u> (SACHRP, 2005): "The definition of 'minimal risk' at 45 CFR 46.102(i) when applied to Subpart D should be interpreted as those risks encountered during daily life by normal, average, healthy children living in safe environments or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests"

4. The general population

National Bioethics Advisory Commission (2001):

"Research, then, involves no more than "minimal risk" when it is judged that the level of risk is no greater than that encountered in the daily lives of those in the general population. The general population standard is less restrictive than the healthy individuals standard; however, the general population standard more accurately captures the risks that are familiar to most persons".

There are important differences between these four descriptions. They give rise to unique and, at times, conflicting standards for minimal risk. Each identifies a distinct referent for minimal risk. (1) The first interpretation identifies "healthy children" as the referent for minimal risk. On this interpretation, procedures can be determined to involve no more than minimal risk because either the procedure is in fact encountered in a healthy child's daily life or it is sufficiently similar to those routinely encountered, such as the procedures in a healthy child's routine examination. The risks healthy children face in daily life include risks such as riding in a car, crossing the street, riding a bicycle, and playing in a playground. The components of a routine well-child examination are reasonably well characterized (IOM, 2004, p.124). These visits include procedures such as routine age appropriate physical and psychological examinations or tests, guidance and education (IOM, 2004, p.124) as well as routine immunization, modest changes in diet or schedule, obtaining blood or urine specimens, developmental assessments, questionnaires, and observational techniques (National Commission, 1977). Thus, we have some sense of the risks a healthy child may face in daily life or during a routine examination.

(2) The second description identifies normal, healthy, average children as the referent for minimal risk. This description involves different criteria than the first. The terms "normal" and "average" are added to the term "healthy" and impose different constraints on the group of children who should be identified as the referent for minimal risk. Any given community includes both children who are healthy and those who suffer from common diseases, disorders or conditions. Some children suffering from common diseases, disorders or conditions are likely "normal" or "average" though not necessarily healthy. Thus, if the second interpretation recognizes normal, healthy or average children as the referent for minimal risk.

Is this description meant to measure minimal risk according to healthy children, normal children, average children or all three? Commentators endorsing this interpretation clearly intend to restrict their interpretation to "healthy children" rather than a broader group also including normal and average children. For example, Kopelman— a member of the IOM committee that endorses this interpretationexplicitly rejects the notion that sick children should be the referents for minimal risk. She argues:

Children facing death or disability may have painful experiences far removed from those normally encountered by most people in their daily lives. Their difficult daily experiences should not be used to "justify" higher risks as minimal for them, or the door is open to treating some groups in a discriminatory way and exploiting them. (Kopelman, 2000b, p.754)

Thus, the second description is perhaps best understood as equivalent to the first.

(3) The third description identifies normal, healthy, average children living in a stable environment as the referent for minimal risk. Adding a "stable environment" clause restricts membership in this group. On this definition, minimal risk is measured according to the daily lives of healthy children but excludes healthy children living in unsafe environments. Kopelman argues that this description reflects a particular moral judgment about the societies in which it is appropriate to conduct research. She writes: "since everyday risks are not necessarily trivial or minimal, a moral judgment must be made about which group (refugees, firefighters, or librarians) in what community (peaceful or at war) should be used in making comparisons between everyday risks and minimal research risks" (Kopelman, 2000a, p.3-6). Furthermore, she cites the South African guidelines concerning research with children as an example of guidance providing additional protections for children as the result of their inclusion of the "stable society" clause. This description is narrower than the first two. It refers to the subset of healthy children who live in stable environments.

(4) Although some commentators (Tauer, 2002; Wendler, 2004) have understood it as an equivalent formulation of the uniform interpretation, the fourth interpretation, which identifies "the general population" as the referent for minimal risk, gives rise to a broader interpretation of minimal risk than the healthy child (or subset of healthy children) description of the uniform interpretation. It includes people who are sick. Children in the general population include children suffering from common diseases, disorders, and conditions. NBAC endorsed this interpretation, not as an equivalent formulation of the "healthy child" interpretation of minimal risk, but as a more permissive interpretation (NBAC, 2001). They argue that it is appropriate because it accurately captures the risks that are familiar to most persons.

NBAC's examples of minimal risk procedures—including driving to work, crossing the street, getting a blood test, or answering questions over the telephone (NBAC, 2001, p.83)—resemble the examples of minimal risk provided by the National Commission's more restrictive interpretation. However, certain procedures that count as minimal on a general population interpretation would pose more than minimal risk if the referent for minimal risk is a healthy child. For example, a child with diabetes would be included in this category but excluded from the "healthy child" interpretation of minimal risk. Diabetes is one of the most common chronic conditions in children (Clinical Practice Guidelines, 2008, p.S150-S162). The general population includes children suffering from diabetes. The daily life of a diabetic child will include an insulin therapy regimen, involving multiple daily injections or subcutaneous insulin infusion (insulin pump therapy). In addition, children with diabetes are at higher risk for hypoglycemia, DKA, and autoimmune thyroid disease than healthy children (Clinical Practice Guidelines, 2008). Thus, the daily experiences of a diabetic child may involve higher degrees of risk than those encountered in the daily life or routine examination of a healthy child. Consequently, it is important to differentiate between the "healthy child" description and the "general population" description of the uniform interpretation. They permit different degrees of risk to count as minimal.

Thus, the uniform interpretation does not identify a clear, consistent, and useful referent for minimal risk. The terms "uniform" and "relative" shift the focus of the debate away from the identification of the referent for minimal risk. They also obscure the central ambiguity in the definition of minimal risk. Some descriptions of the uniform interpretation identify the referent as healthy children, others identify the referent as normal, average, healthy children in stable societies, and others identify the referent as the general population. Thus, discussing a uniform interpretation does not necessarily result in a clear answer about which group of children is morally relevant. Instead, focusing on the uniform and relative interpretations seems to leave us with the same questions with which we began: who should be the referent? How should we interpret the definition of minimal risk? Finally, describing the competing interpretations over

minimal risk as a uniform or relative interpretation impedes progress on the clarification of the ambiguities in the concept of minimal risk.

#### **3.4** A new formulation of the debate

Progress on the debate over minimal risk can be made by reengaging with the central and unanswered—question: is health the morally relevant property justifying different treatment between children in research? In other words, should healthy children or the subjects of the research—including both sick and healthy children—be the referent for minimal risk? To answer this question clearly, commentators should separate arguments about which standard (uniform or relative) meets the requirements of justice from arguments identifying specific groups of children as candidates for the referent for minimal risk.

Analyzing whether healthy children or the subjects of the research should be the referent will help focus attention on the main moral concerns that arise when choosing a referent for minimal risk. For example, what, if anything, is morally relevant about health? Is it permissible for sick children—an already burdened group of children—to be exposed to higher levels of research risk than healthy children? Do healthy children who face high risks as the result of their socio-economic status, geographic location or experiences at school require additional protections in research? Separating the two questions will also help to identify a group of children whose daily lives might provide appropriate guidance for permissible risks in research that doesn't aim to offer the prospect of direct benefit. Finally, protecting the interests of children without delaying or preventing valuable research requires that we reconsider the debate over minimal risk; we must focus directly on the identification of a specific group of children who should be the referent for minimal risk.

# Chapter 4 Who should be the referent for minimal risk?

I've argued that the ethical justification for the inclusion of children in research depends on the concept of minimal risk. But the definition of minimal risk is ambiguous; it is often defined by appealing to the risks of 'daily life', but it is not clear whose daily life should serve as the baseline measure. Thus, the question arises: who should be the referent for minimal risk? Arguments in research ethics often identify the referent for minimal risk as either healthy children or the subjects of the research, which includes both healthy and sick children. I argue that neither healthy children nor the subjects of the research are the morally appropriate referent for minimal risk. Both interpretations fail to find a morally appropriate balance between the ethical requirement to protect children in research and the requirement to permit valuable research to proceed.

In this chapter, I propose a novel interpretation of the referent for minimal risk, informed by an insight from theories of distributive justice: justice does not require uniform treatment for all children in research. But it does require uniform treatment of like cases and a justification for unequal treatment. If that is true, only a morally relevant property can justify departures from equal treatment. I propose that the morally relevant property justifying different treatment between children in research is *undue burden*. I argue that children are not unduly burdened if their lives are going well and propose a set of conditions that must obtain for a child to fare well. I conclude that the referent for minimal risk should be interpreted as children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, and that children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives are those who fare well.

My argument proceeds in the following steps: I argue that healthy children should not be the referent for minimal risk, that the subjects of the research should not be the referent for minimal risk, and that proposals for hybrid interpretations are especially problematic. I then propose a novel interpretation according to which the referent for minimal risk should be understood as children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, which I take to refer to children who fare well. I then unpack the concept of children's welfare.

## 4.1 Background

In the previous chapter, I argued that the uniform interpretation and the relative interpretation complicate efforts to identify a justified referent for minimal risk. These interpretations misconstrue the main moral question by focusing on what kind of standard—rather than which group of children—is morally relevant. I conclude that progress on the identification of a justified referent for minimal risk requires that we reengage with the central, and unanswered, question: which group of children's daily lives are morally relevant? In what follows, I tackle this question; I examine whether healthy children or the subjects of the research should be the referent and then defend a novel interpretation.

## 4.2 The healthy child interpretation

Commentators often claim that healthy children or a subgroup of healthy children should be the referent for minimal risk (Kopelman, 1981; Kopelman, 2002a; Kopelman, 2004b; Wendler, 2009; Wendler, 2005; Shah et al., 2004; IOM, 2004; Resnik, 2011; Shah, 2011; NHRPAC, 2002; SACHRP, 2005; Presidential Commission, 2013). Little is said about why this group is appropriate. The idea seems to be that restricting the risks of nontherapeutic procedures to a *low* and *non-variable* degree—that is, the degree faced daily by healthy children—will help to prevent the exploitation in research of unlucky children who face high daily risks. These arguments can be divided into two claims: (1) Children must be protected from variable treatment in research, which may result in exploitation and (2) the degree of non-therapeutic research risk to which it is permissible to expose children should be low.

The first claim suggests that variable treatment is unjust. For example, Kopelman argues that justice requires one uniform standard for all children. She writes: "Having one standard for everyone seems to meet justice requirements to treat people equally and

share burdens and benefits of research fairly" (Kopelman, 2004b, p.361). Wendler agrees. He writes:

This interpretation [that is, any interpretation permitting variability] would allow researchers to expose children who face greater risks in daily life to greater risks in research...Children who live in violent neighborhoods or who face greater than average environmental health hazards could thereby be exposed to greater research risks simply because they face greater risks in their daily lives. This result seems unjust, a kind of societally induced double jeopardy. To avoid taking advantage of some children's unfortunate circumstances in this way, most commentators endorse this objective interpretation of the minimal risk standard. (Wendler, 2005, p.827)

The IOM concurs. They write:

The threshold of minimal risk should thus be the same for healthy and ill children. Furthermore, the interpretation should not change for groups of healthy children whose daily experiences involve risks greater than those that most other children experience as part of daily life. Thus, children who live in dangerous environments (e.g., with abusive parents or in unsafe housing) would not be exposed to more research risk than children who live in safer environments. (IOM, 2004, p.122)

The claim seems to be that identifying the referent as healthy children will prevent variable treatment, which is thought to violate the ethical principle of justice that burdens and benefits of research be distributed equitably.

The second claim is that the permissible degree of risk should be low. The idea seems to be that healthy children face low degrees of daily risks and accordingly, if they are identified as the referent for minimal risk, then the risks of non-therapeutic procedures will be restricted to a low degree, that is, the same low degree these children face daily. If children are exposed only to a low degree of risk without corresponding medical benefit then they are unlikely to be exposed to unjustifiably high degrees of risk. Thus, identifying the referent as healthy children helps to meet the objective of the minimal risk threshold by ensuring that children will not face overly high degrees of research risk without corresponding medical benefit.

These arguments are vulnerable to at least four objections. First, commentators' objections to variability are surprising. The quotes above suggest that treating children variably in research is unjust. But at other times, the same commentators endorse some kinds of variability. For example, the IOM write that interpretations of risk may "take into account children's developmental status or age because the physical or psychological risk of a research procedure can vary for younger and older children. That is, what is minimal risk for an 8-year-old may be high risk for an infant" (IOM, 2004, p.122). Similarly, Wendler argues that minimal risk should be assessed differently for very young children and older children who can understand and agree to participate (Wendler, 2009, p.115). Further, Kopelman points out that some differences between children such as the differences incurred as the result of some diseases or disorders-sometimes justify different degrees of permissible risk between children in research (Kopelman, 2004c, p.752). Commentators' claims that risk determinations should take into accountand vary according to—some differences seem to be on solid ground. Assessing risks properly depends on recognizing some differences, like physiological differences, between infants and adolescents. But this suggests that some variable treatment between children in research is permissible and desirable. It follows that arguments endorsing the healthy child interpretation because it meets the requirements of justice by prohibiting variable treatment are not persuasive.

Second, there is no clear and uncontroversial definition of health, which means that identifying healthy children as the referent for minimal risk does not identify one clear and consistent group of children whose daily experiences should be measured against non-therapeutic research procedures. Different interpretations identify varying groups of people as healthy (Nordenfelt, 2006). Boorse thinks that health is defined as the absence of disease (Boorse, 1975). On his account, health can be assessed by examining the biological functions of the body (Boorse, 1975). But others believe that health is a broader concept that also depends on a person's quality of life (Nordenfelt, 2006). For example, the WHO defines health as "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (WHO, 1948). Still other commentators define health with reference to personal goals (Richman, 2003) or as the phenomenological experience of being at home in one's lived body (Carel, 2007; Carol,

2008). Depending on which definition one appeals to, a healthy child is disease free, is able to pursue his goals or is comfortable in his body. A child who is disease free may also be comfortable in his body, but these two requirements are not necessarily linked in any obvious way. Commentators endorsing the healthy child interpretation offer no guidance about how to navigate through these intricacies. Little is said about how to understand health or why it should be understood in a particular way. Consequently, this interpretation does not identify one clear and consistent group as the referent for minimal risk.

Third, identifying the referent as healthy children may not successfully restrict nontherapeutic research procedures to a low degree of risk. A child's health is not the exclusive—and perhaps not even the primary—determinant of her daily risks. Children living in poor neighborhoods, war zones or in geographically dangerous areas face degrees of daily risk that seem impermissibly high. But on some, if not all, of the definitions of health described above, these children might be considered healthy. And if they are healthy, there is nothing to prevent the high degrees of risk they face daily from counting as minimal in research. Thus, identifying healthy children as the referent may not prevent the inclusion of children who face particularly and unjustifiably high degrees of daily risk in research involving comparable risk levels.

To address this problem, some commentators suggest that health is not the only relevant criterion to consider. They add a set of features that constrain the healthy child interpretation. For example, NHRPAC and others (IOM 2004; SACHRP 2005) identify the referent as a subgroup of healthy children: those who are also 'normal,' 'average,' and live in a safe or stable environment. This strategy aims to capture only fortunate groups of children, who experience uniquely low daily risks. But this list still neglects some children who face high risks. Some normal, average, healthy children living in a safe environment are exposed to experiences at school that threaten their self-image, such as relentless teasing by peers. These daily experiences can be pernicious to a child's self-image (Thompson, 1990) and should not be used to justify her exposure to similar experiences in research (Ross, 2003). In short, it is hard to identify a subgroup of healthy children that faces only low daily risks.

Fourth, and most importantly, identifying the referent as a fortunate group of

children who usually face low risks is based on the goal of avoiding exploitation by restricting risks as much as possible. But this strategy neglects the fact that a justifiable risk threshold must fulfill multiple functions. It must protect children but it must also permit valuable and ethically permissible research to proceed without unnecessary delay. A research-friendly and morally justified threshold requires more than risk restriction. It requires a convincing reason why some group of children's daily lives involve a morally relevant degree of risk. The mere fact that 'normal, average, healthy children in safe environments' face low degrees of daily risk is not a persuasive reason to use their lives as the basis for minimal risk. Low risks are not necessarily low enough or (perhaps more likely) may be so low that they impede the progress of useful and justifiable research. Given that there is clear reason to think that the degree of daily risk faced by these children is morally appropriate, there is no obvious reason to restrict the risks of non-therapeutic procedures to the same level. It follows that current arguments aiming to establish that healthy children or a subgroup of healthy children should be the referent for minimal risk are not persuasive.

## 4.3 The subjects of the research interpretation

The second argument frequently found in research ethics proposes to identify the referent as the subjects of the research. According to this interpretation, minimal risk should be measured according to the daily lives of healthy children as well as sick children who are eligible for participation in a given study. Non-therapeutic research procedures can be deemed permissible when they pose no more risk than the eligible study population already experiences in her daily life. The main difference between identifying the referent as healthy children and identifying the referent as the subjects of the research is that the latter permits variable treatment between children in research. Some children—including some sick children—face higher daily risks. And, according to the subjects of the research interpretation, these children may face comparably high degrees of nontherapeutic research risks. Thus, some children whose diseases, disorders or conditions expose them to higher risks in daily life may be exposed to higher non-therapeutic research risks than children who face lower daily risks.

Why might we want to permit sick children to be exposed to non-therapeutic

research procedures involving higher degrees of risk? Some sick children face higher daily risks than healthier children. Permitting a variable risk standard that allows these children to face risks of non-therapeutic research procedures that are comparable to their daily risks may help to promote the development of valuable knowledge of disease states affecting certain children and for which they are the only appropriate research subjects (National Commission, 1976, p.154).

The pursuit of valuable scientific knowledge that can improve the care of current and future children is a good reason to subject some sick children to higher risks than healthier children. But is this variable treatment ethically permissible? Some commentators argue that because children's daily lives differ (according to health, living circumstances or other factors), it may be permissible to expose them to different degrees of research risks (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer 1993; National Commission, 1976, p.9; Morris, 2012, p.667). The common thread in these arguments is that children's different experiences may contribute to differences in the way children experience various procedures. Also, differences in the way children experience may justify their exposure to different—and sometimes higher risk—procedures in research. The main idea is that children's familiarity with different experiences leaves them and their parents in a good position from which to make informed decisions about whether they wish to undertake comparable risks purely in the interests of a research study.

For example, as the result of her illness, a diabetic child is likely to receive multiple daily pinprick blood tests, whereas on an average day a child without diabetes will receive none. When it comes time to receive a pinprick blood test during the course of standard care or as part of a research protocol, one can reasonably expect the child without diabetes to be apprehensive about the procedure. This reaction is understandable given that the procedure is unfamiliar and expected to involve some degree of pain or discomfort. But a diabetic child familiar with the procedure is likely to have a different reaction. She may be fearful of the discomfort she knows accompanies each pinprick blood test or she may experience no apprehension at all, given that she is familiar with, and untroubled by, the relatively minor degree of discomfort that accompanies a pinprick blood test.

The difference between the diabetic and healthy child is that the diabetic child has

different experiences than children without diabetes. Her familiarity with the procedure as well as its associated discomforts, leaves her (and her parents) well-positioned to make an informed prediction about how she will react to an additional procedure of this sort, administered purely in the interests of a research protocol. It follows that the different experiences that some sick children experience place these children and their parents in a good position to decide whether undertaking comparable risks in research that doesn't aim to offer the prospect of direct benefit is a significant hardship.

One might object to this argument for failing to protect sick children in research. For instance, Ross argues that this interpretation cannot accommodate sick children who have adverse reactions to various procedures and may consequently be even more fearful of undergoing that procedure than a healthy "procedure-naïve" child (Ross, 2003, p.109). According to Ross, understanding the referent as the subjects of the research entails the belief "that it is more acceptable to enroll a child who has been treated for cancer in a study that requires multiple blood draws over a short period than a healthy child because the cancer survivor has experience with multiple blood draws" (Ross, 2003, p.109).

This objection is not successful. The claim is not that familiarity with higher risk experiences automatically justifies the exposure of sick children who experience higher daily risks to comparably high-risk procedures in research. Instead, it may be that familiarity with a procedure provides good reason to determine whether a similar procedure should be undertaken even if it offers no corresponding benefit. As commentators write:

[T]he requirement for commensurability [that is, for permitting different degrees of risk to count as minimal for different children] reflects the National Commission's judgment that children who have had a procedure performed upon them might be more capable than are those who are not so experienced to base their assent on some familiarity with the procedures and its attendant discomforts... (Levine, 1976, p.82)

Similarly, Miller & Weijer argue:

Parents and their ill children are familiar with higher than average levels of risk in everyday life, and are thus in the best position to decide whether to assume comparable risks for the purposes of research that may benefit others in a like position. (Miller & Weijer, 2000. p.9)

That is, the claim is that children's familiarity with various higher risk procedures leaves them and their parents *in a better position to make informed decisions* about whether or not to undertake the same kinds of risks in the context of non-therapeutic research procedures. And this claim is more plausible. Familiarity with a procedure provides good reasons to predict how a child might react to the same or similar procedures in research.

The most powerful objection to the subjects of the research interpretation is that it does not provide adequate protections for sick children in research. Commissioner Turtle first articulated this objection in his statement dissenting to the National Commission's fifth recommendation, which permits sick children to be exposed to a higher degree of risk than healthy children in research that does not aim to offer direct benefit. He writes:

Children, who through no fault or choice of their own, are subjected to greater risks incident to their condition or necessary treatment, cannot ethically be assumed to qualify for additional increments of risk. To do so, is to add to the potential burdens that result, directly or indirectly from the child's illness. (National Commission, 1976, p.148).

That is, some children's illnesses subject them to high daily burdens incident to their condition or medical treatment. Even though these risks are familiar to some children, it is unfair to think that commensurate risks in research that does not aim to offer the prospect of direct benefit to the child subject are permissible. Such research would unfairly add to the burdens of an already burdened class of children. Nicholson agrees. He argues that "some children are already exposed to such a high degree of risk that it would be unacceptable to increase that degree of risk by adding to it the risks of being a research subject" (Nicholson, 1986, p.103).

Ross elaborates on this argument. She argues that any interpretation of minimal risk that permits those who are medically burdened by their sickness, disorder or condition to be exposed to higher risk non-therapeutic research procedures is unjust; it adds to the burdens of already burdened persons (Ross, 2003, p.110). She bases her argument on an appeal to the requirements of justice as described in the Belmont Report. In the Belmont Report, the National Commission argue that fairness in the assessment of subject selection requires that already burdened groups should not be further burdened in

research. They write:

[S]ocial justice requires that a distinction be drawn between classes of subjects that ought, and ought not, to participate in any particular kind of research, based on the ability of members of that class to bear burdens and on the appropriateness of placing further burdens on already burdened persons. (Belmont Report, 1979, p.18)

The idea is that identifying the referent as the subjects of the research fails to protect a burdened population in need of special protection from incurring the additional burdens of research participation.

Ackerman also expresses this concern (Ackerman, 1981). Following Frankena, Ackerman argues that justice requires a fair allocation of the burdens of social living. And a fair allocation of the burdens of social living should aim to equalize the opportunity of each person for achieving a good life. Since some children's opportunity for a good life is more seriously compromised—like children undergoing chemotherapy to treat their cancer-justice requires that we take additional measures to try and equalize their opportunity to achieve a good life. That is, we should try and minimize their exposure to physical and emotional suffering (Ackerman, 1981). With respect to participation in research that does not aim to offer the prospect of direct medical benefit, a fair distribution of research burdens requires that the risk of harm be reduced for people whose opportunity for a good life would be more seriously compromised by their research involvement (Ackerman, 1981). Equalizing the burdens of sick children in research requires that the risks to which they are exposed are reduced in proportion to the severity of their medical burdens. Insofar as identifying the referent as the subjects of the research does not offer any mechanism according to which to restrict or reduce the burdens of the medically burdened, it does not offer adequate protections for children in research.

This objection is persuasive. Some children experience significant medical or psychological burdens as the result of their disease, disorder or condition. When a child is significantly burdened by her disease and medical treatment—as a child is who is undergoing chemotherapy to treat her cancer—the child's familiarity with the procedures and her predictable reaction to similar procedures administered in the context of research

are beside the point. The daily risks this child faces are already so high that it seems unfair to add to her burdens by subjecting her to additional research risks that do not offer the prospect of direct medical benefit. Children significantly burdened by their sickness and treatment do not seem to be appropriate subjects for research involving higher degrees of non-therapeutic research risks. But identifying the referent as the subjects of the research does not say when, if ever, these children must be protected from additional degrees of non-therapeutic research risks. Thus, identifying the referent as the subjects of the research does not offer adequate protections to sick children in research. It follows that none of the subjects of the research, healthy children or a subgroup of healthy children should be the referent for minimal risk.

# 4.4 Hybrid proposals

Some commentators recognize that neither of the above interpretations of the referent for minimal risk is successful. Peerzada and Wendler (2006) as well as Snyder and colleagues (2011) argue that neither interpretation provides adequate protections for children in research while permitting important and ethically permissible trials to proceed. To resolve this problem, both sets of commentators suggest a hybrid solution, according to which the referent is usually identified as normal, average, healthy children but, under certain exceptional circumstances, the referent can be identified as the subjects of the research.

Peerzda and Wendler argue that institutional review boards should generally identify the referent as healthy, average children but that exceptions can be made to permit valuable research when three conditions obtain: (1) The research risks are no greater than the risks the child faces daily; (2) the daily risks faced by the child are considered acceptable by society; and (3) the research risks replace the risks in the child's daily life (Peerzada & Wendler, 2006, p.1618).

Peerzada and Wendler's criteria are problematic. The second condition restricts the invocation of the subjects of the research interpretation according to social mores. But this condition does not explain how or why societal acceptance should replace the identification of a justified referent for minimal risk. Further, social endorsement alone does not offer children adequate protections in research. For example, a child undergoing

chemotherapy to treat his cancer faces high daily risks as the result of his disease and medical treatment. The risks this child encounters during the course of his medical treatment may well be considered acceptable by society; they aim to treat his disease. But these risks seem impermissibly high in the context of non-therapeutic research procedures. It is unclear, at best, why and how the criterion of social acceptability (in addition to the risk replacement and daily life criteria) can replace the identification of a certain group of children whose daily lives involve morally relevant degrees of risk.

Snyder and colleagues' proposal to permit principled exceptions to the average, healthy child interpretation does not fare much better. Building on a proposal from Wendler (2004), Snyder and colleagues argue that identifying the referent as the subjects of the research can be permissible, but only when the research (1) is relevant to the needs of the host community, (2) meets the standard of scientific necessity, and (3) offers the host community indirect benefit (Wendler, 2004). To this proposal they add a fourth criterion, (4) requiring that research meet the requirement of clinical equipoise (Snyder et al., 2011). Snyder and colleagues argue that invoking these additional protections helps to protect children from exploitation under a subjects of the research interpretation of minimal risk.

However, Snyder and colleagues' criteria for invoking this interpretation do not restrict the scope of research in the way that they intend. Meeting their four conditions will not isolate a particular—and more restrictive—subset of approvable research protocols. Their criteria apply to the conduct of all research involving human subjects. These criteria appear in important guidelines governing the ethical conduct of all research with humans (CIOMS, 2002) and are commonly endorsed as necessary criteria for the ethical permissibility of all clinical research (Emanuel et al., 2000). I agree with Snyder and colleagues, as well as Wendler, that these conditions are essential to the ethical justification of a trial. But they do not limit the application of the subjects of the research interpretation of minimal risk to exceptional cases. Thus, Snyder and colleagues' position amounts to a widespread endorsement of the identification of the referent for minimal risk as the subjects of the research (Binik, Weijer, & Sheehan, 2011). But then this proposed solution is subject to the same problems as the original proposal to identify the referent as the subjects of the research: it cannot justify the additional burdens research participation places on already burdened populations, such as children with cancer.

Moreover, both sets of commentators aim to resolve tensions that arise when identifying the referent for minimal risk as healthy children or the subjects of the research by endorsing hybrid solutions that permit principled exceptions to the healthy child interpretation. But this strategy is problematic. If the original rule is justified, then merely allowing exceptions to it is ethically impermissible. And if the original rule is unjustified, then it should not be invoked in the first place. Thus, the proposed criteria for exceptions fail doubly: they do not offer adequate protections to children while permitting valuable research to proceed and they fail to explain why exceptions to an ethical rule identifying the referent for minimal risk should be permissible under any circumstances.

# 4.5 A new proposal

I propose a new approach for identifying the referent for minimal risk, informed by an analysis of the requirements of justice in research with children. I argue that justice does not require equal treatment between all children in research. But it does require that only a morally relevant property can justify departures from equal treatment. I propose that the morally relevant property justifying differential treatment between children in research is *undue burden*. I then argue that children are not unduly burdened if their lives are going well and propose a set of conditions according to which one can measure whether a child fares well. I conclude that the referent for minimal risk should be understood as children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, and that children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives are those who fare well, that is, children who possess sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods of childhood.

# 4.6 The principle of justice

How does the moral principle of justice apply to research with human subjects? In the Belmont Report, the National Commission describes two ways of understanding the principle of justice in research with human subjects. First, they claim that justice requires a fair distribution of the burdens and benefits of research (Belmont Report, 1979). That is, justice can be understood as the ethical obligation to treat people fairly, which requires that people receive access to benefits to which they are entitled and that they are not saddled with undue burdens. To meet the requirement of justice, researchers should not choose only favoured patients to be subjects in potentially beneficial research and they must also not choose "undesirable" people as subjects in high-risk research (Belmont Report, 1979). Further, they must not exploit vulnerable populations, select research subjects from groups who are unlikely to benefit from beneficial results of the research or use vulnerable subjects who constitute a population of convenience when it is feasible to use healthier, less vulnerable subjects (Belmont Report, 1979). Thus, the Belmont Report's first conception of justice gives rise to a set of guidelines about how to select subjects for research fairly.

The National Commission also describes the principle of justice as the idea that equals ought to be treated equally and unequals treated unequally (Belmont Report, 1979). This insight—known as the principle of formal equality—can be traced back to Aristotle and is central to many egalitarian theories of distributive justice (Frankena, 1962; Aristotle; Sidgwick, 1907; Beauchamp, 1976; Rawls, 1971). It is also endorsed in commentary on research with children (Kopelman, 2004c; Lantos, 2004). The principle of formal equality points out that justice does not require uniform treatment for all subjects in research. Some distinctions-including those based on experience, age, competence, deprivation, merit and position—can sometimes justify differential treatment (Beauchamp, 1979; Belmont Report, 1979). But justice does require uniform treatment of like cases and a justification for unequal treatment. Unfortunately, the principle of formal equality has little to say about who is equal and which cases are alike. It is a basic, minimal or guiding principle (Beauchamp & Childress, 2001; Beauchamp, 1979), which provides no substantive information about the properties that are relevant when comparing people or groups of people (Beauchamp & Childress, 2001). Thus, one main task of theories of justice-and of ethics more generally-is to explain the morally relevant criterion that justifies departures from equal treatment. This morally relevant property is called the material principle of justice. Recognizing the need for a material principle of justice in theories of distributive justice helps to explain why one and the same standard for the permissible treatment of all children in research does not uphold the requirements of justice; it explains why it is sometimes permissible and necessary to

treat children differently in research. In addition, it emphasizes that the material principle of justice must be chosen with care. Preventing the exploitation of children with a variable standard requires that a morally relevant property be chosen as the material principle of justice.

#### **4.6.1** The material principle of justice

What is the material principle of justice in research with children? Health should not be the material principle of justice. Justifying variable treatment according to an axis of health fails to protect some groups of healthy children—including those who are bullied at school or those who are members of low income families—whose daily lives involve significant burden from facing comparably, and inappropriately, high risks in nontherapeutic research procedures.

Further, identifying health as the morally relevant property justifying differential treatment between children in research restricts, without adequate reason, some sick children's access to research participation. Objections to the subjects of the research interpretation of minimal risk focus on sick children who are heavily burdened by their illness. For example, Ackerman restricts his analysis to children with cancer, who are likely to experience significant medical burdens as the result of their disease and treatment (e.g. chemotherapy) (Ackerman, 1981). I agree with Ackerman that children suffering from cancer are significantly burdened and that adding research burdens to their daily experiences is unfair. But this kind of reasoning does not apply to all children with diseases, disorders or conditions. It leaves open the possibility that there exists another class of sick children who are not heavily burdened by their sickness. And there is no obvious reason to require additional protections for children who are sick-but not heavily burdened by their sickness and treatment—when participating in research. For example, children with mild cases of asthma have an illness. This illness may contribute to differences between their daily experiences and those of children without asthma. But some children with mild asthma experience no significant burdens as the result of their sickness. And if they are not burdened by their disease and treatment then there is no obvious reason to protect them from comparable experiences in research. Thus, sickness is not a sufficient condition motivating differential treatment.

Providing unnecessary protection for sick children in research also risks violating the requirements of justice. Justice requires not only the protection of particularly vulnerable groups from research participation but also adequate access to research participation (Kahn, Mastroianni, & Sugarman, 1998, p.1-3). That is, justice also requires that we do not restrict or exclude, without legitimate reason, certain groups from participating in research. Given that some sick children are not heavily burdened by their sickness and treatment, justice requires that some sick children receive adequate access to research participation. It follows that their participation should not necessarily (or automatically) be restricted based on their health status. Thus, health should not be the morally relevant property justifying differential treatment between children in research.

Instead of health, I propose that the material property of justice justifying differential treatment between children in research is *undue burden*. Undue burden does not refer to burdens that are undeserved. Children do not experience burdens that are 'due' to them, in the sense of deserved. As a result, there is no reason to distinguish between deserved and undeserved burdens for children. Instead, undue burdens refer to burdens that are excessive or disproportionate. That is, the term 'undue' is meant to differentiate mild burdens, such as the inconvenience imposed by having to travel a long distance to get to school daily or perhaps mild burdens incurred by living in a war zone or suffering from a serious illness. Identifying undue burden as the morally relevant property justifying different treatment between children in research helps to ensure that when children experience overly high daily risks, these risks cannot be used to legitimize similarly high risks in non-therapeutic research procedures.

Identifying the material property of justice as undue burden is derived from the idea that children who face high degrees of daily risk as the result of their illnesses, geographic locations or socio-economic status are different from more fortunate children. The daily lives of the former children involve significant hardships that are beyond their control. And this difference—the difference between high daily risk levels and low daily risk levels incurred as the result of the natural lottery (or chance)—is a morally relevant difference. The fact that some children face high daily risks as the result of chance should not be used to justify their exposure to additional research risks. This difference should

be used only to invoke additional protections for an already burdened group of children.

This claim is not entirely unique; it is the foundation for multiple arguments aiming to restrict the degree of non-therapeutic risks to those faced by healthy children. It shares with these arguments the common goal of protecting children from participation in high-risk research that is justified on the basis of difficult circumstances beyond a child's control. But identifying the morally relevant property of justice as undue burden reflects a new judgment about whose daily life is morally relevant. It reflects the idea that while multiple factors—such as health, wealth, and geographic location—may contribute to unfair differences between children's lives, the material principle of justice should be able to account for injustices incurred by any of these factors. It must be a broader principle that examines whether children are thriving.

#### 4.7 Who should be the referent?

Identifying the material principle of justice as undue burden informs a new interpretation for the referent for minimal risk. The referent should be children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives. Children are not unduly burdened if their lives are going well. But what does it mean for a child to fare well? Theories of welfare are theories of what is prudentially valuable; that is, a theory of welfare explains how well a life is going for the person living that life (Griffin, 1986, p.31-32; Crisp, 2008). In other words, theories of welfare tell us what make someone's life go better or worse, that is, what is non-instrumentally good for a person (Skelton, forthcoming).

Examinations of what makes a person's life prudentially good can be addressed from a number of different standpoints, including the point of view of a particular person trying to decide how to live, the point of view of a benevolent third party like a friend or parent who wants to improve a person's life or from the point of view of a conscientious administrator who is charged with acting in the interest of a particular group of people (Scanlon, 1993, p.185). Scanlon points out that it is worth keeping in mind the point of view from which an examination is undertaken since it is likely to influence the plausibility of a given answer (Scanlon, 1993, p.185). Following Scanlon's advice, I will identify my main question as "what makes a life a good one for a child?" and consider this question from the point of view of a research ethics board seeking to establish whether it would be fair to compare the degree of risk posed by a non-therapeutic research procedure to that experienced by a child in her daily life.

To answer my question, I consider some of the main theories of well-being. Parfit divides these into three categories: hedonistic theories, desire-fulfillment theories, and objective-list theories (Parfit, 1984, p.493). I will argue that for the purposes of identifying a justifiable referent for minimal risk, the objective-list theory, understood as an account of substantive goods of a child's well-being, is best equipped to answer what it means for a child to fare well.

Hedonistic theories of welfare claim that welfare consists in happiness and that happiness consists in the greatest balance of pleasure over pain (Bentham, 1789). According to hedonism, the more pleasure one has, the better one's life is going and the more pain one has, the worse one's life is going. While some hedonists disagree over the nature of pleasure, most agree that it is a kind of mental state or feeling (Skelton, forthcoming).

One influential challenge to hedonism is that experiences are not the only things that matter to us. Nozick makes this case by appeal to the example of an "experience machine", which simulates pleasurable experiences—such as winning a Nobel prize or swimming in the ocean on a hot day. By plugging into the experience machine, a person can spend the rest of her life undergoing only pleasurable experiences of her choice (without knowing that she is plugged into the machine). Nozick argues that even though one's life would consist in a great deal of surplus pleasure—and so be the epitome of well-being on the hedonist account—people have good reasons not to plug into the machine. Choosing life in the experience machine causes us to lose contact with reality, which is undesirable; it is in our interests to actually do certain things and be certain ways and not simply to think we have done so (Nozick, 1974, p.43). Plugging into the experience machine seems to prohibit us from achieving the values of accomplishment, personhood, and authentic understanding (Crisp, 2006). Thus, some conclude that hedonism is unsuccessful.

Anthony Skelton argues that there is more to faring well for a child than surplus pleasure. His argument draws on our intuitive response to the following example: consider two ways in which your child will spend the afternoon that involve equal amounts of pleasure. In the first option, the child's surplus pleasure is derived from playing outdoors with his friends while in the second option, the pleasure is taken in passive television watching. There is no reason to think that there is more long-term pleasure in one case than in the other. Skelton argues that we are not indifferent to which of these pleasures is preferable; most parents prefer the first option. But this suggests that there is more to faring well for a child than surplus pleasure (Skelton, forthcoming). Given that hedonism offers no basis from which to distinguish between these options, it does not provide an adequate account of children's welfare.

A second kind of welfare theory, the desire-fulfillment theory, explains that what is best for a person is what, throughout her life, best fulfills her desires. On these theories, occurrences in the outside world that fulfill a person's preferences contribute to her wellbeing (Scanlon, 1993, p.186). To fare well on a desire-fulfillment account, one must actually win the prize or be loved by friends and family, and not simply experience these things. By emphasizing the connection of actual occurrences in the world to well-being rather than relying exclusively on experiences, desire-fulfillment theorists are able to explain the reluctance of many to plug into Nozick's experience machine.

But desire-fulfillment theories are subject to different criticisms. We have desires that seem, on reflection, not to be prudentially good. That is, some of our desires seem to be bad for us. Wendler points out that "a fairly common and unfortunate feature of the human condition is that we are often wrong about what is in our interests" (Wendler, 2010, p. 113). For example, we might desire more than anything else to achieve fame, but upon achieving this fame, learn that it is not in our interest; it complicates privacy, which turns out to be more valuable.

A desire-fulfillment theorist might respond to this objection by arguing that welfare consists in the satisfaction of a person's informed or rational preferences (and not simply her revealed or expressed preferences). That is, what is important is not the satisfaction of a person's desires but the satisfaction of desires a person might have if she were informed and free of logical errors (Skelton, forthcoming). For example, on Griffin's informed-desire theory, a person is made better off by the "fulfillment of desires that persons would have if they appreciated the true nature of their objects" (Griffin, 1986, p.11).

However, this understanding of desire-fulfillment theories also seems to miss

something important about children's welfare. As Kraut argues, children have desires and preferences, including the desire for attention and preferences about favourite toys. But a child's welfare should not be constituted by the fulfillment of these desires and preferences alone. He writes: "babies must, for their own good, be nurtured in a way that gives them certain competencies and brings them into certain human relationships; but the states of affairs that are good for them are not already present to them as the context of their desires" (Kraut, 2007, p.105). That is, babies and young children do not and cannot know what is good for them; this is one of the reasons parents try to guide the preferences of their children. More generally, children's well-being is not properly captured by desire-fulfillment theories.

Skelton also points out that desire-fulfillment theories are ill-equipped to capture a child's welfare. He argues that these views rely on the existence of authentic desires that reflect one's autonomous self and can be reached after processing information and freeing it from errors (Skelton, forthcoming). That is, a main goal of these theories is to uphold a person's authority to determine what is in her interests. But this presupposes the existence of a fairly well-developed value system. And for children, there is no such authority to be preserved (Skelton, forthcoming). The main idea is that desire-fulfillment theories' aim of determining which of the things you already value is really good for you from your own perspective relies on the existence of a value-system that most children do not yet possess (Skelton, forthcoming). Consequently, desire-fulfillment theories do not adequately describe children's welfare.

A third kind of welfare theory—the objective-list theory—aims to identify a list of items that constitute a person's well-being. Items on objective lists appeal directly to facts about values; items on the list can be good or bad for a person irrespective of whether or not she seeks the good things and avoids the bad ones (Parfit, 1984, p.499). On objective list theories, the best life contains the greatest surplus of goods on the list. Objective-list theories are also accompanied by philosophical baggage, some of which Scanlon attributes to the name of the theory itself. He writes:

The name "objective list" theory is doubly unfortunate. The term "list" suggests a kind of arbitrariness (just what its critics would charge), and "objective" suggests a kind of rigidity (as if the same things must be valuable for everyone), as well as

inviting a host of difficult questions about the various forms of objectivity and the possibility of values being objective in any of these senses. One might think the name had been coined by opponent of views of this kind. (Scanlon, 1993, p.188)
That is, the name of the theory gives rise to the belief that items on a list are fixed and based on whim. But conceptualizing these theories in a different way may increase their plausibility. Scanlon proposes that, rather than objective list theories, we call them "substantive good theories". Substantive good theories are "based on substantive claims about what goods, conditions, and opportunities make life better" (Scanlon, 1993, p.189).
Following Scanlon, I henceforth call these theories "substantive good theories".

This new title does not protect the theory from objection. A critic might argue that substantive good theories are implausible because they claim that certain things are good for all, even though some people may not care about or desire those goods (Crisp, 2008). That is, a substantive good theory must explain why and how some particular thing should be understood as good for a person in spite of the fact that she may not desire it. This is a powerful objection to the substantive list theories of adult welfare, but it is not clear that it applies with equal force to children. Children do not have fully formed wills. It is for this reason that we consider it appropriate for parents and guardians to make decisions on behalf of children and do not trust children to make overriding determinations about what is in their own interests. It follows that it should seem more palatable to say that certain things are good or bad for a child irrespective of whether she desires these things (although we should not necessarily disregard a child's likes and dislikes).

The critic might reply that this objection cannot be overcome so easily. It may seem reasonable to overrule a child's objection, when she disagrees with her parent about the kinds of things that are in her interest. But adults' views about what is in a child's interest may still conflict and it is not clear why an adult, who does not want a certain good for her child, should be persuaded that this good is in her child's welfare simply because it is part of a list of substantive goods of childhood. More generally, disagreement between adults about the things that constitute a child's welfare complicate efforts to construct a persuasive list.

My response draws on Scanlon's reminder that we must keep in mind the point of

view from which the question is being considered. My question, "when does a child fare well?" should be considered from the point of view of a research ethics board trying to determine whether a child's daily life involves a degree of risk that is also reasonable in non-therapeutic research procedures. This is a more constrained analysis than one that aims to determine whether a child fares well overall or for the duration of her childhood. Certain controversial questions about a child's welfare that pertain to research participation may be less contentious when considered from the point of view of a research ethics board. For example, parents may reasonably disagree over whether stability is a substantive good of childhood. Different parents' positions on the importance of stability may contribute to different determinations about whether it is in the long-term interests of children to move cities every two years during early childhood. Some might think that the new experiences that accompany frequent moves are in the interests of children, others may emphasize the value of stability for relationship building, and still others may think the value of stability depends largely on how a particular child copes with change. There is no obvious reason why one parent's position on stability should supersede another's. Consequently, these kinds of disagreements complicate efforts to develop an account of the substantive goods of childhood.

However, this problem is less pressing for an account of the substantive goods of childhood that is constrained to a research ethics board's determination about whether a group of children fares well enough to be the referent for minimal risk in a particular study. A research ethics board should consider whether a group of children fares well at a given point in their lives, that is, at the time of trial recruitment. In making their determination, they need not (and could not) cast judgment on whether a child is likely to fare well throughout the course of her life. A research ethics board, after all, makes their determination with regards to a reference group of children fares well at a particular child in mind. Assessing whether a group of children fares well at a particular point in time helps to mitigate disagreement. The question ceases to be whether it is in a child's future interest to move frequently and becomes, for instance, whether a child who has recently moved cities is less likely to fare well. The latter question may be easier to answer (I'll say more about how to make this determination in the next sections). In short, constraining assessments of welfare to a group of children's current circumstances

helps to reduce disagreement about the substantive goods of childhood.

Further, accounts of the substantive goods of childhood need not be fixed; they may be open to revision as evidence emerges about factors relevant to a child's welfare. Insofar as the substantive good theories are able to recognize and account for differences between children and adults and are also flexible enough to grow and change in response to research about children, they are best equipped to account for the welfare of children.

I've argued that substantive goods theories are best equipped to capture children's welfare for the purposes of identifying a justifiable referent for minimal risk. My goal is to help determine which group of children fare well enough that their daily lives are morally relevant comparators for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures. This is a practical proposal. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to offer a comprehensive analysis of children's welfare. Nonetheless, it is worth pointing out that endorsing a series of goods in which children's welfare consists is consistent not only with substantive good theories, but also with some hedonist theories of welfare. The most plausible versions of hedonism also endorse a series of goods in which welfare consists.

Above, I argued that hedonism is the view that welfare consists in one good, happiness, and that happiness consists in the greatest balance of pleasure over pain. But some versions of hedonism are more nuanced. Some argue that it is consistent with hedonism to desire more things than our own happiness and that we desire these things for themselves, that is, independently of the happiness they produce (Silverstein, 2000, p. 294). This idea is derived from what Sidgwick called the "paradox of hedonism" (Sidgwick, 2007). One version of the paradox of hedonism points out that if we aim only at happiness, then we cannot attain it. To achieve the highest degree of happiness, we must pursue it indirectly, through other goods (Silverstein, 2000). Further, over time, people move from valuing something as a means to happiness to valuing that thing in and of itself (Crisp, 2006). Thus, the best way to promote happiness is by coming to believe that a number of other things are intrinsically good. To put it another way, a plausible version of hedonism recognizes that a number of things are intrinsically good. It follows that the insight that our welfare consists in a list of substantive goods is common to both hedonism and substantive goods theories. This overlapping consensus between the two theories that children's welfare consists in a series of goods may add plausibility to my

proposal. It follows that my proposal may also be understood as a practical proposal that is the subject of an overlapping consensus between substantive goods theories and hedonistic theories, the two most plausible theories of children's welfare.<sup>8</sup>

#### 4.8 The substantive goods of childhood

What goods contribute to a child's welfare? The substantive goods of welfare have traditionally been constructed with adults, and not children, in mind. And many of these accounts are ill-suited to represent children's interests (Skelton, forthcoming). For example, Brink proposes a theory of welfare "that counts reflective pursuit and realization of agents' reasonable projects and certain personal and social relationships as the primary components of valuable lives" (Brink, 1989, p.231). For Brink, the formation and pursuit of projects should be reflective and these projects should be integrated into a coherent life plan (Brink, 1989, p.231). This view seems plausible for adults, but not for children. It relies on capacities and traits that children do not possess or do not possess enough of (Skelton, forthcoming). Children are unable to form comprehensive and integrated life plans of the sort Brink has in mind. Consequently, Brink's theory does not offer a persuasive picture of what it means to fare well as a child.

However, there are two attempts to identify goods that are explicitly in children's interests that inform my account of the substantive goods of childhood. First, Kraut offers a view of children's welfare that appeals, at least in part, to an objective list of goods for children. He writes:

[I]t is good for us to receive loving attention as children, to acquire linguistic competence and the ability to communicate with others, to grow physically and make use of our sensory capacities, to mature sexually, to learn the complex skills of adulthood, to enrich and develop greater mastery over our emotions, to learn how to assess reasons and deliberate with an independent and open mind, and thus to interact with others as full members of the community. (Kraut, 2007, p.138)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The third main theory of welfare, the desire-fulfillment theory, does not share this insight, but I've argued above that it is less successful in accounting for children's welfare.

Some of the items on Kraut's list contribute to children's welfare. For example, it seems clear that children must be able to grow physically and receive loving attention to fare well. But Kraut's list is too heavily focused on rationality. His view emphasizes the development of various physical and psychological faculties, which seems too forward looking. For instance, it seems possible to fare well as a child without keen faculties of deliberation and without learning to master the complex skills of adulthood. But on Kraut's account, these are necessary goods for all children. Overall, some of the goods Kraut describes seem plausible, but the list needs modification.

A second account also helps to identify the substantive goods of childhood. Malek identifies a list of thirteen items that are in children's interests (Malek, 2009). Her goal is to defend the "best interests" standard that guides health-care decision making for children against charges of vagueness by providing specific and substantial guidance about what is in a child's interests. To this end, she considers the interests of children as described in the UN Convention on the rights of the child, Brazelton and Greenspan's *The Irreducible Needs of Children*, and Nussbaum's capabilities approach. Malek cross references the items in these sources and compiles a list of items relevant to children that appear in all three.

She explains the approach in the following way: "[A]uthors writing from political, medical, and philosophical perspectives with different goals in mind identified many of the same elements of well-being" and the high level of agreement between them "provides evidence that those elements are things that make children better-off. Further, because the accounts are drawn from the wisdom of three areas of study, there is at least some reason to believe that the list is fairly comprehensive" (Malek, 2009, p.5). Malek's list includes life, health and healthcare, basic needs, protection from neglect and abuse, emotional development, play and pleasure, education and cognitive development, expression and communication, interaction, parental relationships, identity, sense of self, and autonomy (Malek, 2009). She concludes that the overlapping consensus between the three accounts provides some evidence that these goods form a comprehensive list of children's interests (though the list is open to revision in light of new empirical data) (Malek, 2009).

Malek's list is plausible. It focuses on children, rather than adults, and recognizes a

wide range of goods, in addition to rational capacities, that constitute a child's welfare. But modifications to this list may help to identify children who fare well enough to be the referent for minimal risk. Malek's list involves thirteen goods, which is unwieldly. Given that my substantive good theory is part of a practical proposal that will require a research ethics board to assess whether a group of children possesses sufficiently high degrees of each of the goods of childhood, there is an advantage in constraining the list to the fewest number of substantive goods that accurately captures children's welfare. A shorter list may facilitate research ethics review.

Can Malek's list be constrained and still capture the substantive goods of children's welfare? As she recognizes, there is overlap in the goods on her list. For instance, the first four goods (life, health, basic needs, and protection from abuse and neglect) all refer to a child's physical well-being. But it is not clear that each of these must appear as a distinct good on the list. One might think that achieving a high enough degree of health to fare well presupposes the substantive good of life. That is, concern for someone's health requires that they be alive. Thus, one might be able to collapse life and health into one item on the list.

Further, both play and emotional development seem to be different parts of one same substantive good of childhood. On one plausible analysis, children's play is best understood as the way in which children develop emotionally. Schapiro describes play as a strategy in which children "try on" different characters for themselves. Children play in order to experiment with different personas and to learn what it will be like to inhabit the adult world in different ways (Schapiro, 1999, p.732). She writes that "play serves an essential function in children's lives which it does not serve in the lives of either animals or adults. Play is children's form of work, for their job is to become themselves" (Schapiro, 1999, p.732). That is, play helps children to develop their capacities and emotions. It follows that there may be good reason to understand play and emotional development as part of one substantive good of childhood.

The goods of interaction and parental relationships also overlap. Part of what it means to interact as a child is to have "intimate and consistent relationships with others" (Malek, 2009, p.6). But interaction undertaken as part of a continuing and meaningful relationship with a caretaker might be cast as a part of parental relationships, rather than

119

as an independent good. More generally, only might be able to account for the same substantive goods of childhood with a shorter list, which would be an advantage when assessing whether a group of children is an appropriate referent for minimal risk.

Building on Kraut and Malek's theories and also informed by other discussions of substative goods, including Wendler (2010) and Nussbaum (1992;2000), I propose seven substantive goods of childhood that should be taken into account when identifying a referent for minimal risk. For a child to fare well enough to be the referent for minimal risk, the following conditions must obtain: (1) A child must be in good *health*. I take reasonably good health to refer to the absence of diseases, disorders or conditions that significantly impair (or whose medical treatment significantly impairs) normal functioning. (2) A child's biological needs must be met. Biological needs include sufficient food, water, sleep, and a safe home. (3) A child must be provided with intellectually engaging activities. Intellectually engaging activities involve activities that challenge a child's capacities. They may include playing with infants, reading to very young children, and formal education for older children. (4) A child must be involved in meaningful relationships. Meaningful relationships refers to loving attention from caregivers or guardians (i.e. parents or their equivalent). (5) A child must enjoy *unstructured, imaginative play, which includes playing outdoors, laughing, and enjoying* life. (6) A child must have *bodily integrity*, which refers to her ability to be safe from assault, including sexual assault and domestic violence. (7) A child must be happy. One plausible theory explains happiness as a sense of satisfaction, a positive attitude towards one's own life (Sumner, 1996, p.145). With respect to children, happiness consists in "what we commonly call a sense of well-being; finding your life enriching or rewarding, or feeling satisfied or fulfilled by it" (Sumner, 1996, p.146). Children fare well when they possess sufficiently high degrees of these seven substantive goods.

I've argued that the most plausible theories of welfare that are able to accommodate children's welfare involve a list of substantive goods in which children's welfare consists. I've also drawn on insights from plausible substantive good theories of welfare to compile a list of seven substantive goods that help to ensure that a child fares well enough to be the referent for minimal risk. My list avoids some of the problems encountered by other substantive good theories. It focuses on the goods of childhood in

particular, which helps to avoid the development of a plausible list of goods for adults, which don't capture children's welfare. In addition, it does not privilege rational capacities but recognizes a variety of goods that are in a child's interests. Further, it aims to limit overlap between the goods in each category to help facilitate determinations about whether children possess sufficient degrees of the substantive goods of childhood to be the referent for minimal risk. This list aims to offer a comprehensive account of the substantive goods of childhood that ensure that a child fares well enough to be the referent for minimal risk. In the next section, I consider how a research ethics board may assess whether children possess sufficiently high degrees of each of the substantive goods.

#### 4.9 Guidance

I've argued that the referent for minimal risk should be children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, that children are not unduly burdened when they fare well, and that to fare well, children must have sufficiently high degrees of the seven substantive goods of childhood. But the success of this proposal depends on addressing additional questions: For instance, what is the relationship between these goods? What does it mean to possess a sufficiently high degree of each good? And how should an ethics committee determine if a child meets the required degree for each of the goods, that is, fares well enough to be the referent for minimal risk?

The substantive goods of childhood are not interchangeable; high degrees of one good should not be traded-off against deficits of another. That is, a child cannot fare well on balance by enjoying large amounts of one good but low amounts of another. For example, receiving a great deal of love cannot make up for an inadequate amount of food and water. Similarly, having a very high degree of education will not make a child fare well if she does not possess enough happiness.

What degree of each substantive good is sufficiently high? Nussbaum distinguishes between two distinct thresholds that help to explain the degree of goods that is sufficiently high to fare well. Nussbaum's first threshold identifies a level beneath which a life is so impoverished that it cannot be considered a human life at all (Nussbaum, 1992, p.221). Her second threshold is higher. She describes it as "a somewhat higher threshold, beneath which those characteristic functions are available in such a reduced way that although we may judge the form of life a human one, we will not think it a *good* human life. The latter threshold is the one that will eventually concern us most when we turn to public policy..." (Nussbaum, 1992, p.221). Nussbaum's second threshold aims to show that receiving the bare minimum of the substantive goods is insufficient for faring well.

Nussbaum's claim that failing to possess any of the substantive goods of childhood will result in an impoverished life for a child is persuasive. It is unlikely that a child who does not have her biological needs met or has no meaningful relationships with caregivers can fare well. It follows that meeting the sufficiency requirement requires that a child must not lack any of the substantive goods of childhood. Nussbaum's claim that faring well requires more than having a bare minimal amount of each good is also persuasive. For instance, it seems reasonably uncontroversial to say that providing a child with just enough food to prevent starvation is inadequate; a child's success and satisfaction depend on having more than what is physiologically required to survive. Accordingly, faring sufficiently well requires more than a minimal amount of the substantive goods.

While it seems clear that faring well requires a child to have more than the basic minimum of each good, determining what degree of each good is 'sufficiently high' is less straightforward. One option is to understand a 'sufficiently high' degree of each good by comparison with the degree of substantive goods possessed by children determined by a research ethics board to be fairly well-off. Explaining the degree of a substantive good that is sufficiently high with reference to children determined by a research ethics board to be fairly a rigid and fixed measure of the level of each good that is sufficiently high. It leaves research ethics boards with latitude in making their determinations. But it provides a research ethics board with a reference class of children to consult when trying to assess what is "enough" of each substantive good. To put it another way, this standard directs a research ethics board's attention to the main components of a child's welfare and asks them to measure these according to a high threshold. In the rest of this chapter and in the following chapter, I will elaborate on how a research ethics board should assess whether a group of children has roughly the same

degree of the substantive goods as children who are fairly well-off.

This standard is offered by way of contrast to the healthy child interpretation, which (at least on the WHO definition of health) recognizes only children who have a "*complete* level of physical, mental, and social well-being" as healthy (WHO, 1948). My standard does not necessarily require a child to be normal, average, healthy, and to live in a safe environment. Instead, it recognizes that some children with mild diseases or disorders or who live in sub-optimally safe environments may fare well, provided that their disease or disorder (and medical care) or living situation does not impose considerably more burdens on them than those experienced by a healthier child. More generally, this standard is based on the recognition that some children in less than optimal circumstances fare well, but their circumstances should not put them at a significant disadvantage compared to other children.

One advantage of this approach is that it directs research ethics boards' attention to a relevant set of questions. For example, is an eligible study population likely to possess less of a substantive good of childhood than other groups of children? And if yes, then how much less of this good? It also provides a list of substantive goods that should be taken into account when assessing a child's welfare. Accordingly, it helps to focus attention on the morally relevant components of a child's welfare that may impact how she is treated in research. Further, assessing the degree of each good that is 'sufficient' by reference to the degree possessed by children who are reasonably advantaged helps protect children from being selected as the referent because their higher daily burdens would permit their exposure to comparably high risks in non-therapeutic research procedures. In other words, this standard helps to protect children from exploitation. But it also allows research ethics boards to use their discretion in determining which children are not unduly burdened, which may help to allow valuable research to proceed.

How should a research ethics board determine whether the eligible study population has roughly the same amount of each substantive good as a child who is fairly well-off? Procedurally, a research ethics board's determination about whether a child has enough of each substantive good should be informed by several kinds of evidence. They should consider whether there is any intuitive connection between the goals of the study and a group that is likely to be disadvantaged. For instance, a study proposing to examine attachment problems in children who grew up in orphanages targets a group of children that are hypothesized to be at risk of lacking meaningful attachments. Consequently, the eligible study population may be more likely to lack meaningful relationships and require additional scrutiny during ethics review.

In addition, a research ethics board should conduct a literature review of scientific research concerning the eligible study population. When empirical research exists, they should draw on it to inform their assessment of whether an eligible study population possesses sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods.<sup>9</sup> Of the seven substantive goods of childhood, perhaps the most research exists on how to measure health and happiness. There exist a growing number of policy measures, most of which consist in English language questionnaires, that can help assessing a child's health-related quality of life (HR-QOL) and may be of use in their determinations (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2006).

For example, the Child Health Questionnaire, developed in the U.S. for use in children ages 10-18, evaluates HR-QOL by asking children to answer questions about their physical health (including their physical ability to function, bodily pain, and general health perception) as well as their psychosocial health (including their self-esteem). The measurement results of this tool can be aggregated into physiological and psychosocial sum values (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2006). A second measurement tool, the Child Health and Illness Profile (CHIP), focuses on measuring the functional aspects of children's HR-QOL and a third, the How Are You Questionnaire (HAY), asks children to relay info about disease-related symptoms and self-management via smiley faces or pictograms (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2006). A second group of instruments provides information about the QOL of children with particular diseases, such as epilepsy, cancer, asthma, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, cystic fibrosis, gastrointestinal disorder, diabetes, eating disorders, AIDS, spina bifida, and other conditions (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2006).

Similarly, empirical research aims to develop ways of measuring roughly how happy a person or group of people are. And a subset of this research offers tools for measuring happiness in children. For example, one self-reporting tool measures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> An absence of empirical data about a substantive good of childhood may reflect a need for additional research about children's welfare.

happiness by presenting children with a horizontal sequence of drawings of faces that are identical except for the mouths, which vary from big smiles to deep frowns. Children (aged 8-12) are asked choose the drawing of the face that best corresponds to how they currently feel or feel at a particular moment (Holder, 2012, p.20). Other measures include a multi-item scale, which measures subjective happiness by asking a child four questions about how she considers herself with respect to most of her peers, a questionnaire involving multiple yes/no questions or an experience sampling method, which uses some form of a pager to signal participants at random times throughout the study and asks them to rate their current happiness level (Holder, 2012, p.20-25).

When these kinds of studies pertain to the relevant study population, a research ethics board should draw on them to inform their determination about whether a group of children has sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods of childhood, that is, whether they are likely to have comparable amounts to children who are fairly well-off. In addition to reflective judgment and literature surveys, an ethics committee should, when necessary, consult with experts to obtain more knowledge about a particular group of children. Armed with relevant evidence from these sources, a research ethics board should pass judgment on whether the eligible study population has enough of the substantive goods of childhood to be identified as reasonably well off. If the research ethics board determines that the eligible study population possess sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods to be the referent, then it is permissible for children enrolled as research subjects to face non-therapeutic procedures involving risks that are comparable to those they face in their daily lives.

These suggestions fall short of providing comprehensive guidance about the assessment of children's welfare. But they offer preliminary suggestions about how this proposal could be implemented. In the final chapter, I will elaborate on the implementation of this proposal by using the above criteria to assess whether a particular subject population fares well enough to be the referent for minimal risk.

# 4.10 Further reflections

Identifying the morally relevant criterion justifying unequal treatment between children in research as undue burden and the referent as children who fare well has several advantages. Permitting some flexibility in the treatment of children in research lines up with our intuitions that (a) some differences merit differential treatment but also (b) that variable treatment must be constrained; no interpretation should permit particularly disadvantaged children's circumstances to legitimize their exploitation in research. My interpretation guards against this kind of unfair variation by requiring that a child fare well, which takes into account her socioeconomic status and geographic location as well as her health when assessing whether she should be the referent for minimal risk. More generally, it specifies how we can meet the requirement of justice that we should treat like cases alike and unlike cases differently.

Further, identifying the referent as children who fare well offers a research friendly means by which to protect children in research. It helps to explain why any children (healthy or not) who face risks that interfere with their well-being should not face comparable risks in research procedures that do not aim to offer them the prospect of direct benefit. But it explains it in a way that allows children who are not overly burdened by difficult circumstances, like some mild illnesses, to face comparable non-therapeutic risks in research.

My proposal also offers some procedural guidance for research ethics committees. On my account, determinations do not end when a child or group of children is deemed to be unhealthy, poor or live in a resource-scare setting. Instead, it draws attention to a more nuanced set of questions, including whether children are unduly burdened by their medical or social circumstances, and whether a particular group of children face daily risks that interfere with their ability to live good lives. Determinations based on these questions will provide justifiable answers about who should be the referent for minimal risk.

It is worth pointing out that I expect there to be considerable overlap between the group of children that fare well according to my argument and those who are normal, average, healthy and living in a safe environment. The main difference between the healthy child interpretation and the undue burden interpretation is the motivation and justification. My list of substantive goods of childhood does not aim to restrict risk as much as possible but to restrict risk to the degree required by the moral principle of justice. Specifically, it is based on the idea that it is unfair to add to the burdens of the

significantly burdened (medically or otherwise) but also that it is unfair to restrict, without adequate reason, the degree of risk certain children may face in research. Thus, it identifies a similar group of children whose daily lives are morally relevant but does so for a more convincing set of reasons.

I conclude that the referent for minimal risk should not be healthy children or the subjects of the research. Instead, it should be interpreted as children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, and children are not unduly burdened by their daily lives if they fare well, that is, if they possess sufficiently high degrees of the seven substantive goods of childhood.

# Chapter 5 Case analysis

The previous four chapters focus primarily on the development of a theoretical justification for minimal risk. This is a necessary part of an interpretation of minimal risk. But it is not sufficient. More needs to be said about how this proposal works in practice and why it is persuasive. In this chapter, I take up these tasks. I provide a preliminary sketch of how my interpretation may be implemented in practice and argue that it gives rise to intuitively compelling results. To this end, I analyze a case study of a controversial trial including children. The main function of the case study is to assess whether my proposal offers clear guidance to inform a research ethics board's determination about the permissibility of a trial and further, to assess whether my proposal contributes to a determination that lines up well with common moral intuitions about the treatment of children in research. I draw on this study to show that my interpretation of minimal risk, within a broader system for the evaluation of harms and benefits, meets these criteria.

I begin by examining some implications of my proposed interpretation of minimal risk: I ask (1) what are the implications of a research ethics board determining that a group of children is unduly burdened, that is, that they do not fare well enough to be considered the referent for minimal risk? and (2) in what ways, if any, does my proposed interpretation inform the analysis of research protocols involving therapeutic procedures? Following these questions, I present a detailed analysis of the National Institute of Health's (NIH) study of human growth hormone (hGH) in children with idiopathic short stature. In the final section, I consider whether my analysis contributes to plausible results. I argue that my proposal for identifying the referent for minimal risk generates more persuasive results than the two most prominent competing interpretations.

## **5.1 Practical implications**

In the previous chapter I ask, who should be the referent for minimal risk? I answer that the referent should be a group of children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives. I argue that children who are not unduly burdened are those who fare well and defend a substantive good theory of children's welfare. In this section, I examine a related question: what are the implications of a child failing to fare well enough to be the referent for minimal risk? To put it another way, what happens when a research ethics board determines that a group of children should not be the referent for minimal risk?

One possible implication of a research ethics board determining that a child fails to fare sufficiently well is that a child should not be included in research at all. That is, if a child should not be the referent for minimal risk then she should not be a research participant full stop. One might reach this conclusion by reasoning that when a child is unduly burdened by her daily life, imposing on her the additional burdens of research would be unjust. This conclusion is problematic. It suggests that many, if not most sick children, and all those suffering from diseases and disorders whose medical treatment involves significant burdens should be excluded from research. But excluding these children from research would complicate or prevent valuable research—including research on children's cancer, diabetes, cystic fibrosis, and meningitis—which would delay the improvement of medical treatment of current and future children. Further, if this conclusion were correct, then it would follow that a great deal of the current research with children (which focuses primarily on sick children) is morally impermissible.

However, it is not the case that children who fail to fare well should be excluded from research participation. Identifying the referent for minimal risk is part of the broader project of assessing whether a research protocol involves a reasonable balance between harms and benefits. The analysis of harms and benefit aims to establish the degree of risk that is permissible in various research procedures; it is a requirement of the broader ethical principle of beneficence, which aims to ensure that benefits to research subjects are maximized and harms are minimized (Belmont Report, 1979).

Analyses of the principle of beneficence are separable from considerations about the fair selection of research subjects, which falls under the broader ethical principle of justice (and concerns the fair distribution of the burdens and benefits of research) (Belmont Report, 1979). Both of the principles of beneficence and justice are important; fulfilling the requirement of each is necessary for the ethical justification of a proposed research protocol. But they are separable and have different purviews. Harm benefit assessments govern the appropriate risk limits for research procedures. And this analysis is separable from and presupposes that a research ethics board will also consider and pass judgment on who should be the morally appropriate subject population for a trial.

The relationship between the principles is not always straightforward. Insofar as identifying the referent for minimal risk requires us to identify a group of children whose daily lives are morally relevant, it involves the selection of a group of children. But this group is morally relevant not because they are appropriate research subjects for a given protocol. Instead, the relevance of this group of children is that their daily lives involve morally defensible degrees of risk. And consequently, their daily experiences are a justifiable standard for permissible degrees of risk in non-therapeutic research procedures. Insofar as the identification of a referent for minimal risk is part of a harmbenefit assessment, it should not necessarily influence the selection of morally appropriate research subjects. That said, the moral justification of a protocol will always depend on also fulfilling the justice requirement to choose research subjects fairly.

This analysis suggests that when a child does not fare well enough to be the referent for minimal risk, she should not necessarily be excluded from research participation. A research ethics board may find that it is consistent with the requirements of justice to provide a child who does not fare well enough to be the referent for minimal risk with access to participation in a given trial. For example, a child undergoing chemotherapy for treatment of a serious cancer probably does not possess sufficient amounts of the substantive goods of childhood to fare well. But a research ethics board may still determine that she is an appropriate subject in a trial examining new methods for managing the side effects of chemotherapy. In this kind of case, the child's failure to fare well does not exclude her from research. But it does require that she receive additional protections in research. She must not be exposed to non-therapeutic research procedures involving risks comparable to those she experiences in her own daily life (given that it likely involves risks that are higher than the morally justifiable degrees of daily risks faced by children who fare sufficiently well). Instead, she must only be exposed to non-therapeutic procedures involving no more risk than that which is experienced in the daily lives of children who do fare sufficiently well.

It is worth considering whether this analysis differs with respect to the other prominent interpretations of the referent for minimal risk. Identifying the referent as the subjects of the research has no mechanism by which to provide additional research protections for a child heavily burdened by her disease. It follows that when the eligible study population for a trial is children undergoing chemotherapy for a serious cancer, then the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures should be comparable to the risks that child faces in her daily life. Thus, if a child's (imprudent) parents or guardians agreed to enroll her in this trial, she might face risks comparable to those of chemotherapy (e.g. significant discomfort or death) in research procedures administered without the prospect of benefit. These kinds of non-therapeutic risks are too high, but not clearly prohibited by the subjects of the research interpretation. Both my interpretation and the subjects of the research interpretation shan the subject of the research interpretation for sick children in research.

However, identifying the referent as healthy children yields similar results as my proposal. That is, if a child is identified as sick—and accordingly, her daily experiences are deemed inappropriate as a comparator for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures—she is not necessarily excluded from research participation. Instead, she might be included but only on the condition that the risks of non-therapeutic procedures are limited to those comparable to the risks healthy children face in daily life. Thus, the implications of a child failing to fare well enough to be the referent for minimal risk are that if she is included in a trial, she may only be exposed to non-therapeutic procedures involving risks that are comparable to the daily experiences of children who fare well (and not her own higher risk daily experiences). The main point is that the referent for minimal risk is a reference class of children whose daily lives serve as a justifiable measure for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures; identifying a group of children as the referent does not necessarily influence whether these children are appropriate research subjects.

#### **5.1.1 Implications for therapeutic research procedures**

Another important question about the implications of my argument is: in what ways, if any, does my proposed interpretation inform the analysis of research protocols involving therapeutic procedures? In chapter 1, I situate my analysis of minimal risk within a

131

broader system of analyzing harms and benefits. This system—component analysis—is based on the idea that a great deal of clinical research involves both therapeutic and nontherapeutic procedures and develops an approach found within the work of the National Commission. Therapeutic procedures and non-therapeutic procedures should be demarcated and are governed by separate moral rules (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1991; Weijer, 2000).

Minimal risk is a moral threshold governing the permissibility of non-therapeutic procedures on vulnerable populations. Accordingly, it exerts influence only over procedures that are administered in the exclusive interests of the study and not an individual subject. In other words, my interpretation of minimal risk elaborates on the assessment of non-therapeutic procedures. It has no direct impact on the moral assessment of therapeutic procedures, but it does help to identify the conditions under which a trial including therapeutic procedures may be found permissible. I've argued that all trials including therapeutic procedures also include non-therapeutic research procedures. Further, to be ethically permissible, both the therapeutic and non-therapeutic procedures of a trial must be deemed permissible. Thus, my analysis of minimal risk helps to explain the conditions under which a trial involving non-therapeutic procedures or a mixture of therapeutic and non-therapeutic procedures can be found ethically permissible.

## 5.2 The growth hormone trial

In this section, I assess the ethical permissibility of a controversial trial with children. I focus on a trial funded by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and conducted in the 1990s that examined the effects of biosynthetic growth hormone (hGH) on healthy but very short children. This study is a useful case example because it generates difficult questions about which intuitions collide. For example, are child research subjects who do not receive growth hormone therapy unfairly deprived of medical treatment? Should placebo arms be permissible in research involving children? Analyzing my interpretation of minimal risk according to this case will help to determine whether my proposal can inform the ethical assessment of research with children by providing compelling guidance in complicated cases. I argue that analyzing this trial according to my

interpretation of minimal risk (within a broader system of analyzing harms and benefits) contributes to plausible results; it provides clear guidance that can help inform a research ethics board's determinations in complicated cases. Further, it generates results that are more persuasive than those of the most prominent competing interpretations of minimal risk.

The use of hGH therapy for children has a long history in the United States, but until the past few decades, the use of hGH was limited to children with a confirmed growth hormone deficiency. Prior to the early 1980s, hGH could only be obtained from the pituitary glands of cadavers, a limited natural source, and the shortage of natural hGH resulted in it being accessible only to children with a confirmed growth hormone deficiency and usually within research protocols (Protocol Review, 1992; White, 1993; Tauer, 1994). In 1985, the FDA approval of a synthetic hGH developed through recombinant DNA technologies (genetic engineering) increased the availability of the drug and made it possible to expand its use to larger numbers of children (Tauer, 1994; White, 1993; Protocol Review, 1992).

The increase in availability contributed to an increase in prescription of hGH, not only for growth hormone deficient children, but also for children with idiopathic short stature, that is, healthy but very short children.<sup>10</sup> The increase in the use of hGH treatment for children with idiopathic short stature was motivated, at least in part, by demand. Many families of children with short stature seek medical intervention (Leschek et al., 2004). Short stature is one of the most common complaints received by pediatric endocrinologists, and hGH treatment is often considered (Cuttler et al., 1996). A survey of pediatric endocrinologists in the United States revealed that 94% of respondents reported recommending hGH treatment for some children with idiopathic short stature (Cuttler et al., 1996).

However, the increase in growth hormone treatment occurred in spite of inadequate testing of its safety and efficacy in non-GH deficient children (Lescheck et al.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Idiopathic short stature is defined as a "condition in which the height of an individual is more than 2 SD (SDS) below the corresponding mean height for a given age, sex, and population group without evidence of systemic, endocrine, nutritional, or chromosomal abnormalities" (Cohen et al., 2008). It is a heterogeneous group of children with many different and currently unidentified causes of short stature (Cohen et al., 2008).

2004; Allen, 2011). Bercu reports that the results of hGH treatment in children with idiopathic short stature reported at scientific meetings in the 1990s (the time of the NIH trial) were inconclusive. Some studies found that the intervention increased the children's height while others concluded that it did not (Bercu, 1996). Further, little was known about the satisfaction of the patient-subjects and their families with the result of the intervention. And the hGH treatment is accompanied by risks, including allergy, impaired glucose tolerance, pseudotumor cerebri, hyperlipidemia, slipped capital femoral epiphysis, transient peripheral edema, exaggeration of scoliosis, and leukemia (Bercu, 1996). It follows that more and better information about the use of hGH is needed to help determine whether hGH therapy is safe and effective for children with idiopathic short stature.

The NIH study aimed to generate knowledge that might help to inform hGH prescribing practices for non-deficient children. The study—a randomized, double-blind placebo controlled trial—aimed to investigate the effects of growth hormone therapy on the adult height of non-growth hormone deficient children with idiopathic short stature. It included 80 subjects—girls between the ages of 9 and 14 and boys between the age of 10 and 15<sup>11</sup>—who were healthy but at least a 2.25 standard deviation below the mean height (Protocol report, 1992).<sup>12</sup> Children in the trial were randomized either to the intervention group and received growth hormone or to the control group, which received placebo injections. The growth hormone or placebo injections were administered by three subcutaneous injections per week until the child's bone age reached maturity, that is, until bone growth has ended. The total number of shots for each child in the study ranged from 600 to 1,100 (Protocol report, 1992). And because the study was double-blind, the

134

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> My definition of a child—people below the legal age of consent who lack autonomy and competence—may exclude some of the older subjects in this study. But for the purposes of this case analysis, which aims primarily to demonstrate how to put my proposed interpretation of minimal risk into practice and why this is useful, I will treat the group of research subjects as children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The protocol's inclusion criteria were amended to 2.5 SD below the mean in 1987, but then amended back to 2.25 SD below the mean in 1990 (Protocol review, 1992). For North American adults, a 2.5 standard deviation below the mean is 5'3 for men and 4'10.5 for women (Tauer, 1994).

children in the placebo group received the same procedures—including the three weekly injections as well as regular check ups—as those in the intervention group.

This study generated controversy. An institutional review board<sup>13</sup> initially deemed the study ethically permissible and a special panel convened to review the protocol midway through agreed. But others, including the Physicians' Committee for Responsible Medicine and the Foundation on Economic Trends (who called for a halt to the study midway through which led to the second review) as well as some ethicists (see Tauer, 1994 and Kopelman, 2002<sup>14</sup>) were less convinced. Both sides appealed to common moral intuitions as well as guidance governing the ethics of research with children in the U.S. in reaching their conclusions. But no consensus was reached. In the following, I examine this study according to my proposed definition of minimal risk within a systematic framework for analyzing harms and benefits. I argue that my interpretation offers principled guidance about how to determine the permissibility of this study and generates determinations that are more persuasive than those reached by competing interpretations of minimal risk.

In chapter 1, I proposed that component analysis provides the most successful conceptual framework for analyzing harms and benefits. In the following, I analyze the NIH growth hormone trial according to the moral requirements of component analysis (which relies on a minimal risk threshold). To recall, one main insight of component analysis is that clinical research often involves interventions administered with different purposes—some aim to benefit the individual research subject while others are administered exclusively to answer the scientific question at hand (Miller & Weijer, 2005). Moreover, these different interventions should be assessed according to different moral rules. Accordingly, the first step of component analysis is to demarcate the study procedures. The NIH growth hormone trial involved a number of procedures. To help determine eligibility, prospective subjects would be admitted to the clinical center at NIH for a 3-day initial evaluation that includes:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In the U.S., the ethical review of trials is conducted by institutional review boards, which are similar to the research ethics boards that assess the permissibility of research protocols in Canada.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Kopelman reports that the protocol review committee did not reach a unanimous decision that the trial was ethically permissible.

- Provocative tests of hGH response
- Standard blood and urine tests
- Tests of growth and bone maturity including X ray and MRI scans
- Nude photographs against a height grid
- Regularly repeated blood samples to measure the levels of hGH and other hormones, and
- Behavioural and psychological assessments. (Tauer, 1994).

Children accepted into the study undergo a number of other procedures:

- Subcutaneous growth hormone injections or saline injections administered three times a week for the duration of the study
- Some children in the study are randomized to a no treatment control
- Every 6 months, a child will return for blood and urine tests, body measurements, assessment of possible immune response to the study drug, and bone age X-rays.
- At the end of the first 6 months, each child would be readmitted to the clinic for three days for additional overnight measurements similar to those in the initial evaluation.
- After this 3 day visit, regularly scheduled visit (6 months or annual) during which some of the above measurements were repeated (Tauer, 1994).

# **5.3 Demarcating the procedures**

In this section, I will demarcate the therapeutic and non-therapeutic research procedures of the growth hormone trial. Which procedures are therapeutic? Therapeutic procedures are those administered on the basis of evidence that they may benefit individual research subjects. These include both procedures administered during the course of a trial that are also part of standard medical care (and would likely be performed irrespective of a person's research participation) as well as experimental interventions aiming to benefit a subject.

It follows that demarcating the therapeutic procedures of this trial depends on identifying the components of standard care for the eligible study population. What does

standard clinical care involve for a child with idiopathic short stature? The diagnosis of idiopathic short stature is made by excluding underlying medical causes of short stature. Thus, when a very short child (and her family) seek medical help, standard care usually involves a number of procedures, most of which aim to exclude the possibility that she has a disease causing her short stature.

The first step is for a doctor to perform an initial evaluation to exclude any nonendocrine systemic diseases that may be causing the growth failure (Moshang, 2005, p.159). This evaluation includes a detailed history (including family history) and a comprehensive physical examination involving phenotypic characteristics, body proportions, and pubertal staging (Cohen et al., 2008; Van den Brande & Rappaport, 1993, p.192). A critical part of these examination are accurate height and weight measures in addition to carefully plotted growth curves (Moshang, 2005, p.157). When the medical history and physical examination do not suggest a particular diagnosis, a variety of screening lab tests are recommended (Cohen et al., 2008). A bone age x-ray should be examined to help determine the child's growth potential and to narrow the differential diagnosis, a measurement of IGF-I (insulin-like growth factor test), and in some instances, a skeletal survey (Cohen et al., 2008).

Once non-endocrine underlying diseases have been ruled out, a pediatric endocrinologist examines whether the child has a growth hormone deficiency. No single test or set of tests can accurately identify growth hormone deficiency. Consequently, this diagnosis requires clinical as well as biochemical evaluation (Cohen et al., 2008). If growth hormone deficiency is ruled out and a child is determined to have idiopathic short stature, no treatment is usually prescribed, but regular doctor's visits are recommended to evaluate growth patterns. And at times, if puberty is significantly delayed, a clinician may also consider giving a 3 to 6 month course of sex hormones (Van der Brande & Rappaport, 1993, p.192).

Information about the procedures undertaken in standard care helps to determine which of the study procedures are therapeutic. Any intervention that a child seeking medical intervention would undergo irrespective of trial participation should be considered a therapeutic procedure. Consequently, a number of the trial interventions are therapeutic. All the procedures involved in the three day initial evaluation—hGH response tests, blood and urine tests, tests of growth and bone maturity, nude photos against a height grid, blood samples, as well as behavioural and psychological assessments—are part of (or very similar to) the process a child would undergo in standard care as a clinician makes a diagnosis of idiopathic short stature. Thus, these are therapeutic procedures. Some of the follow up visits at regular intervals (the annual visits) repeating measurements are also therapeutic, as they resemble the interventions a child would undertake in standard care.

The visit at six months that repeats the procedures performed during the initial evaluation is harder to demarcate. Repeating the procedures of the initial evaluation seems superfluous to a child's care, which suggests that these are non-therapeutic procedures. But there may be good medical reasons for repeating the procedures. It is difficult to accurately diagnose hGH deficiency; no single test or set of tests can make an accurate diagnosis (Cohen et al., 2008). Further, a particular series of tests may suggest a child to be non-deficient even if she actually lacks adequate growth hormone (Tauer, 1994). Given that different treatment is suggested for children who are GH deficient, it may be in the medical interests of a child to undergo further testing to help confirm the diagnosis of idiopathic short stature. Thus, repeating these interventions may help to rule out the possibility that a child's short stature is the result of an endocrine dysfunction requiring treatment and may be best understood as part of good or optimal clinical care. Accordingly, these procedures should also be considered therapeutic.

In addition, the study's main active interventions, the therapeutic growth hormone injections and the no treatment control are therapeutic procedures. These are therapeutic procedures not because they are part of standard care, but because they are research interventions administered based on evidence that they may be in the medical interests of the research subjects.

It seems reasonably straightforward that the study's main non-therapeutic interventions are the three weekly injections for children randomized to the placebo group. These interventions are administered in the interest of answering the study question and not to benefit particular research subjects. In addition, the three-day overnight visits to the NIH clinical centre (to determine study eligibility and then repeated after six months or study enrollment) and some of the follow-up visits involving measurements are non-therapeutic procedures. These procedures are not part of standard care and are not administered in the therapeutic interests of the research subject.

# **5.4 Evaluating the therapeutic procedures**

Once the study procedures are demarcated, component analysis proceeds by evaluating the therapeutic procedures and non-therapeutic procedures according to separate moral rules. Therapeutic procedures must meet the requirement of clinical equipoise, that is, they must be consistent with competent medical care (Weijer & Miller, 2004). As described above, some of the therapeutic procedures of the NIH growth hormone study—including the blood and urine tests, body measurements, tests of growth and bone maturity, and the behavioural and psychological assessments—are part of standard or optimal medical care for children with short stature. It follows that they are consistent with competent medical care, that is, they meet component analysis' requirements for therapeutic procedures.

Determining whether the main active interventions, the growth hormone injections and the no treatment control meet the requirement of clinical equipoise requires careful scrutiny. To determine whether these interventions meet the requirement of clinical equipoise, a research ethics board should ask two questions: (1) is the evidence supporting the experimental intervention sufficient that, were it widely known, expert practitioners would disagree about the preferred treatment? (2) Is the control group being unfairly deprived of the experimental or proven, effective treatment? A research ethics board must answer yes to the first question and no to the second for the therapeutic procedures of the trial to be permissible.

To answer the first question, a research ethics board should examine whether there is disagreement within the community of expert practitioners about the efficacy of hGH for healthy children. A survey of the medical literature reveals that experts disagree about the safety and efficacy of hGH in healthy children. Several studies provide evidence that children with idiopathic short stature may benefit from an increase in height as the result of hGH interventions (Genentech Collaborative Study Group, 1989; Gertner et al., 1984). For example, the Genentech Collaborative Study Group's trial of 121 children with idiopathic short stature found that treating children with idiopathic short stature with growth hormone for one year significantly increased their mean growth rate. They report that roughly 75% of children in the treatment group had an incremental increase in growth rate of more than 2 cm, whereas children in the control group showed no increase in predicted height (Genentech Collaborative Study Group, 1989).

However, others disagree; Allen argues that height gain attributed to hGH may be overestimated because untreated children with idiopathic short stature often show a spontaneous increase in height with age (Allen, 2006). Others agree that while hGH may help to increase height in children with idiopathic short stature in the short term, it has no effect on their overall adult height (Hintz et al., 1999; Allen & Fost, 1990). Some have also raised concerns about the role of hGH in the development and progression of certain cancers (Stoll, 1992). Finally, recent studies summarizing the current state of knowledge about the effects of hGH on short but healthy children conclude that the risks and benefits remain uncertain (Allen, 2011; Cohen & Cosgrove, 2010; Allen, 2006). The disagreement among expert practitioners over hGH treatment for healthy but short children suggests that a state of clinical equipoise exists.

To meet the moral requirements of clinical equipoise, researchers and research ethics committee should also examine whether the control group is being unfairly deprived of the experimental treatment. Unfair deprivation of an experimental intervention occurs when a subject's participation in a trial prevents her from receiving a therapy that she would otherwise receive as part of standard care. Children in the control arm of this trial receive a no treatment control. Are they unduly deprived of hGH? Allen and Fost reason that evidence suggesting that healthy children may respond to hGH interventions combined with the fact that hGH therapy is the standard medical intervention for children who are hGH deficient provides a compelling reason to provide healthy children with hGH treatment. Further, they think that depriving healthy but very short children of hGH treatment would be unfair discrimination on the basis of growth hormone deficiency (Allen & Fost, 1990). And if healthy but very short children are entitled to hGH treatment, then it follows that subjects in the placebo arm of the NIH trial would be unduly deprived of standard care.

However, a closer analysis reveals that offering no treatment to very short but medically normal children is consistent with standard care. A placebo control is morally appropriate in several circumstances, including when there is no standard therapy for the condition of interest, and when treatment exists but "no treatment" is nonetheless consistent with competent medical care (Freedman, 1990; Weijer & Miller, 2004). For example, treatments exist for some minor medical conditions, like mild hypertension, but a competent physician may nonetheless recommend no treatment. In these kinds of situations, the use of a placebo control for minor medical conditions is permissible (Weijer & Miller, 2004). For children who are very short but medically normal, there is no standard intervention. Some physicians offer hGH treatment but others—perhaps because of safety or efficacy concerns as well as concerns over the cost or availability of the drug—prescribe no treatment at all. As a result, it seems reasonable for a research ethics board to conclude that subjects in the control arm of the NIH study were not unduly deprived of standard care. Given that a research ethics board could reasonably find that all the study's therapeutic procedures meet the requirements of clinical equipoise, the NIH growth hormone trial meets component analysis's moral requirements for therapeutic procedures.

### 5.5 Evaluating the non-therapeutic procedures

The next step of component analysis is to assess the permissibility of the study's nontherapeutic procedures. Given that non-therapeutic procedures are administered to generate scientific knowledge and not for the benefit of an individual research subject, they must meet different moral requirements. Non-therapeutic procedures must be (1) minimized consistent with sound research design, (2) reasonable in relation to the knowledge that may be gained from the study, and (3) when a study involves a vulnerable population, a threshold should be invoked to limit the degree of non-therapeutic risks to which vulnerable subjects may be exposed (Weijer & Miller, 2004).

A research ethics board can help to ensure that the risks of a study are minimized consistent with sound scientific design by protecting patient-subjects from undergoing any additional procedures above and beyond those required to meet the scientific ends of the study (Miller & Weijer, 2006). Procedurally, risks of non-therapeutic procedures can be minimized by substituting procedures which are already being performed on the subjects during the course of their regular treatment and diagnoses (Weijer & Miller,

2004). For example, extra blood could be drawn for research purposes during a clinically indicated blood draw, thereby reducing the number of venipunctures a patient-subject must undergo (Weijer & Miller, 2004). The risks of non-therapeutic procedures can also be minimized when such procedures are administered by qualified health professionals.

Are the non-therapeutic procedures of the NIH growth hormone trial minimized consistent with sound scientific design? This trial involves a sham intervention—the administration of three saline injections a week to subjects in the control group for the duration of the trial. For these to be morally permissible, it must be the case that sound trial design requires this kind of control group. That is, it must be the case that the study would be compromised without the placebo injections. The primary motivation for including placebo injections in a trial is to preserve anonymity, which requires that subjects in the placebo arm undergo similar procedures as those undertaken by subjects in the experimental arm (Weijer, 2002). Blinding aims to protect the outcome of a trial from being affected by the placebo effect.<sup>15</sup> But is blinding an indispensable feature of this trial? The outcome measures of the growth hormone trial include measurements of a child's height and weight. These outcome measures seem less likely to be affected by a placebo effect than other kinds of outcome measures, such as one's psychological wellbeing. That is, it seems implausible that a psychologically induced response will affect a child's height. But if this is the case, then the rationale for including sham procedures is not compelling; the trial might have been conducted unblinded, which suggests that the risks were not minimized consistent with sound scientific design.

Still, there may be good reasons for this trial to include the sham procedures. In their examination of the trial, the NIH protocol review panel identified the necessity of the placebo arm as a central question for analysis. They examined trial designs with other kinds of control groups and found them wanting. With respect to an unblinded study, they write:

The disadvantage is the concern that the placebo group will gradually become less of a true control group as they differentially receive other ancillary therapies, and also as a significant number of them probably receive hGH outside the study. There

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The placebo effect is when the administration of an intervention leads to a psychologically induced response (Protocol Report, 1992).

are multiple examples from other clinical trials demonstrating that this is a real

concern, not just a theoretical concern. (Protocol Report, 1992, p.24) In making their determination, the panel took into account the small number of subjects enrolled in the trial, which was thought to complicate obtaining precise and credible results as well as the possibility that a placebo effect could lead to misleading trial results (Protocol Review, 1992). The panel concluded that in general, the best scientific design for a clinical trial is the randomized, double-blind concurrent control design and with respect to the growth hormone trial, "[m]ost members of the committee agreed that the study should be continued with double-blind, placebo controls" (involving the sham procedures) (Protocol Report, 1992, p.25).

The committee's determination is controversial; they do not provide adequate information about why an unblinded study would result in insuperable problems of compliance and the panel itself reports that they did not receive enough information to either support or dispute the likelihood of a placebo effect (Protocol Report, 1992, p.25). But for present purposes, it is sufficient to recognize that there may be sound scientific reasons to include the placebo arm, that is, the non-therapeutic procedures of the trial may be minimized consistent with sound scientific design.

Assuming that this requirement has been met, does the NIH trial meet component analysis' other constraints for non-therapeutic research procedures? In order to meet the second constraint—that risks associated with non-therapeutic procedures must be reasonable in relation to the knowledge to be gained—a research ethics board must pass judgment on whether the social priorities of the research stand in reasonable relation to the risks involved in the proposed procedures. This judgment relies on the research ethics board members' scientific expertise as well as the community members' appraisal of the social value of the research being pursued (Miller & Weijer, 2006b; Weijer, 2000). They must find that study risks are not excessive and that the study question is sufficiently important.

The current study includes three saline injections a week, every week, for multiple years. These injections are accompanied by the risks of inconvenience, discomfort, and pain. Specifically, subcutaneous injections may result in bruising, swelling or redness. Given that the total number of injections involved in the study falls between 600-1100

shots over multiple years—each of which may be accompanied by some or all of these burdens—the non-therapeutic risks of this study are not trivial.

On the other hand, the knowledge likely to be gained from the study is valuable. Short stature may be socially stigmatizing and, in some cases, can contribute to psychological problems as well as economic disadvantages (Allen & Fost, 1990). Perhaps for these reasons or as the result of these sorts of concerns, parents are increasingly requesting growth hormone for their children (Tauer, 1994). Further, in spite of inadequate testing of its safety and efficacy in non-GH deficient children, many children with idiopathic short stature have or are currently receiving growth hormone treatment (Lescheck et al., 2004; Allen, 2011). At the time of the study, the NIH panel estimated that roughly 15,000 children in the U.S. were receiving growth hormone therapy, and many of them were not deficient (Protocol Report, 1992, p.7). Consequently, finding out whether this treatment is safe and effective is valuable. It can help to determine what treatment is in the best interest of children with idiopathic short stature. In this case, the risks of the study are non-trivial but the knowledge to be gained is of considerable social and scientific merit. Consequently, it seems reasonable for a research ethics board to judge that the risks are reasonable in relation to the knowledge to be gained.

Component analysis's third constraint on non-therapeutic procedures is that when the research involves a vulnerable population, non-therapeutic risks must be restricted. When the trial involves a vulnerable population, it is not sufficient that the risks be reasonable in relation to the knowledge to be gained, they must also be limited to a low degree. Following the U.S. DHHS regulations, component analysis restricts the upper level of risk involved in non-therapeutic procedures to a minor increase over minimal risk, that is, a minor increase over the risks ordinarily encountered in daily life (Weijer & Miller, 2004). In chapter 2, I argued that for non-therapeutic research procedures to be justifiable, they should pose no more than minimal risk (rather than a minor increase over minimal risk). Accordingly, in the following, I will use minimal risk as the threshold for permissible non-therapeutic procedures within component analysis' framework for assessing harms and benefits.

How should a research ethics board assess whether non-therapeutic risks surpass the minimal risk threshold? To determine whether a study's non-therapeutic risks exceed minimal risk, a research ethics board should ask two questions: (1) Is the group of children eligible for study population unduly burdened? (2) Are the non-therapeutic risks of this trial the same as, or sufficiently similar to, the risks the eligible study population faces in daily life? For the non-therapeutic procedures of a trial to be permissible, a research ethics board must answer no to the first question and yes to the second.

To answer the first question, a research ethics board must examine whether the eligible subject population, in this case children with idiopathic short stature, fares well. That is, they must consider whether this group of children is likely to possess sufficiently high degree of the seven substantive goods of childhood (i.e. health; biological needs; intellectually engaging activity; meaningful relationships; unstructured, imaginative play; bodily integrity; and happiness). In the previous chapter, I proposed that sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods should be determined by reference to children who are fairly well-off. Procedurally, a research ethics board should make this determination based on considerations about whether the eligible study population has similar degrees of the substantive goods of childhood as children who are reasonably advantaged. This determination should be informed by reflective judgment, a review of scientific literature addressing the relevant population group, and, when necessary, consultation with experts.

Does the eligible study population possess comparable degrees of meaningful relationships, intellectually engaging activity, biological needs, unstructured, imaginative play, bodily integrity, happiness, and health as children who are fairly well off? In making this determination, a research ethics board should consider the context of the study, including its location as well as any defining socio-economic particularities about the group of children it aims to recruit. The eligible study population in the NIH trial is American children who seek medical intervention for their short stature. These children are also likely to be from reasonably affluent families. Thus, a research ethics board should consider whether affluent, American children with idiopathic short stature meet sufficiently high degrees of the seven goods of childhood.

Some peer-reviewed studies offer reasons to think that these children are part of caring families and have good educational opportunities available to them. For instance, the fact that children with short stature and their families often seek the advice of pediatric endocrinologists (Protocol Review, 1992; Cohen et al., 2008; Tauer, 1994)

suggests that many children with idiopathic short stature are part of loving families who care about their child's physical and social well-being. Further, a number of studies examining the impact of idiopathic short stature on children's lives use school performance as one of their outcome measures; they measure children with idiopathic short stature's school performances against those of their normal height peers (Downie et al., 1997; Sandberg & Voss, 2002). This suggests that children with idiopathic short stature have access to similar intellectually engaging activities as their normal height peers. They attend the same schools and have access to comparable educational opportunities.

In addition, there is some evidence suggesting that this group of children has their biological needs met. As noted above, idiopathic short stature is defined as "a condition in which the height of an individual is more than 2 SD score (SDS) below the corresponding mean height for a given age, sex, and population group without evidence of systemic, endocrine, *nutritional*, or chromosomal abnormalities" (Cohen et al., 2008, emphasis added). That is, part of the definition for this condition is that a child's short stature is not caused by nutritional deficiencies. It follows that in reaching a diagnosis of idiopathic short stature, a clinician will establish that some of a child's biological needs (her nutritional needs) are being met. Further, the context of the study, including its geographic location, as well as the way the eligible study population is constructed is reassuring. Children recruited for trial participation are from a developed country and a population group that seems likely to possess fairly high degrees of the substantive goods of meaningful relationships, education, and biological needs. Based on these kinds of considerations, it seems reasonable for a research ethics board to determine that children with idiopathic short stature have sufficiently high degrees of these goods.

Determining whether children with idiopathic short stature have sufficient degrees of unstructured, imaginative play, and bodily integrity is more complicated. A literature search reveals no studies examining correlations between idiopathic short stature and these components of a child's welfare. More of these studies would help to determine whether children with idiopathic short stature have sufficiently high degrees of these substantive goods. But there is no plausible intuitive connection between play or bodily integrity and a child's height. Consequently, it seems reasonable for a research ethics board to determine that children with idiopathic short stature also possess sufficiently high degrees of these substantive goods.

What about happiness and health? Meeting the requirement for happiness and health seems to pose the most formidable challenge for children with idiopathic short stature. One main reason that parents and their very short children seek medical help is because of the concern that a child's short stature will contribute to problems in her normal functioning, which may, in turn have a negative impact on her happiness. The concern for these children is that they will experience ridicule or bullying from their peers that will render them worse off than children of normal height.

This concern is reflected in some analyses of children with short stature and the efficacy of growth hormone intervention. For example, Law (1987) claims that "few paediatricians would deny that children with extreme short stature face a disability that may affect their physical, psychological, and social well-being" (Law, 1987, p.855) and concludes that these children face high incidences of behavioural disorder, the most prominent of which are social isolation and lack of appropriate aggressive drive. Similarly, Allen and Fost find that school problems occur more often in children of short stature, which contributes to these children's feeling of incompetence and low selfesteem (Allen & Fost, 1990). It follows that a research ethics board should examine whether children with idiopathic short stature have enough of these substantive goods carefully.

A literature review found no studies examining the happiness of children with short stature directly, but several HR-QOL studies offer insight that pertain to children with idiopathic short stature's happiness in addition to their health. That is, these studies often measure self-esteem, which relates to a person's life-satisfaction (i.e. happiness), in addition to other aspects of health or function. Thus, the HR-QOL studies offer valuable information that can help to inform a determination about whether children with idiopathic short stature possess comparable degrees of happiness and health to children who are fairly well off.

The most recent HR-QOL studies suggest that children with short stature's quality of life is similar to that of normal height children (Ferguson, 2011). For example, Ross and colleagues (2004) following a group of 68 children (including children with

idiopathic short stature and regular height controls between ages 9-16 years old) over four years found that short stature was not associated with problems in psychological adaptation or self-concept in children with idiopathic short stature. Parent's responses to a child behavioural checklist and children's responses to a self-perception profile and silhouette appreciation technique revealed no significant differences between children with idiopathic short stature and the control group (Ross et al., 2004). Other studies show similar results. Downie and colleagues (1997) found no significant difference between children with idiopathic short stature and normal height controls on measures of selfesteem, self-perception, parent's perception or behaviour (Downie et al., 1997). Sandberg and Voss conclude that short stature holds little value as a predictor of quality of life (Sandberg & Voss, 2002). And a consensus statement on the diagnosis and treatment of children with idiopathic short stature finds that "[o]verall, both clinical and population studies indicate that most short individuals are functioning within the broad range of normalcy" (Cohen et al., 2008, p.4212). Sandberg and Voss summarize the situation well. They write:

The association between short stature and psychological disadvantage 'has been found largely on older, poorly designed clinic-based studies and laboratory investigations of beliefs about the association between stature and individual characteristics. In contrast, data from more recent and better designed clinical and community-based studies show that, in terms of psychosocial functioning, individuals with short stature are largely indistinguishable from their peers. (Voss & Sandberg, 2004, abstract)

The most recent literature suggests that children with idiopathic short stature's quality of life, which measures components of the substantive goods of health and happiness, is roughly comparable to that of children without idiopathic short stature. They may be at higher risk for some psychosocial problems, such as low self-esteem and being bullied. But these risk factors may have more to do with other factors—including parental attitudes—than with a child's short stature (Cohen et al., 2008). The literature suggests that children's responses to idiopathic short stature vary considerably and it is difficult to make accurate generalizations about them as a group (Cohen et al., 2008), but that overall, their daily lives are roughly comparable to those of their taller peers. Based on

these kinds of evidence, it is reasonable for a research ethics board to conclude that children with idiopathic short stature, as a reference class, are likely to possess sufficiently high degrees of health and happiness to fare well. It follows that a research ethics board may plausibly find that children are not unduly burdened by idiopathic short stature, that is, they may plausible answer 'no' to the first question. It follows that children with idiopathic short stature eligible for trial participation (in addition to other children who fare well) should be considered the referent for minimal risk in this study.

Nonetheless, it does not necessarily follow that the non-therapeutic procedures of the study are permissible. To recall, meeting the minimal risk threshold requires that a research ethics board also answer a second question: are the non-therapeutic risks of this trial the same as, or sufficiently similar, to the risks of daily life? This second question aims to ensure that procedures identified as minimal risk not only refer to a justifiable study population but also pose degrees of risk that are comparable, or sufficiently comparable, to the daily experiences of these children.

To answer the second question, a research ethics board should reason by analogy (Freedman, Fuks, & Weijer, 1993); they should consider whether the degree and kind of risk posed by the non-therapeutic procedures are sufficiently similar to the degree and kind of risk the referent is likely to face in daily life, for instance, the kinds of risks encountered during the performance of routine physical examinations or tests. What experiences are involved in the daily lives of children with idiopathic short stature? When a child and her family seek medical help for very short stature, they are likely to undergo a series of doctor visits and tests to help rule out diseases and establish a diagnosis of idiopathic short stature. Some of these procedures—such as tests of bone maturity—differ from procedures a healthy child would undergo in a routine examination. Further, once a diagnosis of idiopathic short stature is made, a child will have routine check-ups with a doctor that will involve height and weight measurements. These visits may be more frequent or involve more careful examinations than those faced by a taller child of the same age.

In addition, a child with idiopathic short stature's daily life is likely to involve similar experiences as those of normal height children living in the United States, such as riding a bicycle, riding in a car, and attending school. Thus, the daily experiences of children with idiopathic short stature are likely to involve more medical tests to establish that they are not growth hormone deficient and more frequent doctor visits than healthy normal height children but also average daily activities such as attending school and playing with friends. Their daily experiences are perhaps best understood as being different from those of healthy normal height American children, but not necessarily unduly burdensome.

Are the risks of the study's three day visits to the NIH clinical center (repeated twice) as well as 600-1100 saline injections administered for up to seven years comparable to what children with idiopathic short stature would experience daily? Children with idiopathic short stature may visit the doctor more frequently than some other children, but these visits do not involve overnight stays. Further, the standard care of children with idiopathic short stature does not usually involve growth hormone therapy. Consequently, they are unlikely to receive three weekly injections over a long period of time. This seems to suggest that the non-therapeutic risks of this study are not comparable to the daily risks of a child with idiopathic short stature.

However, the fact that these interventions are not part of the risks that a child literally faces on a daily basis does not necessarily suggest that the study's injection regimen poses more than minimal risk. A risk of daily life may be the risk involved in an activity undertaken by all or a majority of children on a daily basis. But it may also be an activity undertaken by all or most children less frequently as long as the risks posed are the kind of risks that are and should be accepted by society or by responsible parents on behalf of their children.<sup>16</sup> Accordingly, a useful rule of thumb to help determine what counts as a risk of daily life is that these risks may be thought of as a background level of risk accepted by most reasonable members of society and by responsible parents on behalf of their children. In other words, the degree of risk that should count as minimal may be the literal risks of daily life or a background level of risk accepted by society and by responsible parents on behalf of their children. The responsible parents of risk accepted by society and by responsible parents of behalf of their children. In other words, the degree of risk that should count as minimal may be the literal risks of daily life or a background level of risk accepted by society and by responsible parents on behalf of their children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> I've argued (in chapter 2) that socially accepted risks are morally relevant because they are part of a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and the pursuit of the kinds of lives we find valuable.

Do the growth hormone trial's non-therapeutic procedures pose more than minimal risk understood in this way? It seems reasonably likely that responsible parents will agree that an extra doctor visit or two a year involving a detailed physical exam (above and beyond those encountered by children with idiopathic short stature face in practice) fall within the background range of risks that are permissible for a responsible parent to undertake on behalf of her child. It follows that while these are not part of the risks children with idiopathic short stature literally face on a daily basis, they might reasonably be found to involve no more than minimal risk.

The 3-day overnight visit to determine trial eligibility and repeated after six months of the trial is less straightforward. It would be reasonable for some parents to be concerned about the potential stress caused to a child by these overnight visits. The overnight visits take place in a carefully regulated clinical center with trained professionals, but overnight visits in unfamiliar clinical settings involving medical tests seem likely to cause stress for many children. Accordingly, there is some reason to think that these risks may be considered higher than children's daily risks of the background level of permissible risks a parent should undertake on behalf of her child or at least to think that reasonable parents may disagree about whether these risks should count as minimal.

Further, the study's non-therapeutic procedures involved subcutaneous injections administered three times a week for up to seven years. Do thrice weekly saline injections pose more than minimal risk? In their discussion of the degree of risk posed by these interventions, the protocol review committee reported "disagreement on how heavily to weigh the pain, discomfort, and inconvenience of the many shots each child would receive" (Protocol Review, 1992, p.16). Accordingly, it is perhaps unsurprising that the panel's discussion of the risks of this intervention is unclear. On the one hand, the report claims that only one member of the group identified the discomfort and inconvenience of the injections as more than a minor increase over minimal risk (Protocol Review, 1992, p.16). But this is hard to reconcile with the committee's claim that the "requirement for multiple injections represented, if not a substantial risk, nonetheless one significantly greater than minimal, especially with respect to potential benefits' (Protocol Review, 1992, p. 16; Tauer, 1994). While it is unclear whether the committee determined the

study to pose a minor increase over minimal risk or a higher degree, all committee members agreed that the risks of the injections posed more than minimal risk (Protocol Review, 1992). This determination by experts provides some reason to think that the risks of the injections pose more than minimal risk.

Further, Tauer points out that there is some information available about children's reactions to long-term administration of growth hormone that may be instructive in determining the risks of the trial injections (Tauer, 1994). She draws attention to Rotnem and colleagues' examination of the psychological responses of children receiving growth hormone injections. Rotnem and colleagues found that some children receiving growth hormone injections "saw themselves as victims of painful and useless injections, and persistently or intermittently resisted the shots and directed angry feelings toward their parents" (Rotnem et al., 1979, p.516). This study suggests that some children will experience three weekly injections as burdensome. But it does not provide conclusive evidence. It measured only 11 children, a small sample size that may not be representative of the experiences of a broader group of children with idiopathic short stature. And further, some of the children studied demonstrated mild symptoms of depression before the growth hormone treatment (Rotnem et al., 1979). Accordingly, this study is perhaps best understood as offering limited evidence that children may have adverse reactions to these injections.

More research about the way children with idiopathic short stature experience injections should be undertaken and will help to determine the degree of risk posed by placebo injections for children with idiopathic short stature. But even with the deficit of clear evidence about children's reactions to these injections, it seems reasonable to determine that these interventions pose more than minimal risk. Each saline injection poses some risk of discomfort, inconvenience, pain, swelling, redness or bruising. In addition, the large quantity of injections (600-1100) combined with the length of the study (up to roughly seven years) increases the likelihood of subjects experiencing adverse reactions to these injections. The additional procedures undertaken by a child with short stature in standard care are mostly measurements, which are less invasive than injections. Further, this number of injections seems to pose more than the usual daily risk that a responsible parent might permit for a child. It follows that a research ethics board would be justified in determining that the risks of the non-therapeutic saline injections pose more than the risks of daily life.

Given that a trial may only be found permissible provided that the risks of a study's non-therapeutic procedures do not exceed a justifiable threshold and these risks exceed the minimal risk threshold, the NIH growth hormone trial does not meet the requirements for non-therapeutic procedures and consequently, should be found ethically impermissible. In the following section, I will consider how this determination differs from—and is more persuasive than—the prominent competing interpretations of minimal risk.

# 5.6 Further reflections

The above analysis of the NIH short stature trial demonstrates that my interpretation of minimal risk, applied within component analysis's framework for the evaluation of harms and benefits, offers practical guidance to research ethics boards assessing the permissibility of research protocols. If my arguments are successful, then one main advantage of my proposal is that it offers clear guidance based on sound reasoning. It helps to focus research ethics boards' attention on morally relevant questions, provides a standard according to which to make determinations, and suggests relevant sources of empirical information to consult that may inform a determination. This guidance may help to produce clear answers in difficult cases. But ultimately, the success of my proposal depends on more than its ability to yield clear answers. Another important measure of an ethical argument's success is whether it yields conclusions that are persuasive. In particular, my argument should contribute to determinations that are more persuasive than those of other prominent interpretations of minimal risk.

It is worth emphasizing that the reason the growth hormone trial may be found ethically impermissible is because the risks of the study's saline injections pose more than the daily risks of children with idiopathic short stature, which is impermissible. The problem with the trial is not that children with idiopathic short stature should not be the referent for minimal risk. I've argued that children with idiopathic short stature possess sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods of childhood that it is permissible to expose them to non-therapeutic procedures involving risks that are comparable to their usual daily risks. In the following, I will examine how my proposal compares with the most prominent competing interpretations about the referent for minimal risk in the NIH growth hormone for short stature trial. The overall determination about the trial's permissibility according to competing interpretations may vary depending on the framework within which the minimal risk constraint is employed (e.g. component analysis, the DHHS regulations, etc.). But given that each of these frameworks relies on a concept of minimal risk, and my goal is to provide a justified interpretation of minimal risk, I will focus on whether my proposal offers a more persuasive determination regarding the referent for minimal risk rather than on the final determination about the trial's permissibility.

Interpretations of minimal risk that identify the referent as healthy children or normal, average, healthy children living in a safe environment would reach a different conclusion about children with idiopathic short stature. As noted in chapter 3, different descriptions of this interpretation identify different referents for minimal risk. But the prevailing understanding of this interpretation identifies the referent as a subgroup of healthy children. Specifically, the National Commission first identified the referent as healthy children (National Commission, 1977), but most subsequent commissions and commentators identify the referent as a narrower group. For example, both NHRPAC (2002) and the IOM (2004) identify the referent as normal, healthy, average children. SACHRP (2005) identifies the referent as normal, healthy, average children living in safe environments and the most recent commission to consider the question, the Presidential Commission for the Study of Bioethical Issues (2013), identifies the referent as a healthy children in a safe environment. More generally, the prevailing trend is to identify the referent as a subgroup of healthy children, perhaps normal, healthy children in a safe environment.

Does the eligible study population in the NIH short stature trial meet these constraints? On the WHO definition, health is "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (WHO, 1948).<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> As noted in chapter 3, commentators do not explain what they mean by health. Nonetheless, the trend in the literature, which aims to identify a subgroup of healthy children who are not only disease-free, but also possess additional characteristics (e.g.

Children with idiopathic short stature do not meet this definition. If they were completely healthy, then children with short stature and their families would not seek the help of pediatric endocrinologists. Further, while the most recent scientific literature supports the idea that children with idiopathic short stature function within the "broad range of normalcy" (Cohen et al., 2008, p.4212)<sup>18</sup>, they may still be at a somewhat higher risk for psychosocial problems than their normal height peers (Cohen et al., 2008). That is, they do not seem to be completely healthy. The point is even clearer if we understand this interpretation of minimal risk as identifying the referent as a subset of healthy children who are also normal, average, and live in a safe environment. The eligible study population in the NIH trial are children who were at least 2.25 SD below the average height. By definition, this group of children is not normal or average; they are considerably shorter than their peers. Consequently, they would not be identified as the referent for minimal risk.

What are the implications of this determination? It follows that according to the healthy child interpretation of minimal risk, children with idiopathic short stature are not part of a morally justifiable reference group for minimal risk. They may still be research subjects, but the non-therapeutic risks of the trial would have to be measured against the daily risks of a healthier group of children. The main point is that according to this determination, the daily lives of children with idiopathic short stature are found to involve a morally impermissible degree of risk. It follows that procedures a child with idiopathic short stature undertakes as part of standard care that are not part of a normal child's experiences—such as additional doctor visits or height and weight measurements—are inappropriate when administered without the intention of offering a child direct medical benefit. These kinds of procedures would be understood as exploiting a child's unfair circumstances.

normal, average, live in safe places) that are thought to contribute to daily experiences involving low risks, suggests that commentators have in mind a definition of health similar to the WHO's definition (which also accounts for more than a child's diseases or disorders).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Cohen et al note that children less than 2.5 SD have not yet been adequately studied. More research about subgroups of children with idiopathic short stature would be useful to help determine whether they have similar experiences as their slightly taller counterparts.

This determination is not compelling. The literature suggests that while idiopathic short stature may be a risk factor for some social problems, children with this condition are not at a significant disadvantage with respect to their peers. To put it another way, idiopathic short stature does not necessarily compromise the daily lives of these children. Their daily lives are likely different than those of taller children, but these differences are not obviously problematic. Consequently, there is no compelling reason to protect them from facing comparable experiences in research that does not aim to offer them the prospect of direct benefit.

One might argue that some children with idiopathic short stature derive anxiety from their condition or from the additional procedures they experience in medical care. Consequently, this additional protection is desirable; it protects these children from facing comparable anxiety in research. It is true that some children with idiopathic short stature will derive more anxiety than others from their condition and medical procedures. But this is not a persuasive reason to prevent all children with this condition from being the referent. Given that children with idiopathic short stature and their families are familiar with the experiences that commonly accompany this condition, they are best placed to decide whether to undertake comparable procedures uniquely in the interests of the research. To put it another way, this kind of reasoning may provide a persuasive reason for a parent to decide not to include her particular short child in a trial, but it is not a persuasive reason for a research ethics board to impose additional protections on all children with idiopathic short stature when, on the whole, this group is not unduly burdened by their daily lives.

My interpretation of the referent for minimal risk recognizes that some children with mild disorders or conditions are not heavily burdened by their circumstances and do not necessarily require additional protections in research. Consequently, it lines up with the common moral intuition that children who are not completely healthy or those who deviate from normal in a minor way do not necessarily suffer on account of these differences. This determination is more compelling than the healthy child interpretation's determination that any child who is not completely healthy or deviates from normal should be protected from non-therapeutic research procedures comparable to her daily experiences.

What does the subjects of the research interpretation conclude about children with idiopathic short stature? To recall, this interpretation measures minimal risk according to the daily lives of the eligible study population, including healthy children as well as children with diseases, conditions or disorders. Given that children with idiopathic short stature are the eligible study population for the NIH trial, these children are the referent for minimal risk. This interpretation reaches the same determination as mine-that children with idiopathic short stature should be the referent for minimal risk. But it does so without considering the welfare of this group of children. That is, the subjects of the research interpretation reaches the conclusion that the daily lives of children with idiopathic short stature involve morally permissible degrees of risk without examining the burdens involved in the daily lives of these children. If it were the case that most children with idiopathic short stature faced significant bullying that resulted in severe psychological problems, this interpretation would provide us with no obvious reason for restricting these children's exposure to comparably high risks in research procedures that do not aim to offer the prospect of direct benefit. And this conclusion is undesirable. By determining the referent based on an assessment of whether the eligible study population is unduly burdened, my interpretation avoids the potential injustices of the subjects of the research interpretation. It recognizes that some, but not all, children with diseases, disorders or conditions experience morally relevant degrees of risk in their daily lives. Thus, my interpretation of the referent for minimal risk also offers more compelling results about the referent for minimal risk in the NIH short stature protocol than the subjects of the research interpretation.

More generally, my proposal offers a more moderate approach than the healthy child interpretation or the subjects of the research interpretation of the referent for minimal risk. The healthy child interpretation protects sick children from facing heavy burdens as the result of their illness or medical treatment from facing comparably high risks in non-therapeutic research procedures. But it offers this protection at a cost. It is unable to recognize that some children who are not healthy, normal, and average, that is, some children who are different, are not significantly burdened by these differences. Some of these children fare well. And these children need not be protected from their daily experiences when participating in research. Thus, the healthy child interpretation is overly strict. On the other hand, the subjects of the research interpretation is overly permissive. It permits the exposure of children whose daily experiences involve high risks to face comparably high risks in non-therapeutic research procedures. Thus, children with imprudent parents willing to provide proxy consent for their child's participation in research that involves procedures that are equally burdensome to those their children face daily may face impermissibly high risks in research.

My proposal that the referent for minimal risk should be children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, understood as children who fare well, strikes a middle ground between these two interpretations. It restricts the degree of permissible risk in non-therapeutic research procedures for children—healthy or not—who are unduly burdened by their daily lives. And it does so without imposing unnecessary restrictions on all children who aren't healthy, average, normal, and living in a safe environment. By focusing on undue burden and children's welfare, my interpretation provides a way in which to identify the relevant features—and only the relevant features—of a child's circumstances that should impact her ethical treatment in research. Thus, identifying the referent as children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives offers intuitively plausible results.

# Chapter 6 Conclusion

The work in this thesis aims to fill in a missing component of the ethical justification for research with children. The ethical justification for research with children depends, in part, on an assessment of a trial's harms and benefits. For a trial proposing to enroll children to have an appropriate balance between research harms and benefits, the upper limit for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures must be restricted. Limiting the risks of non-therapeutic procedures helps to ensure that vulnerable populations are not exposed to unfairly high degrees of research risk that offer them no prospect of corresponding benefit. But what degree of risk is permissible in non-therapeutic research procedures? The morally appropriate limit for research risks that offer no prospect of corresponding benefit is often measured according to the concept of minimal risk, but the concept of minimal risk has not been adequately justified. In the previous chapters, I proposed a new justification for why minimal risk should be interpreted according to daily life and identified a novel referent for minimal risk.

In chapter 1, I raised the main problem concerning the ethical inclusion of children in research and surveyed the solutions to this problem in research ethics. I argue that in general, a research subject's participation in a trial is justified, in part, by informed consent, a moral principle that helps to uphold the principle of respect for persons and their autonomous decisions. But children's limited cognitive competencies and experiences restrict their capacity to provide informed consent for research participation. This gives rise to a problem: If informed consent is a necessary component of the ethical justification of research with human subjects and children are unable to provide informed consent, then research with children seems to be impermissible.

I identified four arguments in research ethics that offer partial solutions to this problem, each of which is a necessary component of the ethical justification for research with children. The first argument appeals to social utility. The inclusion of children in research is in the interests of children as a group; it is the source of a critical public health benefit: it can improve the medical care of current and future children. Thus, children should participate in research. But alone, this insight is insufficient to justify the inclusion of children in research. It seems to legitimize high degrees of risk to particular children on the basis of the benefits it may confer to others. Further, it does not explain why it is permissible to expose any particular child, who cannot consent for himself, to research risks for the benefit of others. Thus, it cannot, on its own, offer a successful justification for research with children. A second argument fills part of this gap by explaining that one need not always act in the best interests of children; at times, it may be permissible to expose a particular child to risk purely in the interest of others. It may be permissible to expose children to risks when the risks to a particular child are counterbalanced by benefits to another family member (or to the family as a whole) as well as in some instances when a child's exposure to risks contributes to important social goals, such as the success of a social community. Together, these two arguments successfully explain that it is in the medical interests of children to participate in research and that it can be permissible to expose a particular child to some risks purely for the sake of others. But they do not explain whether and why research is permissible in the absence of informed consent or the degree of risk to which a child can be exposed in research.

A third argument helps to resolve this problem by pointing out that the ethical requirement to obtain informed consent applies only to people who can make autonomous choices. Given that children are not autonomous, respecting them as persons does not require that they consent for research participation. Parents or guardians can provide surrogate consent for children's participation in research. This insight helps to explain why a child may participate without the ability to provide informed consent. But it does not explain the conditions under which it is permissible to provide surrogate consent for a child's participation. A fourth argument addresses this problem by appealing to the conditions that help to legitimize the inclusion of adults in research. Adults can enroll when a research ethics board determines that a protocol is ethically permissible, a determination that relies on an assessment of whether a protocol offers a reasonable balance between the harms and benefits of research participation. When a protocol involves children, a reasonable balance between harms and benefits requires that the risks of non-therapeutic procedures be restricted. They must pose no more than a low degree of risk, which is often measured according to the concept of minimal risk. But the

concept of minimal risk is under-theorized. It is not clear why minimal risk is a morally relevant threshold or how it should be understood and applied. Thus, I focused on explicating and justifying the concept of minimal risk.

In Chapter 2, I examined what should be a morally relevant comparator for the risks of non-therapeutic research procedures with children, that is, I examine the interpretation and justification of minimal risk. I defend the idea that minimal risk should be understood as the risks of daily life. The daily life interpretation draws on the fact that, no matter how careful a person is, carrying out her usual daily activities involves exposure to some risk and this inevitable degree of risk should be understood as minimal risk. It seems reasonably uncontroversial that our daily activities expose us to some degree of risk. But what, if anything, is morally relevant about these risks?

I reject the idea that the risks of daily life are morally relevant because they replace (and do not add to) the risks a child faces in her usual activities. The risks of nontherapeutic procedures are not constrained to the period of time during which the procedure is administered. For example, the risks of an injection with an investigational drug may continue after that child leaves the hospital or clinic. It follows that a child may simultaneously experience the risks of daily life and of a non-therapeutic research intervention. Consequently, the risks of research may add to, rather than replace, the risks a child would otherwise face at any given time.

Instead, I propose that the risks of daily life are morally relevant because they are the kinds of risks that most reasonable people have good reason to recognize as 'safe enough'. That is, they are risks that are—and should be—deemed socially permissible. Most people undertake the risks of daily life without much thought or calculation and irrespective of whether they offer the prospect of direct benefit. To put this another way, they are an approximate lowest common denominator of acceptable risk; they reflect the risks that most people in a society deem socially acceptable.

Moreover, they are the kinds of risks that should be deemed socially permissible. Accepting the risks of daily activities is not the result of mistaken or ill-formed judgment about the degree of risk involved in our usual activities. Instead, our belief that the risks of daily life are safe enough should be understood as a reflection of our values. We accept the risks of daily life because they are part of a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and being able to pursue meaningful lives. That is, we accept daily risks because they are a necessary and reasonable sacrifice to the goal of pursuing projects and activities that contribute to ways of life that we value. Thus, the risks of daily life are morally relevant because they represent the lowest degree of risk that most people are willing to accept in order to promote and reinforce the kinds of activities, projects, and ways of life that they cherish.

Identifying daily life as morally relevant has important implications for research with children. I argued that it is permissible to expose children to some minimal degree of risk that is not in their direct interests but that this degree of risk must be low. I also argued that daily risks are the lowest degree of risk commonly considered an acceptable sacrifice in the interests of pursuing valuable goals. Given that clinical research with children is a valuable social project that promotes improved care for current and future children, it seems reasonable that it should expose participants to some risk that is not administered in their interest. When research subjects, such as children, cannot provide informed consent for the risks incurred on behalf of others, the degree of non-therapeutic research risk to which they should be exposed should be constrained. It seems reasonable to constrain these risks according to the most basic level of risk that is deemed acceptable in the pursuit of other valuable social endeavours. That is, non-therapeutic research risks on children should be constrained according to the risks of daily life. Finally, this argument explains why the risks of daily life may be morally relevant, but the success of this analysis also depends on specifying whose daily life is morally relevant.

Chapters 3 and 4 focus on this task. In chapter 3, I examine arguments in research ethics aiming to identify a referent for minimal risk. I argue that commentary on this question is unclear. When examining who should be the referent, commentators also ask a second question: does a relative standard or a uniform standard governing research with children meet the moral requirements of justice? That is, should minimal risk apply to all children in the same way or are there morally relevant differences between children that justify differential treatment in research? This second question is important; it asks what kinds of moral rules are justifiable in research with children, but it is distinct from and obscures the identification of a group of children whose daily lives should serve as the morally relevant comparator for minimal risk. I conclude that progress on the identification of a morally justifiable referent for minimal risk requires that we separate examinations about what kind of standard is morally appropriate from attempts to identify a group of children who should be the referent for minimal risk.

In chapter 4, I argue that neither healthy children nor the subjects of the research is the morally appropriate referent for minimal risk. Some healthy children, such as those who are heavily burdened by their family's poverty, and some sick children, including those suffering from terminal diseases, face daily risks that seem unjustifiably high in the context of research that doesn't offer the prospect of direct benefit. The daily lives of these two groups of children are not justifiable comparators for the risks of nontherapeutic research procedures with children and consequently, neither interpretation identifies a justifiable referent for minimal risk.

I then defend a novel interpretation of the referent for minimal risk, informed by an insight from theories of distributive justice: justice does not require uniform treatment for all children in research. But it does require uniform treatment of like cases and a justification for unequal treatment. That is, only a morally relevant property can justify departures from equal treatment. I propose that the morally relevant property justifying different treatment between children in research is undue burden. I argue that children are not unduly burdened if they fare well. I then propose a substantive good theory of children's welfare, according to which a child fares well when she possesses sufficiently high degrees of the seven substantive goods of childhood: health, biological needs, intellectually engaging activity, meaningful relationships, unstructured, imaginative play, bodily integrity, and happiness.

Identifying the morally relevant criterion justifying unequal treatment of children in research as undue burden helps to ensure that when a child's socioeconomic status, geographic location or disease prevent her from achieving a sufficiently high degree of well-being, these circumstances cannot be used to legitimize her exposure to higher degrees of non-therapeutic research risks than children who are more fortunate. It also helps to ensure that children who are not heavily burdened by mild illnesses—like some cases of asthma—do not receive unnecessary protections when participating in research. I conclude that the referent for minimal risk should be interpreted as children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, and that children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives are those who fare well, that is, children who possess sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods of childhood. Finally, in chapter 5, I analyze a controversial trial involving children using my proposed interpretation, situated within component analysis, and argue that my conclusions are more persuasive than those of the competing interpretations of minimal risk.

#### 6.1 The criteria of a successful account revisited

I have proposed that to be successful, an interpretation of minimal risk must meet four criteria. It must meet the requirements of practicality, generality, fidelity, and it must also limit risk to a defensible degree. Does my account meet these criteria?

My proposal provides guidance for research ethics boards about how to measure whether children possess sufficiently high degrees of the substantive goods of childhood. It directs their attention to the right kinds of questions to ask and the relevant goods to consider when assessing whether a child fares well enough to be the referent for minimal risk. Further, it is situated within component analysis' comprehensive framework for harm-benefit assessment. Consequently, it meets the requirement of practicality.

Further, measuring permissible risks according to the daily lives of children who fare well is a flexible threshold that varies according to the daily experiences of children of all ages. No matter what age a child is, her daily experiences are the morally relevant comparator for the risks of non-therapeutic procedures provided that she is not unduly burdened. Thus, my proposal meets the requirement of generality.

My proposal explains why minimal risk should be constrained to the risks of daily life; I argue that daily risks are morally justifiable because these kinds of risks are a reasonable trade-off between personal safety and the pursuit of a valuable life. They are the risks that reasonable people have good reasons to undertake. My proposal also explains whose daily life should be morally relevant. I argue that the referent for minimal risk should be children who are not unduly burdened by their daily lives, that is, children who fare well. These arguments provide the theoretical justification for a successful proposal. By explaining why daily experiences are relevant and whose daily experiences are relevant, this proposal meets the requirement that the degree of permissible risk must be limited to a defensible degree. Finally, my proposal offers intuitively compelling results. It does not necessarily exclude children with mild diseases and disorders from facing comparable risks in nontherapeutic research procedures. But the flexible risk standard is subject to constraints. My proposal does not permit children to face non-therapeutic risks comparable to their daily experiences when their daily lives are unduly burdened. Thus, it helps protect children in unfortunate circumstances from being exploited in research. My argument offers a more moderate approach than identifying the referent as healthy children or a subgroup of children on the one hand or as the subjects of the research. On the other hand, it identifies a reference class of children who face morally relevant degrees of daily risk irrespective of whether they are healthy or not. And this lines up with the common moral intuition that some, but not all, children with diseases, disorders or conditions require additional protections in research. Consequently, it meets the requirement of fidelity. It follows that interpreting minimal risk according to the daily lives of children who are not unduly burdened meets the necessary criteria for a justifiable interpretation of minimal risk.

### **6.2 Further work**

In chapters 4 and 5, I propose preliminary guidance about how my interpretation of minimal risk can be implemented in practice. The guidance suggests that faring well should be established by reference to children who are fairly well off. Further, it illustrates the kinds of literature an ethics committee should use to inform their determinations and identifies a relevant set of questions on which ethics review should focus. But it falls short of offering a set of comprehensive recommendations for research ethics review. Perhaps the most obvious extension of the work in this thesis is to connect these ideas with the kinds of empirical work that inform research ethics boards' deliberations. That is, a future project will undertake an empirical examination of how to measure whether a child fares well.

The goal of this project will be to develop comprehensive guidance about how to assess children's welfare. This kind of policy guidance will offer a clearer picture of the degree of the substantive goods of childhood possessed by a child who is fairly well off and more information about how research ethics boards should make their determinations. Developing this guidance will help my proposal achieve its full potential of offering useful practical recommendations based on a sound ethical analysis. Further, it may help researchers and research ethics boards to arrive at determinations that will offer children justifiable protections when participating in research. Future work towards this goal will benefit from collaborations with epidemiologists, social scientists, policy writers, as well as research ethics board members.

Another future project will examine the success of competing systems for harmbenefit assessments in research with children. My analysis of minimal risk is situated within component analysis' framework for assessing harms and benefits. Component analysis originates in the work of the National Commission and is based on the idea that different kinds of research interventions should be subject to different moral rules. But this framework has strong competitors. Wendler's net risks test claims to offer a persuasive alternative (Wendler, 2006). The net risks test relies on the idea that research interventions that fail to offer participants a compensating potential for clinical benefit must not pose excessive risks (Wendler, 2006) and proposes to determine whether this threshold is met by comparing risk-benefit levels against available alternatives. Specifically, if the net risks are at least as favourable as the risk-benefit levels of available alternative, then a trial should be permissible (Wendler, 2006). The U.S. DHHS regulations propose still another approach to analyzing the permissibility of research with children. These guidelines are also based on the recommendations of the National Commission but arrive at somewhat different conclusion regarding children's participation in research than component analysis. Each of these frameworks relies on the concept of minimal risk, but they implement it in different ways and for different kinds of procedures.

I will evaluate the success of these systems for harm-benefit assessment for research involving children. To this end, I will examine the philosophical foundations of each framework and explore their determinations about trials involving children as subjects. This analysis will help to justify the framework within which my proposal for minimal risk should be situated. Further, it will contribute towards the development of a system for evaluating permissible degrees of risk in research with children that rests on a sound philosophical foundation and applies to research ethics review internationally. To conclude, the work in this thesis contributes to the ethical justification for research with children. It recognizes that children's vulnerability gives rise to problems that complicate their participation as research subjects. Further, it recognizes that solutions to these problems rely on a number of different and complementary arguments—including arguments for social utility, proxy consent, the appropriate treatment of children in the family context, and the ethical assessment of harms and benefits. My aim has been to contribute to this literature by developing a justified interpretation of minimal risk, a central component of the ethical analysis of the harms and benefits of research. I have defended an account of why minimal risk should be interpreted in terms of daily life and proposed whose daily life should be morally relevant. My main goal has been to fill in a missing aspect of the philosophical justification for research with children but also to provide guidance that may help to refine and improve the system for ethical review of current and future research proposing to include children as research subjects.

# **Bibliography**

- Ackerman, T.F. (1979). Fooling ourselves with child autonomy and assent in nontherapeutic clinical research. *Clinical Research*, 27(5), 345-348.
- Ackerman, T.F. (1980). Moral duties of parents and nontherapeutic clinical research procedures involving children. *Bioethics Quarterly*, 2(2), 94-111.
- Ackerman, T.F. (1981). Moral duties of investigators toward sick children. *IRB: Ethics & Human Research*, *3*(6), 1-5.
- Ackerman, T.F. (2001). The ethics of drug research in children. *Paediatric Drugs*, 3(1), 29-41.
- Allen, D. B. (2006). Growth Hormone Therapy for Short Stature: Is the benefit worth the burden? *Pediatrics*, *118*(1), 343-348.
- Allen, D. B. (2011). Safety of growth hormone treatment of children with idiopathic short stature: The US experience. *Hormone Research Paediatrics*, 76(suppl 3), 45-47.
- Allen, D.B., & Fost, N.C. (1990). Growth Hormone Treatment for Short stature: Panacea or Pandora's box? *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *117*(1), 16-21.
- Altham, J.E.J. (1983). Ethics of Risk. *Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society. New Series*, 84, 15-29.
- American Academy of Pediatrics, (AAP). (2003, July 9). Participation and protection of children in clinical research. Statement to the Committee on Clinical Research Involving Children. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Agoraphobia. In *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4<sup>th</sup> edition). Washington, D.C.
- Aristotle. (2009). The Nichomachean Ethics. (W.D. Ross, trans.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bartholome, W.G. (1977). The ethics of non-therapeutic clinical research on children. In National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, National Commission. *National Commission for the Protection* of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, Appendix: research involving children (p. 3.23-3.54). DHEW Publication No (05) 77-0005.
- Beauchamp, Tom. (1979). Distributive Justice and Morally Relevant Differences. In the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. The Belmont Report: Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research. Appendix Vol. 1. (p.6.11-6.20). Washington, D.C. DHEW Publication No. (OS) 78-0013.
- Beauchamp, T.L., & Childress, J.F. (2001). *Principles of Biomedical Ethics* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Beecher, H.K. (1969, Spring). Scarce resources and medical advancement. *Daedalus*, 98, 275-313.
- Belmont Report (1979). National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects. The report to the Secretary of the Department of Health, Education and Welfare.

- Bentham, J. (1935), *An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation*. New York: Doubleday, Doran & Company, Inc.
- Bercu, B.B. (1996). The growing conundrum: growth hormone treatment of the nongrowth hormone deficient child. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 276(7), 567-568.
- Bergner, M., Bobbitt, R.A., Carter. W.B. & Gilson, B.S. (1981). The sickness impact profile: Development and final revision of a health status measure. *Medical Care* 19(8), 787-805.
- Binik, A., Weijer, C., & Sheehan, M. (2011). Minimal risk remains an open question. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 11(6), 25-27.
- Blustein, J. (1982). *Parents and Children: The Ethics of the Family*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Boorse, C. (1975). On the distinction between disease and illness. *Philosophy and Public Affairs*, *5*(1), 49-68.
- Brock, D., (1993). Quality of Life Measures in Health Care and Medical Ethics. In M.C. Nussbaum & A. Sen (Eds.), *The Quality of Life* (pp. 95-132). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Buchanan, A.E., Brock, D.W. (1989). *Deciding for Others: The Ethics of Surrogate Decision Making*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Canadian Diabetes Association. (2008). Type I diabetes in children and adolescents. Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Diabetes in Canada.
- Carel, H. (2007). Can I be Ill and Happy? Philosophia, 35, 95-110.
- Chen, M., Bush, J.W., & Patrick, D.L. (1975). Social indicators for health planning and policy analysis. *Policy Sciences*, 6(1), 71-89.
- Childress, J.F. (1979). Ethical issues in the experimentation with human subjects. *Connecticut Medicine*, 43(10 Suppl), 26-31.
- Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) in collaboration with the World Health Organization (WHO). (2002). International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research involving Human Subjects. Geneva, Switzerland. Retrieved from

http://www.cioms.ch/images/stories/CIOMS/guidelines/guidelines\_nov\_2002\_blurb.ht m (Accessed April 14, 2013).

- Cohen, S. & Cosgrove, C. (2010). Too tall, too small? The temptation to tinker with a child's height. *The Lancet*, 275, 454-455.
- Cohen, P., Rogol, C.L., Deal, P., Saenger, E.O., Reiter, J.L., Ross, S.D., ...Wit, J.M. (2008). Consensus statement on the diagnosis and treatment of children with idiopathic short stature: A summary of the Growth Hormone Research Society, the Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Endocrine Society, and the Ueropean Society for Paediatric Endocrinology Workshop. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 93(11), 4210-4217.
- Crisp, R. (2006). Hedonism reconsidered. *Philosophy and Phenomenological Research*, 73(3), 619-645.

- Crisp, R. (2008). Well-Being. *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved from <a href="http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/well-being/">http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/well-being/</a> (Accessed May 24, 2013).
- Cuttler, L., Silvers, J.B., Singh, J., Marreno, U., Finkelstein, B., Tannin, G., & Neuhauser, D. (1996). Short stature and growth hormone therapy: A national study of physician recommendation patterns. *JAMA*, *276*(7), 531-537.
- Curran, W.J., Beecher, H.K. (1969, Oct. 6). Experimentation in children: A reexamination of legal ethical principles. *JAMA*, *210*(1), 77-83.
- Daniels, N. (1985). Just Health Care. Cambridge: University Press.
- Davidson, A. J., & O'Brien, M. (2009). Ethics and medical research in children. *Paediatric Anaesthesia 19*(10), 994-1004.
- Diekema, D. S. (2006). Conducting ethical research in pediatrics: A brief historical overview and review of pediatric regulations. *The Journal of Pediatrics 149* (1 Suppl), S3-11.
- Douglas, M. (1966). *Purity and Danger*. New York; Washington, D.C.: Praeger Publishers.
- Douglas, M. & Wildavsky, A. (1982). *Risk and Culture: An Essay on the Selection of Technical and Environmental Dangers*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Douglas, M. (1985). *Risk: Acceptability According to the Social Sciences*. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul Ltd.
- Downie, A. B., Mulligan, J., Stratford, R. J., Betts, P. R., & Voss, L. D. (1997). Are short normal children at a disadvantage? The Wessex growth study. *British Medical Journal*, 314, 97-100.
- Emanuel EJ, Wendler D, Grady C. (2000). What makes clinical research ethical? *JAMA*, 283(20), 2701-2711.
- Evans, D., & Evans, M. (1996). A Decent Proposal: Ethical Review of Clinical Research. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- Ferguson, L.A. (2011). Growth Hormone Use in Children: Necessary or Designer Therapy? *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 25(1), 24-30.
- Festinger, L. (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford: University press.
- Fisher, C. B., Kornetsky, S. Z., & Prentice, E.D. (2007). Determining risk in pediatric research with no prospect of direct benefit: Time for a national consensus on the interpretation of federal regulations. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 7(3), 5-10.
- Fischhoff, B. (1994). Acceptable Risk: A Conceptual Proposal. *Risk: Health, Safety and Environment*, 5(1), 1-28.
- Fischhoff, B. (1995). Risk Perception and Communication Unplugged: Twenty Years of Process. *Risk Analysis*, 15(2), 137-145.
- Flotte, B., Frentzen, T.R., Humphries, M.R., & A.L. Rosenbloom. (2006). Recent developments in the protection of pediatric research subjects. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 149(3), 285-6.
- Fost, N. (2005). Bioethics and American Children: Report to the President's Council on Bioethics. Retrieved from

http://bioethics.georgetown.edu/pcbe/transcripts/dec05/session1.html (Accessed April 14, 2013).

- Freedman, B. (1987). Equipoise and the ethics of clinical research. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *317*(3), 141-145.
- Freedman, B. (1990). Placebo-Controlled Trials and the Logic of Clinical Purpose. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, *12*(6), 1-6.
- Freedman, B., Fuks, A., & Weijer, C. (1992). Demarcating research and treatment: a systematic approach for the analysis of the ethics of clinical research. *Clinical Research*, 40(4), 653-660.
- Freedman B, Fuks A, & Weijer C. (1993). In loco parentis: Minimal risk as an ethical threshold for research upon children. *Hastings Center Report 23*(2), 13-19.
- Freedman, B, Fuks A, & Weijer C. (1992). Demarcating research and treatment: A Systematic Approach for the analysis of the ethics of clinical research. *Clinical Research*, 40(4), 653-660.
- Freeman, W.L. (1994). Research with Radiation and Healthy Children: Greater than Minimal Risk. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, *16*(5),1-5.
- Genentech collaborative study group. (1989). Idiopathic short stature: results of a oneyear controlled study of human growth hormone treatment. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *115*(5), 713-719.
- Gernter, J.M., Genel, M., Gianfredi, S.P., Hintz, R.L., Rosenfeld, R.G., Tamborlane, W.V. & Wilson, D.M. (1984). Prospective clinical trial of human growth hormone in short children without growth hormone deficiency. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 104(2), 172-176.
- Glantz, L. H. (1998). Research with children. *American Journal of Law & Medicine*, 24 (2-3): 213-44.
- Gordon, Michael, Carol Crouthamel, Ernest Post and Robert A. Richman. Psychosocial aspects of constitutional short stature: social competence, behavior problems, self-esteem, and family functioning. The Journal of Pediatrics. 1982.101.3, 477-480.
- Griffin, J. (1986). *Well-being: Its Meaning, Measurement, and Moral Importance*. Oxford: University Press.
- Habitat for Humanity. (2013). Youth united. Retrieved from <u>http://www.habitat.org/youthprograms/ages\_5\_8/yu\_default\_ages\_5\_8.aspx</u> (Accessed April 12, 2013).
- Harris J, & Holm S. Should we presume moral turpitude in our children? small children and consent to medical research. *Theoretical Medicine & Bioethics*, 24(2), 121-129.

Haybron, D. (2011). Happiness. Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Retrieved from <u>http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/happiness/</u> (Accessed March 1, 2013)

- Hintz, R.L., Attie, K.M., Baptista, J., & Roche, A. (1999). Effect of growth hormone treatment on adult height of children with idiopathic short stature. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *340*(7), 502-507.
- Holder, M.D. (2012). Happiness in Children: Measurement, correlates and enhancement of positive subjective well-being. New York: Springer.

- Hope, T. & McMillan, J. (2004). Challenge studies of human volunteers: ethical issues. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *30*(1), 110-116.
- Hutchison, J.S., Ward, R.E., Lacroix, J., Hebert, P., Barnes, M., Bohn, D.J., ... & Skippen, P.W. (2008). Hypothermia Therapy after Traumatic Brain Injury in Children. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 358(23), 2447-2456.
- Institute of Medicine. Field, M.J. & Berman, R.E. (Eds.). (2004). *Ethical Conduct of Clinical Research Involving Children*. Washington, D.C.: The National Academic Press.
- Janofsky, J. & Starfield, B. (1981). Assessment of risk in research on children. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 98(5), 842-846.
- Jonas, H. (1969). Philosophical Reflections on Experimenting with Human Subjects. *Daedalus*, 98, 219-247.
- Jonsen, A.R. (2006). Nontherapeutic research with children: the Ramsey versus McCormick debate. *The Journal of Pediatrics, 149*(1 Suppl), S12-4.
- Kahan, D.M., Braman, D. (2006). Cultural cognition and public policy. *Yale Law and Policy Review*, 24(1), 149-172.
- Kahan, D.M., Braman, D., Gastil, J., Slovic, P. & Mertz, C.K. Gender, Race, and Risk Perception: The Influence of Cultural Status Anxiety. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=723762 (Accessed May 24, 2013).
- Kahn, J.P., Mastroianni, A.C., & Sugarman, J. (1998). Beyond consent: Seeking justice in research. Oxford: University Press.
- Khan, D.M. (Forthcoming). Cultural cognition as a conception of the cultural theory of risk. In S. Roeser (Ed.), *Handbook of Risk Theory*. Harvard Law School Program on Risk Regulation Research Paper No. 08-20; Yale Law School, Public Law Working Paper No. 222. Retrieved from

http://ssrn.com/abstract=1123807 (Accessed May 24, 2013).

- Kahneman, D. & Tversky, A. (1982). On the psychology of prediction. In D. Kahneman, P. Slovic, & A. Tversky (Eds.) Uncertainty: Heuristics and biases (p. 48-69).
- Kodish, E. (Ed.). (2005). *Ethics and research with children: A case based approach*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kopelman, L.M. (1981). Estimating Risk in Human Research. *Clinical Research*, 29(1), 1-8.
- Kopelman, L.M. (2000a). Moral Problems in Assessing Research Risk. IRB: Ethics and Human Research 22(5), 3-6.
- Kopelman, L.M. (2000b). Children as Research Subjects: A Dilemma. Journal of Medicine and Philosophy 25(6), 745-764.
- Kopelman, L. M. (2002a). Group benefit and protection of pediatric research subjects: Grimes v. kennedy krieger and the lead abatement study. *Accountability in Research*, 9(3-4), 177-92.
- Kopelman, L. M. (2002b). Pediatric research regulations under legal scrutiny: Grimes narrows their interpretation. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics 30* (1), 38-49.

- Kopelman, L. M. (2004a). Adolescents as doubly-vulnerable research subjects. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 4(1), 50-2.
- Kopelman, L.M. (2004b). Minimal Risk as an International Ethical Standard in Research. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 29(3), 351-78.
- Kopelman, L. M. (2004c). What conditions justify risky nontherapeutic or "no benefit" pediatric studies: A sliding scale analysis. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 32(4), 749-58.
- Kopelman, L. M. (2006). Children as research subjects: Moral disputes, regulatory guidance, and recent court decisions. *The Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine*, 73(3), 596-604.
- Kopelman, L. M. (2007). When can children with conditions be in no-benefit, higherhazard pediatric studies? *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 7(3),15-7.
- Kranzler, J.H., Rosenbloom, A.L., Proctor, B., Diamond, F.B., & Watson, M. (2000). Is Short stature a handicap? A comparison of the psychosocial functioning of referred and nonreferred children with normal short stature and children with normal stature. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 136(1), 96-102.
- Kraut, R. (2007). *What is Good and Why: The Ethics of Well-being*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Krueger, A.B., Kahneman, D., Fischler, C., Schkade, D., Schwartz, N., & Stone, A.A. (2009). Time use and Subjective well-being in France and the U.S. *Social Indicators Research*, 93, 7-18.
- Lantos, J.D. (2010). Does pediatrics need its own bioethics? *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 53(4), 613-624.
- Lantos, J.D. (2004). Pediatric research: What is broken and what needs to be fixed? *Journal of Pediatrics*, 144(2), 147-149.
- Lantos, J.D. (2007). Research in wonderland: Does 'minimal risk' mean whatever an institutional review board says it means? *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 7(3), 11-12.
- Laventhal, N., Tarini, B.A., & Lantos, J. (2012). *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 59(5), 1205-1220.
- Law, C.M. (1987). The disability of short stature. *Archives of disease in childhood*, 62, 855-859.
- Lenk, C., Radenbach, K., Dahl, M., Wiesemann, C. (2004). Non-therapeutic research with minors: how do chairpersons of German research ethics committees decide? *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 30(1), 85-87.
- Leschek, E.W., Rose, S.R., Yanovski, J.A., Troendle, J.F., Quigley, C.A., Chipman, J.J., Crowe, J.,...& Baron, J. (2004). Effect of growth hormone treatment on adult height in peripubertal children with idiopathic short stature: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89, 3140– 3148.
- Levine, R.J. (1986). *Ethics and regulation of clinical research* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New Haven; London: Yale University Press.

- Levine, R.J. (1989). Children as Research Subjects. In L.M. Kopelman & J.C. Moskop (Eds.). *Children and Health Care: Moral and Social Issues* (p.73-87). Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Levine, R.J. (1999). The need to revise the declaration of Helsinki. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 341(7): 531-534.
- Macleod, C. (2010). Primary Goods, Capabilities, and Children. In H. Brighouse & I. Robeyns (Eds.), *Measuring Justice: Primary Goods and Capabilities* (p.174-192). Cambridge: University Press.
- Malek, J. (2009). What Really Is in a Child's Best Interest? Toward a More Precise Picture of the Interests of Children. *The Journal of Clinical Ethics*, 20(2), 175-182.
- May, W.E. (1977). *Experimenting on Human Subjects. Existence, Medicine, and Ethics*. Chicago: Franciscan Herald Press.
- McCormick, R.A. (1974). Proxy consent in the experimental situation. Perspectives in Biology & Medicine, 18, 1-20.
- Miller, P. B., & Weijer, C. (2000). Moral solutions in assessing research risk. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, 22(5), 6-10.
- Miller, P. & Weijer, C. (2005). Evaluating Benefits and Harms in Research on Healthy Children. In E. Kodish (Ed.), *Ethics and Research with Children: A Case-Based Approach* (p. 29-45). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Miller, P.B., & Weijer, C. (2006). Trust based obligations of the state and physician-researchers to patient-subjects. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 32(9), 542–547.
- Mitchell, R.G. (1964). The child and experimental medicine. *The British Medical Journal*, 1(5385), 721-727.
- Morris, M. C. (2012). Pediatric participation in non-therapeutic research. *Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics, 40*(3), 665-672.
- Moshang, T. (2005). *Pediatric Endocrinology: The Requisits in Pediatrics*. St. Louis: Elsevier.
- National Bioethics Advisory Committee, (NBAC) (2001). Ethical and policy issues in research involving human participants (Vol.1) Report and Recommendations. Bethesda, Maryland.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1977). Report and Recommendations: Research Involving Children. Washington, D.C.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects, The Belmont Report. (1979). The report to the Secretary of the Department of Health, Education and Welfare.
- National Council for Science and Technology. (2004). Guidelines for Ethical Conduct of Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects in Kenya. Nairobi, Kenya.
- National Institutes of Health. (1992, October 2). Report of the NIH Human Growth Hormone Protocol Review Committee.
- National Institutes of Health (NIH) (1998, March 6). NIH Policy and Guidelines on the Inclusion of Children as Participants in Research Involving Human Subjects.

Bethesda, MD: NIH. Retrieved from <u>http://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/not98-024.html</u> (accessed July 30, 2012).

- National Human Research Protections Advisory Committee, (NHRPAC). (2001, April 5). Children's workgroup report. Final Draft Children's workgroup report.
- National Human Research Protections Advisory Committee (NHRPAC). (2002). Clarifying specific portion of 45 CFR 46 Subpart D that Governs Children's Research. Report from NHRPAC.
- Nelson, R.M., & Ross, L.F. (2005). In Defense of a Single Standard of Research Risk for all Children. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *8*, 565-566
- Nicholson, R.H.(Ed.) (1986). *Medical research with children: ethics, law, and practice*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Noel, M., & Birnie, K.A. (2010). Ethical challenges in pediatric pain research. *Pediatric Pain*, *12*(2), 18-22.
- Nordenfelt, L. (2006). On Health, Ability and Activity: Comments on Some Basic Notions in the Icf. *Disability Rehabilitation*, 28(23), 1461-1465.
- Nozick, R. (1974). Anarchy, State, and Utopia. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Nussbaum, M.C. (1999). Human Functioning and Social Justice: In Defense of Aristotelian Essentialism. *Political Theory*, 20(2), 202-246.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2000). *Women and Human Development: The Capabilities Approach*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Parfit, D. (1984). Reasons and Persons. Oxford: University Press.
- Pauly, M.V. (1968). The Economics of Moral Hazard: Comment. *The American Economic Review*, 58(3), 531-537.
- Peerzada, J. M., & Wendler, D. (2006). Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant Research with Pediatric Donors: When Can Institutional Review Boards Approve It? *Transplantation*, 81(12), 1616-20.
- Pollitt, E. & Money, J. (1964). Studies in the Psychology of dwarfism. Intelligence quotient and school achievement. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 64(3), 415-421.
- Prentice, E.D., & Gordon, B.G. (2001). Institutional review board assessment of risks and benefits associated with research. In National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. *Ethical and policy issues in research involving human participants*. Retrieved from http://www.onlineethics.org/cms/8098.aspx (Accessed September 14, 2012).
- Presidential Commission for the Study of Bioethical Issues. (2013). *Safeguarding Children: Pediatric Medical Countermeasure Research*. Washington, D.C. Retrieved from <a href="http://bioethics.gov/cms/node/832">http://bioethics.gov/cms/node/832</a> (Accessed March 19, 2013).
- Ramsey, P. (1970). *The Patient as Person*. New Haven, Connecticut: Yale University Press.
- Ravens-Sieberer, U., Erhart, M., Wille, N., Wetzel, R., Nickel, J. & Bullinger, M. (2006). Generic Health-related quality-of-life assessment in children and adolescents. *Pharmacoeconomics*, 24(12), 1199-1220.

- Reid, L., & Krahn, T. (2007). Minimal risk in the tri-council policy statement. *Health Law Journal 15*, 469-513.
- Resnik, D.B. (2011). Reopening Old Divisions. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 11(6), 19-21.
- Resnik, D. B. (2005). Eliminating the daily life risks standard from the definition of minimal risk. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *31*(1), 35-8.
- Rid, A., & Wendler, D. A framework for risk benefit evaluations. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 21(2), 141-179.
- Ross, L.F. (1998). *Children, Families, and Health Care Decision Making*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Ross, L.F. (2003). Do healthy children deserve greater protection in medical research? *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 142(2), 108-12.
- Ross, L.F. (2006). *Children in Medical Research: Access Versus Protection*. Oxford University Press: New York Clarendon Press.
- Ross, J.L., Sandberg, D.E., Rose, S.R., Leschek, E.W., Baron, J., Chipman, J.J.,...& Cutler, G.B. (2004). Psychological adaptation in children with idiopathic short stature treated with growth hormone or placebo. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89, 4873–4878.
- Rosser, R., & Kind, P. (1978). A scale of valuations of states of illness: Is there a social consensus? *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 7(4), 347-358.
- Rotnem, D., Cohen, D.J., Hintz, R., & Genel, M. (1979). Psychological sequelae of relative 'treatment failure' for children receiving human growth hormone replacement. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 18(3), 505-520.
- Sammons, H.M., Malhotra, J., Choonara, I., Sitar, D.S., Matsui, D., & Rieder, M.J. (2007). British and Canadian views on the ethics of paediatric clinical trials. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 63(5), 431-436.
- Sandberg, D. E., & Voss, L. D. (2002). The psychological consequences of short stature: A review of the evidence. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 16, 449-463.
- Scanlon, T. (1993). Value, Desire, and Quality of Life. In M. Nussbaum & A. Sen (Eds.). *The Quality of Life*. (p. 185-207). Oxford: University Press.

Schapiro, T. (1999). What is a child? *Ethics*, 109(4), 715-738.

- Secretaries Advisory Committee on Human Protections (SACHRP). (2005, April 18 and 19). Meeting presentations and reports. Alexandria: Virginia . Retrieved from <u>http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/archive/sachrp/mtgings/mtg04-05/mtg04-05.htm</u> (Accessed September 14, 2012)
- Shah, S. (2011). The Dangers of Using a Relative Risk Standard for Minimal Risk. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 11(6), 22-23.
- Shah, S., A. Whittle, B. Wilfond, G. Gensler, & Wendler, D. (2004). How Do Institutional Review Boards Apply the Federal Risk and Benefit Standards for Pediatric Research? *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 291(4), 476-82.

- Shirkey, H.C. (1968). Therapeutic Orphans: Everybody's Business. Annals of Pharmacotherapy, 40(6), 1174.
- Sidgwick, H. (2007). The Methods of Ethics (7th ed.). London: Macmillan.
- Silverstein, M. (2000). In defense of happiness: A response to the experience machine. *Social Theory and Practice*, 26(2), 279-300.
- Singer, P. (2011). When is research on children ethical? Lancet, 377(9760), 115-116.
- Skelton, A. (Forthcoming). Utilitarianism, Welfare, Children. In A. Bagattini & Colin Macleod (Eds.) *The Well-being of Children in Theory and Practice*. Retrieved from <u>http://philpapers.org/rec/SKEUWC</u> (Accessed April 14, 2013).
- Slovic, P. (1987). Perception of Risk. Science 236, 280-288.
- Slovic, P. (1993). Perceived Risk, Trust, and Democracy. Risk Analysis, 13(6), 675-682.
- Slovic, P., Fischhoff, B., & Lichtenstein, S. (1979). Rating the Risks. *Environment*, 21(3), 14-39.
- Slovic, P. (2000). Informing and Educating the Public about Risk. In P. Slovic (Ed.) *The Perception of Risk* (p. 182-199). London: Earthscan Publications Ltd.
- Slovic, P., Fischhoff, B., & Lichtenstein, S. (1982). Facts versus fears: understanding perceived risk. In D. Kahneman, P. Slovic, & A. Tversky (Eds.). *Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases* (P. 465-490). Cambridge: University press.
- Snyder, J., Miller, C. L. & Gray, G. (2011). Relative versus absolute standards for everyday risk in adolescent HIV prevention trials: Expanding the debate. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 11(6), 5-13.
- Spriggs, M. (2004). Canaries in the mines: Children, risk, non-therapeutic research, and justice. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 30(2), 176-81.
- Spriggs, M., & Caldwell, P.H. (2011). The ethics of paediatric research. Journal of Paediatric Child Health, 47(9), 664-667.
- Spritzer, W.O., Dobson, A.J., Hall, J., Chesterman, E., Levi, J., Shepherd, R.,... & Carchlove, B.R. (1981). Measuring the Quality of Life of Cancer Patients. *Journal of Chronic Disease*, 34, 585-597.
- Stoll, B.A. (1992). Does extra height justify a higher risk of breast cancer? Annals of Oncology, 3(1), 29-30.
- Sumner, W. (1996). Welfare, Happiness, and Ethics. Oxford: University Press.
- Tauer, C. A. (2002). Central ethical dilemmas in research involving children. *Accountability in Research*, 9(3-4), 127-42
- Tauer, C.A. (1994). The NIH Trials of Growth Hormone for Short Stature. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, *16*(3), 1-9.
- Teuber, A. (1990). Justifying Risk. Daedalus, 119(4), 235-254.
- Thompson, R.A. (1990). Vulnerability in Research: A Developmental Perspective on Research Risk. *Childhood Development* 61(1), 1-16.

Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS2) (2010). Canadian Institutes of Health Research, (CIHR), Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, (NSERC), Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, (SSHRC). Ethical conduct for research involving humans. Retrieved from http://www.pre.ethics.gc.ca/eng/policy-politique/initiatives/tcps2-eptc2/Default/ (Accessed April 14, 2013).

- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1981). The Framing of Decisions and the Psychology of Choice. Science, New Series, 211(4481), 453-458.
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1982). Belief in the law of small numbers. In D. Kahneman, P. Slovic, & A. Tversky (Eds.). Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. (p. 23-32). Cambridge: University press.
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (2000). In T. Connolly, H.R. Arkes, & K.R. Hammond. Judgment and Decision Making: An interdisciplinary reader (2<sup>nd</sup> ed) (p.35-53). Hammond. Cambridge: University Press, 2000.
- United Nations. (1989). Convention on the Rights of the Child. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx">http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx</a> (Accessed April 13, 2013).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Code of Federal Regulations. (1981). Final regulations amending basic HHS policy for the protection of human research subjects. Federal Register, 46, 8366-8391.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS regulations). (1982). Protection of Human Subjects, Additional DHHS Protections for Children Involved as Subjects in Research. 45 CFR 46 Subpart D.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS regulations). (1982). Protection of Human Subjects, Protection of Human Subjects, 45 CFR 46.102(i), Subpart A.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Service's. (1983). Code of Federal Regulations. 45 CFR 46: 401-409. Additional protections for children involved as subjects in research. Federal Register, 48, 9816-9820.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Code of Federal Regulations (1991). 45 CFR 46: 101-124. Federal policy for the protection of human subjects (The Common Rule). Federal Register, 56, 28003-28016.
- Van Den Brande, J., & Rappaport, R. Normal and Abnormal Growth. In J. Bertrand, R. Rappaport, & Pierre C. Sizonenko (Eds.). *Pediatric Endocrinology: Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Aspects*. (p. 305-309). Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Verweij, M., & Kortmann, F. (1997). Moral assessment of growth hormone therapy for children with idiopathic short stature. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *23*, 305-309.
- Weijer, C. (1997). Research involving the vulnerable sick. *Accountability in Research* 7(1), 21-36.
- Weijer, C. (1999). Thinking Clearly about Research Risk: Implications of the Work of Benjamin Freedman. *IRB: Ethics and Human Research*, 21(6), 1-5.
- Weijer, C. (2000). The Ethical Analysis of Risk. *The Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics,* 28(4), 344-361.
- Weijer, C., & Miller, P.B. (2004). When are research risks reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits? *Nature Medicine*, 10, 570-573.
- Weijer, C., Miller, P.B. (2007). Refuting the net risks test: a response to Wendler and Miller's 'Assessing research risks systematically'. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 33, 487-490.

- Wendler, D. (2004). Risk Standards for Pediatric Research: Rethinking the Grimes Ruling. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics*, 14(2), 187-98.
- Wendler, D. (2005). Protecting Subjects Who Cannot Give Consent: Toward a Better Standard For "Minimal" Risks. *Hastings Center Report 35*(5), 37-43.
- Wendler, D., Belsky, L., Thompson, K.M., & Emanuel, E.J. (2005). Quantifying the federal minimal risk standard. Implications for pediatric research without a prospect of direct benefit. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 294(7), 826-832.
- Wendler, D. (2006). Three steps to protecting pediatric research participants from excessive risks. *PLoS Clin Trials*, 29(5):e25.
- Wendler, D. & Miller, F.G. (2007). Assessing research risks systematically: the net risks test. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *33*, 481-486.
- Wendler, D. (2009). Minimal risk in pediatric research as a function of age. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine 163 (2), 115-8.
- Wendler, D. (2010). The Ethics of Pediatirc Research. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wendler, D. (2012). A new justification for pediatric research without the potential for clinical benefit. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 12(1), 23-31.
- Wendler, D., & Emanuel, E.J. (2005). What is a "minor" increase over minimal risk? *Journal of Pediatrics*, 147(5), 575-578.
- Westra, A.E., Wit, J.M., Sukhai, R.N., & I.D. de Beaufort. (2011). How best to define the concept of minimal risk. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 159(3), 496-500.
- White, G.B. (1993). Human Growth Hormone: The Dilemma of Expanded Use in Children. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, *3*(4), 401-409.
- WHO. (1948, April 7). Preamble to the Constitution of the World Health organization as adopted by the International Health Conference, New York, 19 June- 22 July 1946; signed on 22 July 1946 by the representatives of 61 states (official records of the World Health Organization, no. 2, p. 100). *Retrieved from* http://www.who.int/about/definition/en/print.html (accessed July 30, 2012).
- Wildavsky, A., & Dake, K. (1990). Theories of risk perception: who fears what and why? Daedalus, 119(4), 41-60.
- Wilson, F. (2007). John Stuart Mill. *Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved from <u>http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/mill/</u> (Accessed January 1, 2013).

# **Curriculum Vitae**

Name:	Ariella Binik
Post-Secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2007-2013 Ph.D.
	McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada 2005-2007 M.A.
	McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada 2002-2005 B.A.
Honours and Awards:	Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship 2009-2012 (\$105,000)
	Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Michael Smith Foreign Study Supplement Canada Graduate Scholarship 2010 (\$6000)
	Canadian Bioethics Society Student Abstract Award 2010;2007 (\$900; \$750)
	University of Western Ontario. School of Graduate Studies. Graduate Research Scholarship 2008 (\$4000)
	Jewish Community Foundation of Montreal. Steinberg Scholarship for Academic Excellence 2005 (\$5000)

#### **Publications:**

Journal Articles

Binik, A., & Weijer, C. Why the debate over minimal risk needs to be reconsidered. *The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* (Accepted for publication).

Weijer, C., Grimshaw, J.M., Eccles, M.P., McRae, A.D., White, A., Brehaut, J.C., Taljaard, M., & the Ottawa Ethics of Cluster Randomized Trials Consensus Group.

(2012). The Ottawa Statement on the Ethical Design and Conduct of Cluster Randomized Trials. *PLoS Medicine* 9(11).

McRae, A.D., Weijer, C., Binik, A., White, A., Grimshaw, J.M., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Saginur, R., Zwarenstein, M., & Taljaard, M. (2011). Who is the research subject in cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials 12*, 183.

McRae, A.D., Weijer, C., Binik, A., Grimshaw, J.M., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Saginur, R., White, A., & Taljaard, M. (2011). When is informed consent required in cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials 12*, 202.

Binik, A., Weijer, C., McRae, A.D., Grimshaw, J.M., Taljaard, M., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Gallo, A., Saginur, R., & and Zwarenstein, M. (2011). Does clinical equipoise apply to cluster randomized trials in health research? *Trials 11*, 118.

Binik, A., Weijer, C., & Sheehan, M. (2011). Minimal risk remains an open question. *The American Journal of Bioethics* 11(6), 25-27.

Weijer, C., Grimshaw, J.M., Taljaard, M., Binik, A., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Donner, A., Eccles, M.P., Gallo, A., McRae, A.D., Saginur, R. & Zwarenstein, M (2011). Ethical issues posed by cluster randomized trials in health research. *Trials 12*, 100.

Taljaard, M., Weijer, C. Grimshaw, J.M., Brown, J.B., Binik, A., Boruch, R., Brehaut, J.C., Chaudhry, S., Eccles, M.P. McRae, A., Saginur, R., Zwarenstein, M. & Donner, A. (2009). Ethical and Policy Issues in Cluster Randomized Trials: Rationale and Design of a Mixed Methods Research Study. *Trials 10*, 61.

Glass, K.C., & Binik, A. (2008). Rethinking Risk in Pediatric Research. *Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics 36*(3), 567-76.